"Impact of Mdm2-p53 on the proteasome assembly and disassembly Role of the ubiquitination of some 19S subunits"

Zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades

eines Doktors der Naturwissenschaften

von der Fakultät für Chemie und Biowissenschaften des

Karlsruher Instituts für Technologie (KIT)

genehmigte Dissertation

von

Justine Letienne

aus Lescar, France

Hauptreferent: PD Dr. Christine Blattner Korreferent: Prof. Dr. Jörg Kämper Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 18.10.2011

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ZUSAMMENFASSUNG	5
ABSTRACT	7
LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES	8
ABBREVIATIONS	9

1. INTRODUCTION	11
	10
1.1 The Ubiquitin Proteasome System "UPS"	12
1.1.1 The ubiquitin conjugation pathway	
1.1.1.1 Ubiquitination of substrates	12
1.1.1.2 E3 ubiquitin ligases	14
1.1.1.4 Ubiquitin and ubiquitin like modifications	15
1.1.1.4.1 Ubiquitin chains	
1.1.2 Description after the test of the second structure in the second structure in the second structure in the second structure is the second structure in the second structure is the second structu	
1.1.2 Degradation of targeted substrates by the 26S proteasome	
1.1.2.1.1 The 20.5 proteasome	/ I.
1.1.2.1.1 The 20.5 proteasome	
1 1 2 2 Signaling of protein degradation	20
1.1.2.2.1 Recognition of substrates	
1.1.2.2.2 Deubiquitination, unfolding, translocation into the 20S and degradation of substrates	
1.1.3 Deubiquitinases "DUBs"	
1.1.4 Other roles of proteasomal subunits in cells	
1.2 Mdm2 and its rate in p52 regulation	24
1.2.1 The "RING" E3 ubiquitin ligase Mdm2	
1.2.1.1 Generalities.	
1.2.1.2 Structure of Mam2	
1.2.2. D52 "grandian of the generate"	
1.2.2 F55 guardian of the genome	
1.2.3 The Mdm2-p53 pathway	
1.2.3.1 In normal conditions, p53 is one of the major substrate of Mdm2	
1.2.3.2 The p53-Mdm2 pathway upon stress condition	
1.2.3.3 Monoubiquitination versus polyubiquitination of p53	
1.2.3.4 The feedback loop	
1.2.4 The ternary complex p55-widm2-195 subunits	
1.3 Aim of the study	

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	32
2.1 Materials	32
2.1.1 Chemicals and consumables	
2.1.2 Kits	33
2.1.3 Standards	
2.1.4 Binding matrices	33
2.1.5 Oligonucleotides	34
2.1.6 Enzymes	
2.1.7 Cells lines	34
2.1.8 Bacteria	
2.1.9 Plasmids	
2.1.10 Antibodies	
	20
2.2 Methods	38
2.2.1 DNA methods	
2.2.1.1 Agarose gel electrophoresis	
2.2.1.2 Transformation of DNA into bacteria	
2.2.1.5 Small-scale purification of DNA	
2.2.1.4 mgn-scale purification of DNA	
2.2.1.5 Quantification of plasmid DTA	
2.2.2 Cert curtaice and transfection methods	40
2.2.2.2 Transfection with Calcium Phosphate reagent (Chen and Okayama 1987)	40
2.2.2.3 Transfection using Lipofectamine 2000.	
2.2.3 Protein methods	41
2.2.3.1 Preparation of protein lysates from cells	41
2.2.3.2 Quantification of protein extracts (Bradford Assay)	41
2.2.3.3 Separation of proteins by SDS-PAGE (polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis)	42
2.2.3.4 Western blotting and immunodetection	42
2.2.3.5 Production of the enzyme USP2-core	43
2.2.3.6 Binding assay	44
2.2.5.7 Production of the MLG affinity matrix and purification of ubiquitinated conjugates	44
2.2.3.8 Staining with Coomassie® blue	45
2.2.3.9 Ubiquitination Assay	
2.2.3.10 Sucrose gradient	
2.2.3.11 Immunoprecipitation	4/

3. RESULTS	.48
3.1 The E3 ligase Mdm2 ubiquitinates some 19S subunits	. 48
3.1.1 Mdm2 co-fractionates with proteasomal subunits	. 48
3.1.2 Characterization of the 19S ubiquitinated subunits	. 51
3.1.2.1 Several 19S subunits are ubiquitinated by E3 ligases such as Mdm2, Siah-1 or c-Cbl	51
3.1.2.2 The ubiquitination of the 19S proteins by Mdm2 is not a recognition signal for their	
degradation	53
3.1.2.3 A "mixed" chain of ubiquitin is linked to S2 and S5a subunits of the 19S proteasome	57

3.2 Impact of E3 ligases or E3 ligase/substrate on the assembly of the proteasome
3.2.1 Role of Mdm2 and p53 on the formation of the proteasome593.2.1.1 Mdm2 or Mdm2-p53 complexes increase 19S subunits in higher order complexes593.2.1.2 Mdm2 or p53 do not alter the steady-state levels of 19S proteasomal subunits623.2.2 Inhibition of the proteasome does not disturb the assembly of the proteasome643.2.3 The impact of Mdm2 on the assembly of the 26S proteasome can be extended to other E3s such as c-Cbl or Siah166
3.3 Functions of the 19S subunit ubiquitination by Mdm2
3.3.2 Deubiquitination of S2 favor its incorporation into the full-assembled proteasome complexes
3.3.3 Deubiquitination increases the interactions between S6b and S8 subunits of 19S proteasome
3.3.4 P53 enhances the interaction between Mdm2/S8 and the ubiquitination of S2 subunit of the 19S proteasome
4. DISCUSSION
4.1 E3 ligases or E3 ligase-substrate have a direct impact on the proteasome assembly
4.2 Characterization of the ubiquitinated 19S subunits
4.3 Ubiquitination of 19S subunits, disassembly of the proteasome and role of p53
4.4 Model of the proteasome regulation by Mdm2 and conclusion
5. REFERENCES
CURRICULUM VITAE 102
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 104

ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Das Ubiquitin Proteasom System "UPS" ist ein grundlegender Bestandteil für den Abbau von zellulären Proteinen. Defekte dieses Systems sind mit verschiedenen menschlichen Erkrankungen verbunden und Proteasom-Inhibitoren werden bereits zur Behandlung diverser Krebsarten verwendet. Das UPS beinhaltet zwei wichtige ATP-abhängige Schritte, das Markieren des Substrats durch Polyubiquitin-Ketten und seinen Abbau durch das 26S Proteasom. Das 26S Proteasom, die bedeutendste zelluläre Protease, besteht aus einem katalytischen Teil (20S), welcher von einem oder zwei regulatorischen Komplexen bedeckt wird (19S).

In unserem Labor wurde herausgefunden, dass die "RING" E3 Ubiquitin Ligase Mdm2 mit einigen 19S Untereinheiten (S2, S4, S5a, S6a, S6b, S8, S10b und S12) eine Verbindung eingeht und den Abbau des Tumorsuppressors p53, das am besten bekannte Substrat von Mdm2, fördert, indem ein ternärer Komplex zwischen Mdm2, p53 und den 19S Untereinheiten entsteht. Da Mdm2 mit einigen 19S Untereinheiten nicht nur wegen des Abbaus von p53, sondern auch für die Ubiquitinierung von einigen 19S Untereinheiten (S2, S4, S5a, S6a, S6b and S8) zu interagieren scheint, war das Ziel dieser Arbeit, die Rolle von Mdm2 und seinem Substrat p53 in Bezug auf die 19S proteasomalen Untereinheiten aufzuklären.

Meine Ergebnisse deuten darauf hin, dass die Ubiquitinierung nicht die zum Abbau von Substraten benötigte Ubiquitin-Kette zur Folge hatte und dass sie nicht den proteasomalen Abbau der 19S Untereinheiten fördert. Überraschenderweise steigerte die Anwesenheit von Mdm2 und seines Substrates p53 die Bereitstellung von proteasomalen Untereinheiten und dadurch die Bildung des 26S Proteasoms. Dieses Ereignis erhöhte wahrscheinlich die Effizienz des Abbaus seiner Substrate. Die Auswirkung auf den Zusammenbau des Proteasoms könnte auch auf andere E3 Ligasen, wie Siah-1 und c-Cbl ausgeweitet werden. Allerdings ist die Ubiquitinierung der 19S Untereinheiten durch Mdm2 nicht mit dem Zusammenbau des Proteasoms, sondern eher mit seinem Auseinanderfallen verbunden. Die Deubiquitinierung der S8 und S6b Untereinheiten des 19S Proteasoms durch die Deubiquitinase USP2 fördert deren Interaktion untereinander und den Aufbau des 19S Proteasoms. Zusammengefasst zeigen meine Ergebnisse einen neuen Aspekt, um die Aktivität des 26S Proteasoms durch eine E3 Ligase und ihres Substrates zu regulieren, da sie erstens eine Auswirkung auf dessen Zusammenbau haben und zweitens einige 19S Proteine ubiquitiniert werden, die mit dem Auseinanderfallen des Proteasoms verbunden sind.

ABSTRACT

The ubiquitin proteasome system "UPS" is a fundamental actor for the proteolysis of cellular proteins. Defects of this system are associated with diverse human diseases, and proteasome inhibitors are already used in cancer therapies. The UPS involves two main ATP-dependent steps, the targeting of the substrate by polyubiquitin chains and its degradation by the 26S proteasome. The 26S proteasome, the major cellular protease in cells, is formed by a catalytic particle (20S proteasome) capped by one or two regulatory complexes (19S proteasome).

Data from the laboratory demonstrated that the "RING" E3 ubiquitin ligase Mdm2 associates with some 19S subunits (S2, S4, S5a, S6a, S6b, S8, S10b and S12) and promotes degradation of the tumor suppressor p53, the most well-known substrate of Mdm2, by forming a ternary complex between Mdm2, p53 and 19S proteins. Since Mdm2 seems to interact with proteasomal subunits not only for the degradation of p53 but also for the ubiquitination of some 19S subunits (S2, S4, S5a, S6a, S6b and S8), the aim of this work was therefore to clarify the role of Mdm2 and its substrate p53 on the 19S proteasomal subunits.

My results indicated that this ubiquitination did not imply the ubiquitin chain generally involved in the degradation of substrates and did not promote the proteasomal degradation of the 19S proteins. Surprisingly, the presence of Mdm2 and its substrate p53 increased the recruitment of proteasomal subunits, and thus, the formation of the 26S proteasome. This phenomenon probably enhanced the efficiency of substrates degradation. The effect on the proteasome assembly could be extended to other E3 ligases such as Siah-1 and c-Cbl. However, the ubiquitination of the 19S subunits by Mdm2 is not associated with the assembly of the proteasome but rather with its disassembly. The deubiquitination of S8 and S6b subunits of the 19S proteasome. Taken together, my data revealed a novel aspect to regulate the activity of the 26S proteasome via an E3 ligase and its substrate, as first having an impact on the assembly, and second, ubiquitinating some of 19S proteins that are associated with proteasome disassembly.

LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

Figure 1: The ubiquitin proteasome pathway	13
Figure 2: Sequence of ubiquitin and general scheme of ubiquitin linkage	16
Figure 3: The 26S proteasome	18
Table 1: Proteasome nomenclature	18
Figure 4: Model of the 19S proteasome assembly	20
Figure 5: Ubiquitin receptors of humans and Saccharomyces cerevisiae	21
Figure 6: Mdm2 structure and interacting partners	25
Figure 7: General scheme of p53 regulation	27
Figure 8: Ternary complex	30
Figure 9: Sizing standards	48
Figure 10: Mdm2 co-elutes with proteasomal proteins	50
Figure 11: The E3 ligases Mdm2 and Siah-1 ubiquitinate respectively S2 and S8 subunits of the	
19S proteasome	52
Figure 12: S1, S2 and S6b proteasomal subunits are not substrate of the proteasome	54
Figure 13: The MLG affinity matrix did not recognize ubiquitinated S8 subunits	56
Figure 14: Ubiquitination pattern of S2 and S5a subunits	58
Figure 15: The presence of Mdm2 or Mdm2 and p53 shift the distribution of 19S proteasomal proteins	
toward higher order complexes	61
Figure 16: Increased amount of p53 and Mdm2 does not affect the level of S2 or S8 subunits	63
Figure 17: The MG132, inhibitor of the proteasome, has no effect on S2 proteins distribution	65
Figure 18: Siah1 and c-Cbl shift the distribution of S6b protein towards higher order complexes	67
Figure 19 : The "RING" mutant of Mdm2 (C464A) behaves the same way as Mdm2 WT on the	
distribution of 19S subunits	69
Figure 20 : USP2 disassembles ubiquitin chains from S2 and S8 subunits	71
Figure 21: Treatment of cell lysate with USP2 leads to the accumulation of S2 in higher molecular	
weight complexes	73
Figure 22: The USP2-core enzyme does not interact with S2 and S8 proteasomal proteins	75
Figure 23: Treatment with USP2-core increases the interaction between S6b and S8 proteins	76
Figure 24: The presence of p53 increases ubiquitination of S2 by Mdm2	78
Figure 25: Model of the proteasome regulation by Mdm2 and p53	87

ABBREVIATIONS

99	aminoacid
aa ADS	ammonium persulfate
	adenosine triphosphate
	adenosine triphosphatase
RSA	bovine serum albumine
	degrees Celsius
Chl	Casitas B-lineage lymphoma
cDNA	complementary DNA
C_tarminal	carboxy- terminal
C D	Core Particle
	Cullin ring ubiquitin ligases
D ₉	dalton
DMFM	dulbecco's modified eagle's medium
DMEM	dimethylsulfoxide
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DNase	deoxyribonuclease
dNTPs	deoxynucleosides triphosphate
DTT	dithiothreitol
FCL	enhanced chemioluminescence
EDTA	ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid
eg.	exempli gratia, for example
et al.	Et alii, and others
FBS	fetal bovin serum
Fig.	figure
g	gram
GST	Glutathion-S-transferase
h	hour
HRP	horseradish peroxidase
НЕСТ	homologous to E6-AP C-Terminus
IP	immunoprecipitation
IPTG	isopropyl-β-D-thiogalactopyranoside
kb	kilobases
kDa	kilodalton
1	liter
LB	Luria-Bertani
Μ	molar
μ	micro
m	milli
Mdm2	mouse double minute 2
min	minute
mRNA	messenger RNA
MW	molecular weight
n	nano
NaCl	sodium chloride
NES	nuclear export sequence

NLS	nuclear localisation signal
NP-40	nonident P-40
N-terminal	amino- terminal
OD	optical density
р	pico
PAGE	polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PBS	posphate buffer saline
PCNA	proliferating cell nuclear antigen
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PHD	plant homeodomain
PMSF	phenylmethanesulphonylfluoride
PVDF	polyvinylidene difluoride
RC	Regularory Complex
RING	really interesting new gene
RNA	ribonucleic acid
rpm	rounds per minute
RT	room temperature
S	second
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate
Siah1	seven in absentia homolog 1
siRNA	small interfering RNA
TBS	tris buffered saline
TEMED	tetramethylethylenediamine
Tris	tris(hydroxymethyl)aminometane
u	units
Ub	ubiquitin
U-box	UFD2-homology domain
USP2	ubiquitin specific protease 2
UV	ultra violet
V	volt
WB	Western blot

1. INTRODUCTION

The Ubiquitin Proteasome System "UPS" is a fundamental cellular actor due to its central role in apoptosis, its importance for the rapid destruction of key regulatory proteins such as cell cycle regulators, transcription factors but also for the elimination of defective proteins (Coux et al., 1996; Hoffman and Rechsteiner, 1996; Voges et al., 1999; Hershko et al., 2000; Pickart and Cohen, 2004; Devoy et al., 2005). The crucial function of the UPS in cellular biology has been recognized with the Nobel Prize for Chemistry which was awarded to Avram Hershko, Aaron Ciechanover and Irwin Rose in 2004.

Furthermore, certain tumor cells have been shown to be more sensitive to proteasome inhibitors than normal cells (Dick et al., 2010). Therefore, a better understanding of the regulation of the "UPS" (delivery and degradation of substrates, assembly and disassembly of the proteasome...) may help to develop new drugs for cancer therapies. The interaction between polyubiquitinated substrates and the proteasome constitutes an important aspect of the UPS pathway. A failure of this regulation leads to proteasome dysfunction and to substrate accumulation (Finley, 2009).

One example of protein regulation by the proteasome is the p53 tumor suppressor (Jain and Barton, 2010). This protein induces cell cycle arrest or apoptosis after exposure to stress signal such as DNA damage or oncogene activation. In unstressed cells, p53 is maintained at a low level due to tight regulation by the E3 ubiquitin ligase such as Mdm2. The Mdm2 protein associates with some proteasomal subunit proteins and induces the degradation of p53 by promoting a ternary complex between Mdm2, p53 and the proteasomal proteins (Kulikov et al., 2010). However, mechanisms of p53 delivery to the proteasome and regulation of the proteasomal proteins by Mdm2 are still under constant investigation.

1.1 The Ubiquitin Proteasome System "UPS"

The ubiquitin proteasome system allows the specific proteolysis of cellular proteins and is present in both the cytoplasm and the nucleus (Hershko et al., 1998). Many cellular functions are modulated by proteasome-dependent proteolysis including apoptosis, cell cycle progression, DNA transcription and repair, differentiation and development, immune response, neural and muscular degeneration, ribosome biogenesis or viral infection (Rock and Goldberg, 1999; Schubert et al., 2000; Kodadek, 2010). The UPS pathway (*Fig.1*) usually functions in two main ATP-dependent steps with first ubiquitination of target proteins. Ubiquitination consists in protein modifications by ubiquitin, a small regulatory protein expressed in all eukaryotic cells (Kimura and Tanaka K, 2010). This step is followed by the degradation of ubiquitinated substrates though the 26S proteasome (Ferrell et al., 2000).

1.1.1 The ubiquitin conjugation pathway

1.1.1.1 Ubiquitination of substrates

Ubiquitination of proteasome substrate requires a cascade of three to four enzymes, E1, E2, E3 and E4 (*Fig.1*) (6). The reaction begins with the sequential binding of Mg²⁺-ATP and ubiquitin to the ubiquitin activating enzyme (E1) to form an adenylate ubiquitin intermediate. The ubiquitin is then transferred to the catalytic cysteine of the E1 via the formation of a thioester bond (*step 1, Fig.1*). Afterwards, the activated ubiquitin is transferred to the cysteine in the active site of an ubiquitin conjugating enzyme (E2) (*step 2, Fig.1*). The E2 enzyme catalyses the covalent attachment of ubiquitin directly on substrates (RING finger or RING finger like E3s families), or when it acts in partnership with an E3 ubiquitin ligase, ubiquitin is transferred on the E3 ligase (HECT E3s family) (*step 3 and 4, Fig.1*). An amino-isopeptide bond is formed between the carboxyl group of glycine 76 of ubiquitin and a ε -amino group of an internal lysine residue of the substrate protein.

The eukaryote genome encodes only two E1 enzymes (Xu et al., 2010) and around 36 genes encoding for E2 enzymes have been identified in the human genome (Van Wijk et al., 2010). In contrast to E1 or E2 enzymes, E3 ligases are quite numerous with more than 600 enzymes (Deshaies et al., 2009). Hence, one E2 enzyme usually interacts with several E3 ligases. For example, the E2 conjugating enzyme UbcH5A associates with RING E3 ligases

such as c-Cbl (Joazeiro et al., 1999) or Mdm2 (Rajendra et al., 2004). Vice versa an E3 ligase can interact with several E2 enzymes. As an example, UbcH5A, -B, and -C and E2-25K support Mdm2-mediated ubiquitination of p53 (Saville et al., 2004).

For some ubiquitin conjugation reactions, a polyubiquitin chain conjugation factor (E4) takes part in the extension of ubiquitin chains (Koegl et al., 1999) (*step 5, Fig.1*). Concerning p53, the acetylating/ubiquitin E4 factor proteins p300/CBP has been shown to be a chain assembly factor for p53 (Shi et al., 2009). Finally, the substrate is recognized and degraded by the proteasome (*step 6, Fig.1*) and ubiquitin molecules are recycled (*step 7, Fig.1*).



Figure 1: The ubiquitin proteasome pathway. The ubiquitin molecule is first activated by the ubiquitin activating enzyme (E1) in the presence of Mg^{2+} and ATP via formation of a high energy thioester bond (1). The activated ubiquitin molecule is then transferred to the ubiquitin conjugating enzyme (E2) by formation of a second high energy thioester bond with ubiquitin (2). Subsequently, the ubiquitin molecule is either transferred directly to the substrate by the RING-type E3 ligase (3) or associated to the HECT-type E3 ligases by formation of a third high energy thioester bond with the catalytic cysteine of the HECT domain before to be attached to the substrate (4). This phase is followed by the extension of the ubiquitin chain. In some cases, E4 enzyme (dotted) takes part in the elongation of ubiquitin chains (5). The ubiquitinated substrates are then recognized and degraded by the 26S proteasome (6) and the ubiquitin molecules recycled by deubiquitinating enzymes (DUBs) which can also protect substrates from proteasomal degradation (7).

1.1.1.2 E3 ubiquitin ligases

E3 enzymes could be divided into three families (RING-E3s, HECT-E3s and RING-finger related E3s) depending on their mode of action:

- The HECT E3s (Homologous to E6-AP C-Terminus) form an ubiquitin thioester intermediate through the catalytic cysteine of the E3 before they transfer ubiquitin to a lysine of the substrate. This family was discovered in studies on the degradation of the tumor suppressor protein p53 by the oncogenic E6 protein of human papillomaviruses (HPVs) (Huibredtse et al., 1995). The HECT domain of E6-AP possesses approximately 350 amino acids and shows homology to many proteins. This domain contains a conserved catalytic cysteine required for the E3 activity. The N-terminus contributes to the recognition of substrates whereas the HECT domain binds to E2 enzymes and catalyses the ubiquitination *(step 4, Fig.1)*. (Rotin et al., 2009)

- <u>The RING (Really Interesting New Gene) E3s</u>: The RING finger domain acts as adaptor proteins and brings the associated E2 enzymes close to the substrate to allow its ubiquitination *(step 3, Fig.1)*. This domain harbors eight conserved histidine and cysteine residues which are coordinated by two zinc ions (Borden et al., 2000).

✓ <u>Monomeric RING finger E3s</u>: Both the substrate binding site and the catalytic RING domain are on the same protein. This is why they are called single-subunit RING E3 ligases. One of the most described monomeric RING E3 is the Mdm2 protein, a protein mostly known for its ability to target p53 for proteasomal degradation (Honda et al., 1997). Other single-subunit RING E3s such as Cbl familly, Siah-1 or Parkin are identified (Freemont, 2000).

✓ <u>Multimeric RING finger E3s</u>: Another RING E3 contains several multisubunit protein complexes including the SCF (Skp1-cullin-F-box), the CBC (cullin-elongin B and C) or the APC (anaphase promoting complex) complexes.

The cullin-RING ubiquitin ligases (CRULs) family represents the current model for multimeric RING ligases (Jackson et al., 2009). In human, seven cullins are known; they are associated with one specific E3 ligase monomeric and are connected with different subunits for the binding of substrates. As an example, the SCF complex consists of several proteins (Rbx1/Skp1/Cullin1/F-box protein). Rbx1 is essential for the E3 activity of the complex recruiting the E2 enzyme. The F-box protein which mediates the substrate specificity is variable. Three classes of F-box are identified in function of the domain that interacts

with the substrate: F-box FBWs (WD40 repeated motifs), F-box FBLs (leucine-rich repeats) and F-box FBXs. (Ho et al., 2008)

The other CRULs are composed by different receptors such as the SOC proteins (suppressor of cytokine signaling) (Tyers et al., 2000).

- Two RING finger-related E3s:

✓ <u>The U-box</u> (UFD2-homology domain) is a domain of $_{\sim}70$ amino acids. The structure of the U-box E3s (CHIP, UFD2) is very similar to the structure of the RING domain even if U-box domains do not have conserved cysteine and histidine residues (Ohi et al., 2003). The prototype U-box protein, yeast Ufd2, was identified as a ubiquitin chain assembly factor (E4) that cooperates with E1s, E2s, and an E3s to catalyze the formation of a ubiquitin chain on artificial substrates. (Hatakeyama et al., 2001)

 \checkmark <u>The PHD</u> (plant homeodomain) represents a variant of the RING finger with eight similarly spaced cysteines and histidines (Lu et al., 2002; Coscoy and Ganem, 2003).

1.1.1.4 Ubiquitin and ubiquitin like modifications

1.1.1.4.1 Ubiquitin chains

The ubiquitin protein is highly conserved among eukaryotes but is absent in archea (Kimura and Tanaka K, 2010). The ubiquitin molecule is found free or conjugated to other proteins in cells, and thus, can modify the biochemical properties of the target protein. The active form of ubiquitin is generated from a high molecular weight precursor by the action of ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase (UCH), which release the mature 8 kDa protein. After cleavage, ubiquitin exposes glycine 76, which is involved in the isopeptide bond formation with a lysine residue on target substrates. (Catic et al., 2005)

Ubiquitin is a protein of 76 amino acids which contains seven lysine residues (K6, K11, K27, K29,K33, K48, K63) (*Fig. 2A*). When conjugated to preceding ubiquitin moieties, ubiquitin can form chains of ubiquitin (polyubiquitination), using one or several of the seven internal lysine residues (*Fig. 2B*) (Pickart et al., 2000). In addition to the formation of polyubiquitin chains, conjugation of a single ubiquitin on a single lysine residue (monoubiquitination) or on multiple lysine residues (multimonoubiquitination) can occur. Monoubiquitination of target proteins can have a role in trafficking, endocytosis, transcription or histone function (Sigismund et al., 2004).

Considering that an ubiquitin molecule contains seven lysine, seven possible isopeptide linkages can be formed. One of the most frequent ubiquitin linkages is the K48-linked chain which is a recognition signal for protein degradation. At least four molecules of ubiquitin are required to target substrates for degradation by the proteasome (Thrower et al., 2000). The K63-linked chains take usually part in DNA repair, signal transduction, trafficking to multivesicular body, kinase activation or stress responses (Spence et al., 1995; Lauwers et al., 2009). In addition K63-linked chains can support proteasomal degradation (Yasushi et al., 2009). The K11- and K29-linked chains are involved in proteasome-dependent degradation (Jin et al., 2008). The existence of K6-, K27- and K33- linked chains have been reported, but their functions are not clear (Glickman et al., 2002). Some studies highlighted the possibility of "mixed" (containing all possible isopeptide linkages) or "branched" linkages (Kirkpatrick et al., 2007). Proteins modified by this class of "non-conform" chains are under the control of the E2-E3 pairs and seems to be poorly degraded by the proteasome (Kim et al., 2006).

A- Ubiquitin sequence:

MQIFVK₆TLTGK₁₁TITLEVEPSDTIENVK₂₇AK₂₉IQDK₃₃EGIPPDQQLRIFAGK₄₈QLEDGTLSDYNIQK₆₃ESTLHLVLRLRGG



Figure 2: Sequence of ubiquitin and ubiquitin linkages. A- Amino acid sequence of ubiquitin. Lysines are highlighted in red. **B-** Polyubiquitin chains are built by formation of an isopeptide bond between the seven potential lysines of ubiquitin (K6, K11, K27, K29, K33, K48 or K63). The K48 linkages are highly abundant and represent the main signal for proteins degradation by the proteasome. The other lysine linkages are less abundant. The question marks indicate that the functions of K27, K33 and "mixed/branched" chains are largely unknown.

1.1.1.4.2 Ubiquitin-like "UBLs" modifications

Other small ubiquitin-like proteins, called UBLs, including SUMO, Nedd8, ISG15 or Atg8 can also modify proteins. They are crucial regulators of many cellular processes such as transcription, DNA repair, signal transduction, autophagy or cell-cycle control (Bae and Park, 2010; Hock and Vousden, 2010; Dou et al., 2011; Boh et al., 2011; Duverger et al., 2011). Modified proteins by UBLs possess a conjugating pathway similar to ubiquitin conjugation but do not target proteins for proteasomal degradation. Furthermore, the UBL conjugation can inhibit the formation of polyubiquitin chains since UBLs and ubiquitin modifications target the same lysine (Kerscher et al., 2006). Three different SUMO proteins exists in humans, SUMO-1 is generally conjugated to proteins as a monomer, while SUMO-2 and SUMO-3 are able to form high molecular weight polymers on proteins. SUMO modifications seemed to be implicated in cell cycle progression, in transcriptional regulation (p53, c-Jun, c-myc), and in modulation of protein-protein interactions (Andreou et al., 2009). Nedd8, another UBL protein takes part in cell cycle progression and cytoskeletal regulation. A few RING finger family of E3s such as c-Cbl (Oved et al., 2006) and Mdm2 (Xirodimas et al., 2004) have been reported to catalyze the attachment of Nedd8 to specific substrates.

1.1.2 Degradation of targeted substrates by the 26S proteasome

Structure and function of proteasomes are conserved from archaebacteria to eukaryotes *(Fig. 3).* It is essential for cell and organism viability (Fujiwara et al, 1990). Other evolutionarily conserved complexes have been described, among them the immunoproteasome, composed by 20S proteasome and 11S activator, involved in the antigen processing (Hill et al., 2002) or the Cop9 Signalosome which has a role in regulation of ubiquitination and cell signaling (Kato and Yoneda, 2009). However, the 19S activator which binds to the 20S proteasome to form the 26S proteasome, is the only proteasome activator that is known to stimulate degradation of protein substrates (Ferrell et al., 2000).

1.1.2.1 The 26S proteasome

The 26S proteasome (~2500 kDa) (*Fig. 3*) is a cellular multisubunit ATP-dependent protease that plays a crucial role in cellular regulation and protein homeostasis, degrading proteins modified by polyubiquitin chains (Coux et al., 1996). It is composed of a 20S

proteasome or catalytic particle (CP, \sim 700 kDa) capped by one or two 19S proteasome or regulatory complexes (RC, \sim 900 kDa) and assembles in an ATP-dependent manner (Hirano et al., 2005).



Figure 3: The 26S proteasome. The proteasome is the major cellular protease in cells. It is composed of a catalytic core (core particle CP, 20S proteasome) and one or two regulatory complexes (RC, 19S proteasome). The 19S proteasome is divided into two subcomplexes: the base and the lid. The 19S proteasome is in charge of substrate recognition, deubiquitination, denaturation, translocation and subsequent degradation in the 20S core.

The 20S proteasome is composed of 2 outer rings of α subunits and 2 inner rings of β subunits. The β subunits carry on the proteolytic activity. *(Tanaka, 6th Proteasomes Workshop 2005)*

Tanaka, 6th Proteasomes Workshop 2006.

19S Proteasome

Nomenclature Dubiel, et al. ²	Gene Human	Sequence lenght (aminoacid)
19S AT Pase subunits		
S7	PSMC2	432
S4	PSMC1	440
S6b	PSMC4	418
S10b	PSMC6	389
S6a	PSMC3	439
S8	PSMC5	406
19S non-ATPase subunits		
S2	PSMD2	908
S1	PSMD1	953
S3	PSMD3	534
p55	PSMD12	455
S9	PSM11	421
S10a	PSMD6	389
S12	PSMD7	324
S11	PSM13	376
S5a	PSMD4	377
S13	PSMD14	310
S14	PSMD8	257
S5b	PSMD5	503
S15	PSMD9	223

Nomenclature Baumeister, et al. 1	Gene Human	Sequence lenght (aminoacid)
20Sa-type subunits		
α1	PSMA6	246
α2	PSMA2	233
α3	PSMA4	261
α4	PSMA7	248
α5	PSMA5	241
α6	PSMA1	263
α7	PSMA3	254
20Sβ-type subunits		
β1	PSMB6	239
β2	PSMB7	277
β3	PSMB3	205
β4	PSMB2	201
β5	PSMB5	208
β6	PSMB1	241
β7	PSMB4	264

<u>**Table 1:**</u> **Proteasome nomenclature.** The nomenclature is based on the work of ¹Baumeister et al. (1998) for the 20S subunits and on the work of ²Dubiel et al. (1995) for the 19S subunits. The 20S subunits are divided in α and β subunits whereas the 19S is composed of ATPases and non-ATPases subunits. In this table are reported as well the gene (human) and the sequence length corresponding to each subunits.

20S Proteasome

1.1.2.1.1 The 20 S proteasome

Structure

The 20S proteasome carries the catalytic activities. The cylindrically shaped structure is formed by four stacked rings of α (1 to 7) and β (1 to 7) subunits *(Table 1)*. The subunits β 2, β 5 and β 1 possess the proteolytic activity, harboring respectively trypsin-like, chymotrypsinlike, and caspase-like peptidase activities. Outer α rings of the 20S form a gating channel (Groll et al., 2000), which interacts with the base of the 19S, composed of six distinct AAAtype ATPases, S1 and S2 (Braun et al., 1999). *(Fig. 3)*

Assembly

Proteasomal subunits should be connected into a functional complex, the proteolytic active sites have to mature and be controlled during the assembly process. The assembly of the proteasome is regulated by numerous proteins (chaperones) and is highly conserved from yeast to human. The formation of the 20S proteasome starts with the assemblage of a ring of α -subunits which should be error prone with the help of at least four chaperones (PAC1 to PAC4). Then, the β -subunits are incorporated, a fifth chaperone POMP is required that functions as quality control agent. Finally, two sets of α/β -rings are connected accompanied by the maturation of the β -subunits in order to form functional 20S proteasomes (Bedford et al., 2010).

1.1.2.1.2 The 19S proteasome

Structure

The 19S proteasome can be dissociated into two subcomplexes: the base that binds directly to the 20S core, and an external lid. The base and the lid are stabilized by the S5a subunit. The base is formed by six distinct AAA-type ATPases (S4, S6a, S6b, S7, S8 and S10b) and non-ATPases subunits (S1 and S2) *(Table1)*. The lid is composed by non-ATPases subunits (S3, S9, S10a, S11, S12, S13, S14, S15 and P55). (Gorbea et al., 1999) *(Fig. 3)*

Assembly

Assembly of the 19S proteasome requires four chaperones (Nas2/p27, Nas6/gankyrin/p28, Rpn14/PAAF1, Hsm3/S5b) which can stabilize 19S subcomplexes, facilitate the incorporation of these subcomplexes into 19S proteasome precursors and act like quality control proteins. Several studies, in yeast and human, reported subcomplexes formation such as S10b-S6a-p27,

S4-S7-S2-S5b, S8-PAAF1 and S6b-p28. Thereafter, these subcomplexes might assemble together with S1 into a 19S precursor. The last step consists of the linkage of S5a and the lid to form the 19S proteasome *(Fig. 4)* (Saeki et al., 2009; Le tallec et al., 2009; Kaneko et al., 2009; Funakoshi et al., 2009).



1.1.2.1.3 Assembly of the 19S and 20S to form the 26S proteasome

In vitro experiments demonstrated that the 26S proteasome can dissociate into the 19S and 20S proteasome and reassociate in an ATP-dependent manner (Liu et al., 2006; Isono et al., 2007). It appeared with *in vivo* experiments that the 26S proteasome can be assembled both *de novo* and, by analogy with the *in vitro* experiments, from the 20S proteasome and the already assembled 19S proteasome (Kiss et al., 2005; Babbitt et al., 2005). In fact, a dynamic equilibrium occurs between 20S, 19S and 26S proteasomes that can be modified depending on conditions in the cell (Bajorek et al., 2003).

1.1.2.2 Signaling of protein degradation

The 19S proteasome drives ATP-dependent substrate recognition, deubiquitination, processing and delivery to the 20S core where the proteolytic activity of the proteasome is located (Ferrell et al., 2000).

1.1.2.2.1 Recognition of substrates

For degradation of substrates, polyubiquitinated protein must be recognized by specific multiubiquitin receptors or by adaptor proteins that subsequently bind the proteasome (Hartmann-Petersen et al., 2004). Many Ubiquitin Binding Domains (UBDs) were characterized: UIM (ubiquitin-interacting motif), DUIM (double UIM), UBA (ubiquitin-associated) or PRU (pleckstrin-like receptor for ubiquitin) among the most important ones.



One of the first class of multiubiquitin receptors discovered contains the S5a protein. In most organisms this protein exists as a free subunit as well as a subunit of the 26S proteasome. S5a binds polyubiquitin chains (Deveraux et al., 1994), and thus, directly recruits substrates to the proteasome (Verma et al., 2004; Van Nocker et al., 1996). The property of S5a to bind ubiquitin-conjugates is linked to two independent ubiquitin interacting motifs (UIMs), while a VWA (vonWillebrand A) domain in the N-terminus thought to mediate interaction with the proteasome (Kang et al., 2007). Thereafter, a second subunit of the 19S proteasome was identified as a multiubiquitin receptor *in vitro*, the S6a AAA-ATPase (Lam et al., 2002). HRpn13 constitutes also another intrasic ubiquitin receptor of the proteasome and it binds ubiquitin via a PRU domain (pleckstrin-like receptor for ubiquitin). *(first panel, Fig. 5)*

A second class of multiubiquitin receptors involves ubiquitin-like domain (UBL)containing shuttle factors, including Rad23/hHR23 A and B, Dsk2/PLIC and Ddi1 (second *panel, Fig. 5).* These UBL factors are known as shuttle factors because they target ubiquitinated substrates to the 26S proteasome via the C-terminal ubiquitin associated (UBA) domain, which then interact with S5a or/and hRnp13 in the 19S proteasome via the N-terminal ubiquitin like (UBL) domain (Saeki, et al. 2002). Furthermore, some studies have shown that S2 base subunits function as plausible receptors of shuttle factors ubiquitin-like domain (Leggett et al, 2002).

A third class of multiubiquitin receptors involves Cdc48/p97-based complexes (Elsasser et al., 2005) *(third panel, Fig. 5)*. Cdc48/p97 is an ATP-dependent chaperone consisting in six identical subunits and can bind ubiquitinated substrates via adapter molecules containing UBX (Ubiquitin regulatory X)-UBA domains (Ufd1–Npl4). These complexes could be involved in degradation of cytosolic substrates such as IkB α and HIF1 α (Alexandru et al. 2008).

1.1.2.2.2 Deubiquitination, unfolding, translocation into the 20S and degradation of substrates

Once the substrate is delivered to the proteasome, polyubiquitin chain is removed. Therefore, three deubiquiting enzymes (paragraph 1.1.3, Deubiquitinases "DUBs") are associated with the 19S proteasome. Among them, is a metalloprotease, the S13 subunit of the proteasome (Verma et al., 2002). Uch37 which belongs to the UCH family (Yao et al., 2006) and USP14, ubiquitin specific proteases and they are associated with the proteasome (Borodovsky et al., 2001). Uch37 and USP14 are activated by their binding to the S1 subunit of the proteasome (Crosas et al., 2006). S13 cleaves at the base of the ubiquitin chain, where it is linked to the substrate. While Uch37 and S14 remove ubiquitin moieties from the distal end of the chain. These two proteins can inhibit the degradation of low ubiquitinated proteins and function as an editing activity for the proteasome (Amerik et al., 2004).

After deubiquitination, one or more of the six AAA-ATPases located in the base of the 19S proteasome catalyze the unfolding of the substrate, the opening of the gate and the translocation of substrates into the 20S catalytic chamber. The 19S proteasome unfolds ubiquitinated proteins most likely by binding to an unstructured segment of the substrate, known as an initiation site, and using energy from ATP hydrolysis, by targeting the substrate into a channel that leads to the 20S proteasome (Orlowski et al., 2010). The denatured polypeptide is then translocated into the degradation chamber of the proteasome, where it is cleaved into small peptides (Kenniston et al., 2004).

Although target proteins for proteasomal degradation are usually polyubiquitinated, some substrates can also be degraded without ubiquitin modification, as examples the ornithine decarboxylase protein (ODC) or $p21^{CIP}$ (Murakami et al., 2000; Sheaff et al., 2000).

1.1.3 Deubiquitinases "DUBs"

Deubiquitinating enzymes (DUBs) are proteases that cleave ubiquitin or ubiquitin-like moieties from target proteins. The human genome encodes around 95 putative DUBs divided into five families (Nijman et al., 2005; Komander et al., 2009). Four families contain cysteine proteases (ubiquitin specific proteases (USP), ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolases (UCH), Machado Joseph disease proteases (MJD) and otubain proteases (OTU)) while the JAMM belong to a family of Zn-dependent metalloproteases (JAB1/MPN/Mov34 metalloenzyme, one working on the ubiquitin-like protein Nedd8) (Komander et al., 2010). The cysteine proteases perform the reaction via a catalytic triad formed by cysteine, histidine and aspartic acid residues. The DUBs play several roles in the ubiquitin pathway such as after substrate degradation occurs or when ubiquitin-mediated function ends, ubiquitin molecules are recycled and ubiquitin moieties are removed from modified proteins to maintain a free ubiquitin pool, step fundamental for an efficient proteolysis (Johnston et al., 2006).

1.1.4 Other roles of proteasomal subunits in cells

Proteins of the 19S proteasome can have additional roles in cells distinct from proteasomal functions. The 19S ATPase proteins independent of 20S, called APIS complex, in particular S8, S6a and S6b, have been reported to be recruited to certain promoters and to actively participate in transcription, in yeast (Sun et al., 2002) and in human (Truax et al., 2010). In addition, S8, S6a and S6b proteins have been described as critical regulator for histones (Koues et al., 2009).

1.2 Mdm2 and its role in p53 regulation

The diverse activities and the central role of the UPS in apoptosis have made the proteasome an important target for drug development (Navon and Ciechanover, 2009). One example of protein regulation by the 26S proteasome is the p53 tumor suppressor that has been shown to be regulated by the E3 ubiquitin ligase Mdm2 via its association with some 19S proteasomal subunits (Kulikov et al., 2010).

1.2.1 The "RING" E3 ubiquitin ligase Mdm2

1.2.1.1 Generalities

The *mdm2* (murine double minute 2 or *hdm2* for human) gene was initially identified as one of the genes responsible for the spontaneous transformation of the BALB/c mouse cell line NIH 3T3-DM (Cahilly-snyder et al., 1987). The three genes *mdm1*, *mdm2*, and *mdm3* were located on a short acentromeric extra-chromosomal body, called double minute chromosome. The second (*mdm2*) has transforming abilities (Fakharzadeh et al, 1991). Mdm2 can be classified as an oncogene and over-expression have been observed in a wide variety of human tumors such as sarcoma, glioblastoma, leukemia or non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (Oliner et al., 1992; Bueso-Ramos et al., 1993).

Mdm2 is the main E3 ligase controling the stability of p53 that plays a role in cancer development (Honda et al., 1997). It has become clear since several years that if Mdm2 is present at high level, other cellular pathways, distinct from p53, can be activated that lead to tumorigenesis (at least 5-10% of all human tumors have abnormal Mdm2 over-expression) (Honda et al., 1997). Mdm2 can interact and controls others proteins than p53 (*Fig. 5*), and some data describe Mdm2 as a regulatory protein involved in cell cycle arrest. For instance, it has been shown that Mdm2 inhibits the activation of cell-cycle checkpoints due to interaction with p21, Rb and E2F-1 (Zhang et al., 2004; Sdek et al., 2005; Mundle et al., 2003). Mdm2 also has a role in DNA repair owing its binding to Nbs1 (Bouska et al., 2008) or Tip60 (Sapountzi et al., 2006). In addition Mdm2 has an impact on apoptosis via the regulation of FOXO3a stability (Yang et al., 2008), through the regulation of insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor (IGF-1R) and the AKT signaling pathway (Tao al., 2007).

1.2.1.2 Structure of Mdm2

The Mdm2 protein (90kDa) consists of several domains (*Fig. 6*) that are conserved between species from human to zebrafish. The first domain, in the N-terminal of Mdm2, is the p53 interaction domain which is sufficient to bind p53 and inhibits its capacity to interact with the transcriptional machinery. Downstream of the p53 binding domain, is a nuclear localization signal (NLS) and a nuclear export signal (NES). These two domains mediate the ability of Mdm2 to shuttle between the nucleus and the cytoplasm (Roth et al., 1998). The central domain of Mdm2 contains an acidic region, responsible for the interaction with a range of regulatory proteins such as CBP/p300 (Argentini et al., 2001), ribosomal proteins L5, L11, L23 (Marechal et al., 1994, Zhang et al., 2009), ARF (Tao et al., 1999) or YY1 (Sui et al., 2004) and supports the second binding site for p53(Freedman et al., 1999). Finally, at the C-terminus, a zinc finger domain, a RING finger domain, a Walker A motif and a nucleolar signal sequence are present. The RING domain of Mdm2 can bind to RNA and nucleotides (Elenbaas et al., 1996) or functions as an E3 ligase that catalyzes the transfer of ubiquitin or Nedd8 to target substrates including p53 (Honda et al., 1997; Xirodimas et al., 2004). (*Fig. 6*)

FOXO3a, IGF-1R, Tip60

Figure 6: Mdm2 structure and interacting partners. From N to C terminus of Mdm2, the boxes represent respectively the p53 binding (p53), acidic, zinc finger (Zn) and E3 ubiquitin ligase ring finger (RING) domains. The nuclear localization signal (NLS), the nuclear export signal (NES) and the nucleolar export signal (NoLS) are as well indicated. The regions where interacting partners of Mdm2 bind are underlined with black lines.

1.2.1.3 Post-translational modifications of Mdm2

Mdm2 is highly regulated though many type of post-translational modifications such as ubiquitination, phosphorylation or sumoylation that have a positive or a negative impact on its ability to influence p53 activity (Maya et al., 2001; Ogawara et al., 2002; Meek et al., 2003). Furthermore, Mdm2 is a RING E3 ligase for itself, promoting its auto-ubiquitination. After stimuli such as DNA damage, Mdm2 promotes its auto-ubiquitination, targeting itself for proteasomal degradation which leads to the activation of p53 (Fang et al., 2000). Sumoylation of Mm2 modulates its E3 ligase activity and decreases Mdm2 self-ubiquitination (Buschmann et al., 2001).

1.2.2 P53 "guardian of the genome"

Despite its early discovery in 1979 (Levine et al., 1983), p53 is still one of the most studied tumor suppressor protein (55639 PubMed-listed publications). Through its anti-proliferative activity, p53 "the guardian of the genome" (Lane, 1992) is an important target for cancer therapy, particularly for those possessing the wild type protein.

Mutations in *p53* increase susceptibility to cancer and may be somatic or inherited. Germ line mutations in *p53* contribute to Li–Fraumeni syndrome, which causes predisposition to a diversity of tumors (Hollstein et al., 1994; Cho et al., 1994; Goh et al., 2011).

P53 is a short-lived nuclear phosphoprotein (half-life of less than 20 min) (Olson et al., 1993). The low level of p53 is maintained by several RING finger E3 ligases among them: Mdm2 (Honda et al., 1997), PirH2 (Leng et al., 2003), Mule (Chen et al., 2005), Cop1 (Dornan et al., 2004), E6-AP (Beer-Romero et al., 1997) and Topors (Rajendra et al., 2004). Subsequent studies revealed that activated p53 (high level of p53) is as a sequence specific DNA binding transcription factor and regulates a huge number of target gene (Hoh et al., 2002). Moreover, under certain conditions p53 is also subjected to a plenty of post-translational modifications (acetylation or phosphorylation) different from ubiquitination that can both activate or stabilize p53 (Siliciano et al., 1997; Hupp, 1999; Liu et al., 1999; Rodriguez et al., 2000; Vogelstein et al., 2000; Barlev et al., 2001; Li et al., 2002; Brooks et al., 2003; Chuikov et al., 2004).

1.2.3 The Mdm2-p53 pathway

Figure 7: General scheme of p53 regulation. Under normal conditions, p53 is maintained at a low level in cell via its degradation by the proteasome and Mdm2 is the most important E3 ligases for p53. Upon stress conditions, p53 becomes stabilized and activated by post-translational modifications (M: phosphorylation or acethylation or methylation or neddylation or sumoylation, Ub: ubiquitination) and other signaling pathways, which activate transcription of genes implicated in cell cycle arrest, senescence, apoptosis or DNA repair.

1.2.3.1 In normal conditions, p53 is one of the major substrate of Mdm2

As mentioned above, several E3 ubiquitin ligases take part in p53 degradation but the main regulator is Mdm2 which controls the transcriptional activity of p53. Under normal conditions *(Fig. 7, normal conditions)*, Mdm2 interacts with the transactivation domain of p53 and thus

inhibiting the binding of transcriptional co-activators (for example, p300 and CBP) (Wadgaonkar et al., 1999; Chen et al., 1993), and inducing its ubiquitination followed by its degradation by the 26S proteasome. Mdm2 provides a second binding site within the central acidic domain (Kulikov et al., 2006).

Concerning p53, initial studies on the p53-Mdm2 interaction identified the N-terminal region as a binding site for Mdm2 (Sakaguchi et al., 1997), but others have described a second binding site within the DNA-binding domain (Shimizu et al., 2006). P53 harbors as well a tetramerization domain that enhances its interaction with Mdm2 and thus, its degradation (Kubbutat et al., 1998). Thereafter, several researches have shown that binding of Mdm2 to p53 without E3 ligase activity was not enough to inhibit p53 activity (Itahana et al., 2007), implying a central role for the "RING" E3 ligase function of Mdm2 for the negative regulation of p53. Thus, Mdm2 inhibits p53 activity through two main mechanisms: blocking the transcriptional activation of p53 and promoting its degradation (Momand et al., 1992).

1.2.3.2 The p53-Mdm2 pathway upon stress condition

The tumor suppressor p53 maintains genome integrity and prevents inappropriate cell proliferation due to genotoxic stress (Vogelstein et al., 2000). After a cellular exposure to a variety of stimuli, such as DNA damage (including IR ionizing radiation, UV radiation, cytotoxic drugs or chemotherapeutic agents, or infectious virus), heat shock, hypoxia, or oncogene over-expression, p53 is activated and accumulates in the nucleus where it bind specific sites in the regulatory region of p53 responsive genes (Fig. 7, stress conditions). Thus, activated p53 constitutes a pivotal regulatory protein which activates several biological responses (Levine, 1997). The activation of p53 involves an increase of the p53 protein level as well as numerous changes in the protein through plethora posttranslational modifications, resulting in induction of p53 targeted genes (Fritsche et al., 1993). In response to DNA damage or oxidant injury which causes double strand breaks in DNA (DSBs), the protein kinase ATM (ataxia telangiectasia mutated) is activated and can in turn activate the Chk2 kinase (Matsuoka et al., 1998). This event leads to the phosphorylation of p53 at distinct sites promoting cell cycle arrest or apoptosis dependent of p53 (Morgan et al., 1997). Furthermore, DNA damage involves also replication blockage, inducing the kinase ATR (ATM and Rad3related). Subsequently, the kinase Chk1 is activated and can phosphorylate and activate p53 (Shieh et al., 2000). Many genes are activated by p53, nearly more than hundred genes contain p53 responsive elements, and these genes promote diverse signaling pathways. It

includes genes implicated in cell cycle arrest (14.3.3 or p21), DNA repair (GADD45, p48, APE1, polβ), senescence (p21) or apoptosis-related genes (PUMA, Bax, Fas, NOXA, APAF-1) (Vogelstein et al., 2000) *(Fig. 7, stress conditions)*. However, an elevated level of p53 can also induce repression of gene expression like for bcl-2, bcl-X, cyclin B1 and survivin, some of them are negative regulators of apoptosis (Mack et al., 1993).

1.2.3.3 Monoubiquitination versus polyubiquitination of p53

It is becoming clearly evident that the ubiquitination of p53 by Mdm2 is not so easy to understand than initially thought. Otherwise, according to the levels of Mdm2 proteins and the kind of ubiquitination (poly versus mono), the ubiquitination of p53 regulates not only the degradation of p53, but also affects its localization and activity (Li et al., 2003). The monoubiquitination and the nuclear export of p53 are thus carried by low level of Mdm2 which constitute a way of regulation of p53 in unstressed cells (Boyd et al., 2000,). In contrary, high levels of Mdm2 induced polyubiquitination of p53 followed by its nuclear degradation by the proteasome and take part in the inhibition of the p53 functions during the later stage of cellular stress response or when Mdm2 is overexpressed in tumors (Shirangi et al., 2002). The mechanism is not well elucidated whether the monoubiquitination of different lysines in the C-terminal region and/or in the DNA binding domain can liberate the NES (Nuclear export signal), leading to the nuclear export (Nie et al., 2007) or if export machinery such as Crm1 is required.

1.2.3.4 The feedback loop

Importantly, the rates of Mdm2 are modulated by p53 which stimulates the expression of the *mdm2* gene by a negative feedback loop (*Fig. 7, upper part*) (Wu et al., 1993). Therefore, when Mdm2 protein is expressed in a cell where p53 is active, it inhibits further p53 function, resulting in less Mdm2 produced. Factors that alter this loop and disturb the ability of p53 protein to stimulate Mdm2 or inhibit Mdm2 activity, lead to growth arrest. While factors that enhance Mdm2 levels by amplification of this gene or increased Mdm2 activity will induce cell proliferation.

1.2.4 The ternary complex "p53-Mdm2-19S subunits"

Besides targeting ubiquitin chain formation, Mdm2 has an additional role for p53 because mutations in the central domain of Mdm2 still induce the ubiquitination of p53 even if it is not enough for its degradation (Argentini et al., 2001; Blattner et al., 2002). Recent results from our laboratory showed that subunits of the 19S proteasome can associate with E3 ubiquitin ligases such as Mdm2. This interaction seems to be necessary for the transport of p53 and its degradation by the 26S proteasome (*Fig. 8*).

Figure 8: Ternary complex. This complex is formed between Mdm2, p53 and some 19S subunits (S2, S4, S5a, S6a, S6b, S8, S10b, and S12) to deliver p53 into the 26S proteasome.

P53, Mdm2 and the proteasome can therefore form a ternary complex. The binding of Mdm2 to the proteasome is regulated by the central domain of Mdm2 containing an "EDY" motif (E: glutamic acid, D: aspartic acid and Y: tyrosine) that interacts with the C-terminal part of Mdm2. The phosphorylation of this motif or binding of p53 releases the C-terminus of Mdm2 that can associate with the proteasome and induce the degradation of p53. Mdm2 can interact strongly with the 19S subunits S2, S4, S5a, S6a and S6b and weakly with S8, S10b, and S12. All these subunits contain an "EDY" motif (or "EDF", F: phenylalanine) similar to the one found in the central domain of Mdm2. However, the physiological role of the interactions between Mdm2 and the 19S subunits is still unclear. (Kulikov et al., 2010)

1.3 Aim of the study

Several authors have described the potential interactions existing between the 19S proteins-E3ligases-substrates (Berezutskaya et al., 1997; Sdek et al., 2005 and Corn et al., 2003). However, mechanisms of protein delivery to the proteasome are still poorly understood. Results from our laboratory demonstrated that Mdm2 could interact with 19S subunits (S2, S4, S5a, S6a, S6b, S8 and S10b) to form a ternary complex between p53, Mdm2 and 19S proteins in order to deliver p53 efficiently to the proteasome. This process can be expanded to other E3 ligases like Siah-1 and c-Cbl, which interact likewise with some 19S subunits (S8 and S10b). (Kulikov et al., 2010)

The aim of my PhD was to elucidate the physiological role of the interactions of E3 ubiquitin ligases with the 19S proteasome and to figure out the impact of substrates.

Since Mdm2 is one of the E3 ligases interacting with some 19S proteins, the goal was to determine the impact of Mdm2 and p53 on the modifications of the 19S proteasomal subunits as well as its effect on the assembly/disassembly of the proteasome. The experimental section of this thesis consists of three parts: 1) Confirm and characterize the post-translational modifications (ubiquitination) of some 19S subunits induced by Mdm2, 2) Investigate the effect of the association between Mdm2, p53 and 19S subunits on the 26S proteasome and to test if this principle could be extended to other E3 ligases (Siah-1 and c-Cbl), and 3) Elucidate the functions of the ubiquitinated 19S subunits whether this process is linked to the assembly or the disassembly of the 26S proteasome.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Materials

2.1.1 Chemicals and consumables

Name	Source
Agar	Otto Nordwald, Hamburg
Agarose	Peqlab, Erlangen
Ampicillin/Streptomycin	Gibco-BRL, Karlsruhe
Bacto-agar	Otto-Nordwald GmbH, Hambourg
Bacto-petri dishes	Greiner Labortechnik, Nürtingen
BSA	PAA, Pasching, Österreich
Bradford reagent	Biorad, Munich
DMSO	Fulka, Buchs, Germany
DTT (Dithiotreithol)	Roche, Mannheim
ECL Hyperfilm	Amersham, GE Healthcare, Freiburg
Eppendorf (1,5/2 ml),	Eppendorf, Hambourg.
Falcon (15/50 ml)	Greiner Bio One, Frickenhausen
FBS (Foetales Bovine Serum)	PAA, Pasching, Österreich
Filter paper	Wattman, Optikon (Schweiz)
IPTG	Peqlab, Erlangen
Luminol	Fluka, Buchs, Schweiz
MG132	Proteasome inhibitor, Calbiochem, Darmstadt
Milk powder	Saliter, Obergünzburg
Nonidet P-40 (NP40)	Boehringer, Mannheim

Petri dishes and flasks	Greiner Bio One, Frickenhausen
PBS (Phosphate Buffered Saline 1X and 10X)	Gibco Invitrogen, Karlsruhe
Phosphatase-Inhibitor Cocktail	Roche, Mannheim
PVDF membrane (Immobilon-P [®])	Millipore, Zug (Schweiz)
Triton-X-100	Biorad, Munich

All the other chemicals and consumables were purchased from *Roth* (Karlsruhe), *Sigma-Aldrich* (Taufkirchen), *Gibco*TM*Invitrogen* (Karlsruhe) and *Merck* (Darmstadt).

2.1.2 Kits

Name	Source	
Qiagen [®] Plasmid Mini Purification Kit	Qiagen, Hilden/France	
Qiagen® Plasmid Maxi Purification Kit	Qiagen, Hilden/France	
LipofectaminTM 2000	Invitrogen, Karlsruhe	

2.1.3 Standards

Name	Source	
Gene RulerTM 1 kb DNA Marker	Fermentas, France	
Page RulerTM Protein Marker	Fermentas, St. Leon-Rot	
Gel Filtration Calibration Kit HMW	GE-Healthcare, Freiburg	

2.1.4 Binding matrices

Name	Source
Protein A Sepharose	Pierce, Thermo Scientific, La Jolla (USA)

Glutathion-Sepharose 4B	GE-Healthcare, Freiburg
NHS Sepharose 4FF	Pharmacia Biotech, France
Ni2+-NTA Agarose	Qiagen, Hilden

2.1.5 Oligonucleotides

The small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) were purchased from *Eurofins MWG* (Ebersberg).

Name	Sequence
Control	5'-AACCCCUUUUAAAAGGGGGCCC-3'
Mdm2	5'-ACCAACAUGUCUGUACCUACUTT-3'
S8	5'- ACCAACAUGUCUGUACCUACUTT -3'

2.1.6 Enzymes

Name	Source	
Factor Xa	England Biolabs, Beverly (USA)	

2.1.7 Cells lines

Name	Source and description
U2OS cells	Human, epithelial, osteosarcoma cell line, WT p53 (ATCC-No. HTB-96™)
H1299 cells	Human, epithelial, lung carcinoma cell line, deficient in p53
	(ATCC-No. CRL-5803 TM)
C2C12 cells	Mouse myoblast cell line (ATCC-No CRL-1772 TM)

2.1.8 Bacteria

Name	Description
<i>E. coli BL21</i> (for the expression of the Hist- or GST-fused proteins)	Genotyp: F ⁻ , ompT, hsdS (r _B ⁻ , m _B ⁻), gal, dcm (Amersham) <i>GE</i> <i>Healthcare</i> , Freiburg
<i>E. coli DH5α</i> (for routine cloning)	Genotype: F-, φ 80lacZ Δ M15, Δ (lacZYA-argF) U169, deoR, recA1,endA1, hsdR17(rk-, mk+) phoA, supE44, thi-1, gyrA96, relA1

2.1.9 Plasmids

Name	Description		
pcDNA3.1	for transient transfections into mammalian cells and contained a CMV		
	promoter:		
	✓ Empty vector (<i>Invitrogen</i> , Karlsruhe, Germany)		
	✓ pcDNA3.1 S1, S2, S4, S5a, S6a, S6b, S8, S9,S10b tagged V5 in C-		
	terminus		
	✓ pcDNA3.1 S6b tagged Flag in C-terminus		
	✓ pcDNA3.1 Mdm2, Mdm2 C464, Siah1, c-Cbl tagged Myc		
	✓ pcDNA3.1 p53		
	✓ pcDNA3.1 Ubiquitin tagged Histidine, mutants K6R, K11R, K27R,		
	K29R, K33R, K48R and K63R and the K0 mutant where all lysines		
	are replaced with an alanine. They are all tagged 6x-Histidine		
pGEX-5X1	for production of GST-fused proteins:		
	✓ pGEX-5X1-USP2-core (Ventadour et al., 2007)		
pET-26d	for production and purification of His-tagged proteins:		
	✓ pET-26d-His ₆ -MLG (Ventadour et al., 2007)		

2.1.10 Antibodies

Primary antibodies:

Name	Description	Experimental
		conditions
Anti- $\alpha_{7,}$	mouse, monoclonal, Enzo Life Science,	WB 1:5000
20S proteasome	USA	
Anti-20S proteasome,	mouse, monoclonal, Biomol, USA	WB 1:1000
α/β subunits (MCP321)		
Anti-polyubiquitin	mouse, monoclonal,	WB 1:2000
(Fk1)	Enzo Life Science,	
	USA	
Anti-polyubiquitin and	mouse, monoclonal, Enzo Life Science,	WB 1:2000
monoubiquitin (Fk2)	USA	
Anti-Flag (M2)	mouse, monoclonal, Sigma-Aldrich,	WB 1:2000
	Deisenhofen	
Anti-Mdm2 (2A10)	mouse, monoclonal, Calbiochem/Merck,	WB 1 :1000
	Darmstadt	
Anti-Mdm2 (4B2)	mouse, monoclonal (Che net al., 1993)	WB
Anti-Myc (9E10)	mouse, monoclonal, Oncogene, Bad Soden	WB 1:1500
Anti-p53 (DO-1)	mouse, monoclonal, Santa Cruz, USA	WB 1:1500
Anti-PCNA (PC10)	mouse, monoclonal, Santa Cruz, USA	WB 1:10000
Anti-S1	mouse, monoclonal, Biomol, USA	WB 1:1000
Anti -S4, anti-S5a, anti- S6a and anti-S8 (p45- 110), 19S proteasome subunits	mouse, monoclonal, <i>Biomol</i> , USA	WB 1:2000
--	---	------------
Anti-S2, 19S proteasome subunit	rabbit, polyclonal, <i>Calbiochem/Merck</i> , Darmstadt	WB 1:5000
Anti-S6b (TPB7-27), anti-S10b and anti-S9, 19S proteasome subunits	rabbit, polyclonal, <i>Enzo Life Science</i> , USA	WB 1:2000
Anti-Ubiquitin (U5379)	rabbit, polyclonal, <i>Sigma-Aldrich</i> , Taufkirchen	WB 1:15000
Anti-V5	mouse, monoclonal, Serotec, Martinsried	WB 1:5000

Secondary antibodies:

All secondary antibodies were HRP-conjugated and were purchased from *DAKO Diagnostic GmBH* (Hamburg, Germany).

The clean-blot IP detection reagent (HRP) (*Thermo Scientific*), a specific secondary antibody was used for co-immunoprecipitation experiments.

2.2 Methods

A number of protocols and recipes for common buffers used in this project were taken from the laboratory manual of molecular cloning (Maniatis et al., 1989) unless otherwise stated. Aqueous solutions were prepared with water purified by the Milli-Q plus water purification system (*Millipore*, Molesheim).

2.2.1 DNA methods

2.2.1.1 Agarose gel electrophoresis

Agarose gel electrophoresis was performed with 1% agarose gels in 1X TAE buffer (0.04 M Tris pH 7.2, 0.02 sodium acetate, 1mM EDTA) submerged in a horizontal electrophoresis tank containing 1X TAE buffer with Ethidium bromide to a final concentration of 0,3 μ g/ml. The samples were mixed with DNA sample buffer (5 mM EDTA, 50% glycerol, 0,01g bromophenolblue) and loaded onto the gel. The GeneRuler DNA ladder mix *(Fermentas)* was used as standard ladder. The electrophoresis was carried at 100 V and the gel was analyzed using a UV light source.

2.2.1.2 Transformation of DNA into bacteria

Usually, 100 μ l of chemically competent bacteria DH5 α or BL21 were incubated with 1 μ l of the purified plasmid DNA for 30 min on ice. The bacteria were heat-shocked at 42°C for 50 sec, incubated 2 min on ice and diluted to 1 ml LB medium. Then, 1 ml of LB medium without amipicillin was added for 30 min at 37°C on a shaker. Finally, the mix or an aliquot was spread onto selective agar plates, supplemented with ampicillin or kanamycin and grown overnight a 37° C.

2.2.1.3 Small-scale purification of DNA

Plasmids were purified using the Qiagen Plasmid Mini Kit®. Transformed bacteria were cultured in 2 ml of LB 1X with the adequate antibiotics overnight at 37°C under constant

shaking. Bacteria were collected by centrifugation at 5000 rpm for 5 min. Thereafter, the supernatant was removed and the pellet was resuspended in 250 μ l Buffer P1. Bacteria were lysed by adding 250 μ l of solution P2 and incubating for 5 min at RT. Then, 350 μ l Buffer N3 (neutralization buffer) was added and mixed immediately, but gently by inverting the tube. The mixture was centrifuged at 10000 rpm for 15 min at 4°C (Eppendorf centrifuge 5415R) and the supernatant was applied to a QIAprep spin column, centrifuged for 60 sec 13000 rpm (Eppendorf centrifuge 5415R). The QIAprep spin column was washed by adding 0,5 ml PB Buffer and then by the PE Buffer. The flow-through was discarded, and centrifuged for an additional minute to remove residual wash buffer. The DNA was eluted from the QIAprep column with 50 μ l EB Buffer. Subsequently, the concentration of DNA was determined using a spectrophotometer to measure absorbance at a wavelength of 260 nm.

2.2.1.4 High-scale purification of DNA

For high-scale purification of DNA, the Qiagen Plasmid Maxi kit was used. Bacteria were cultured as described above with 200 ml of LB 1X with antibiotics at 37°C using a shaker. Thereafter, bacteria were collected by centrifugation at 10000 rpm for 15 min at 4°C in a fixed angle rotor (J2-HS centrifuge) and the pellet was resuspended in 10 ml of P1 buffer containing RNase A for 10 min at RT. Alkaline lysis was performed by adding 10 ml of P2 buffer for 5 min on ice and neutralized by 10 ml of P3 buffer, 20 min on ice. The suspension was centrifuged at 4000 rpm, 20 min at 4°C (Beckman Avanti J-20) and the supernatant was applied into a Qiagen Tip 500 column pre-equilibrated with QBT buffer. Next, the column was washed twice with QC buffer. The DNA was eluted from the resin by QF buffer and then precipitated using isopropanol and centrifuged at 10000 rpm for 20 min at 4°C. The pellet was washed with 70% Ethanol and centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 10 min at 4°C. Finally, the DNA pellet was dried and resuspended in TE buffer (10 mM Tris-HCL, 1mM EDTA, pH 8) at a final concentration of 1 mg/ml.

2.2.1.5 Quantification of plasmid DNA

To quantify the amount of DNA the optical density (OD) at 260 and 280 nm was measured with the NanoDrop[®]. An OD260=1 corresponds to 50 μ g/ml of double-stranded DNA. A ratio OD₂₆₀/OD₂₈₀ between 1.8 and 2 corresponds to a standard purity of the nucleic acid.

2.2.2 Cell culture and transfection methods

2.2.2.1 Maintenance of mammalian cell lines

All mammalian cells were cultured in standard conditions at 37°C under 95% humidity and 5% CO2 in an incubator *(Forma Science)*. U2OS, C2C12 and H1299 cells were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% FCS and adequate antibiotics (5% penicillin and streptomycin).

Adherent cells were grown to a confluence of 80-90%, then the culture medium was removed, the cells were washed twice with PBS 1X and incubated with trypsin solution at 37°C until they detached from the culture dish. Fresh medium was added to the dish to inhibit the trypsine solution and the cell suspension was centrifuged 2 min at 1000 rpm *(Heraeus Megafuge 10)*. Cells were collected and seeded in a new dish at a lower concentration.

Freezing cells: 10 cm dishes at 90% of confluency were trypsinized and collected by centrifugation. The cells were thereafter resuspended in freezing medium (DMEM, 20% FCS, 10% DMSO). Cryovials were first stored at -80°C for 24 h and then transferred in liquid nitrogen.

Thawing cells: cells were thawed rapidly at 37°C and transferred in fresh medium containing adequate FBS and antibiotics. The following day, the medium was replace with fresh culture medium.

<u>**Treatment of cells:**</u> MG132 was used at a final concentration of 10 μ M for the indicated times.

2.2.2.2 Transfection with Calcium Phosphate reagent (Chen and Okayama, 1987)

The day before transfection, 2.10^6 cells were plated onto 10 cm culture dishes. 10 µg of DNA were diluted in sterile water with CaCl₂ (250 mM) and 2X HBS buffer (280 mM NaCl, 1,5 mM Na₂HPO₄, 50 mM HEPES, pH=7.05) which was mixed dropwise to the cells. The calcium phosphate-DNA precipitate was added to cell culture dishes and mixed by gentle swirling. The day after transfection, the culture medium was removed and cells were

incubated 5 min with 15% glycerol in PBS 1X, washed once in PBS 1X and resuspended in fresh culture medium for further 24 h.

2.2.2.3 Transfection using Lipofectamine 2000

Cells were seeded onto 6 cm plates one day before transfection to ensure 90% confluency on the day of transfection. For transfections into U2OS cells, the ratio of Lipofectamine 2000 to DNA was maintained at 1:1 (μ l/ μ g). Before applying the DNA/lipofectamine mixture onto the cell, the growth medium was removed and replaced by DMEM medium without serum and antibiotics. Then, 4 to 6 h after transfection, the medium was changed and normal growth medium with serum and antibiotics was added.

2.2.3 Protein methods

2.2.3.1 Preparation of protein lysates from cells

Typically, cells were washed in ice-cold PBS 1X and scraped in 1 ml of PBS 1X for a 10 cm dish. Cells were collected into an eppendorf tube and centrifuged at 4000 rpm 5 min at 4°C (Eppendorf centrifuge 5415R). The supernatant was removed and cells were lysed in 200 μ l of NP-40 lysis buffer (50 mM Tris pH 8.0, 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA pH 8.0, 1% NP40, 1 mM PMSF) and incubated 20 min on ice. The protein extract was cleared by centrifugation at 10000 rpm, 15 min at 4°C.

Protein concentration was quantified using a Bradford assay (paragraph 2.2.5.3). Finally, 2X Sample Buffer (80 mM Tris pH 6.8, 2% SDS, 2% β -mercaptoethanol, 10% glycerol, 0.01% bromophenol blue) was added to 40 to 60 μ g of soluble proteins and boiled 10 min at 95°C for denaturation of proteins, prior loading onto a SDS-PAGE.

2.2.3.2 Quantification of protein extracts (Bradford Assay)

Proteins concentrations were determined according to Bradford assay, 2 μ l of protein extract were diluted in 1 ml of 1X Bradford solution (*Biorad*, Munich). 200 μ l of the solution were added into a 96 well plate and the absorbance was measured at λ_{sys} using an ELX 808 UI Ultra Microplate Reader (software KC4 v 3.01). The signal background was determined using

 $2 \ \mu l$ of lysis buffer diluted into 1 ml of Bradford solution 1X. The final protein concentration is calculated through a standard curve of defined amount of BSA (0, 2, 4, 6 μl of 1 mg/ml BSA).

2.2.3.3 Separation of proteins by SDS-PAGE (polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis)

SDS-PAGE analyses were performed according to the protocol of Laemmli (1970). Separating gels of 8 to 15% acrylamide were used to analyze proteins based on their size under denaturating conditions. The Mini-Protean[®]3 system (*Biorad*, Müchen, Germany) was used to cast the polyacrylamide gel. In the most of the cases, 10% polyacrylamide gel was used (for 30 ml of final volume, 11.9 ml of double distilled water, 10 ml of 30% Acrylamide mix, 7.5 ml of Tris 1.5 M pH 8.8, 300 µl of 10% SDS, 300 µl of APS, 12 µl of TEMED). The running gel was poured and overlaid with ethanol 70%. After polymerization, the ethanol was discarded with distilled water and the stacking gel was added (for 10 ml of solution 6.8 ml of double distilled water, 1.7 ml of 30% Acrylamide mix, 1.25 ml of Tris 1 M pH 6.8, 100 µl of 10% SDS, 100 µl of APS, 10 µl of TEMED). A comb was inserted into the stacking gel allowing the formation of wells. Afterwards, the combs were removed, the gel was fixed in an electrophoresis chamber and 1X running buffer was poured over (10X solution: 30.26 g of Tris base, 144.13 g of Glycin, 50 ml of SDS 20% in 1 L of double distilled water). The desired amount of cell lysate diluted in 2X sample buffer was then loaded onto the SDS gel. The gels were electrophoresed at 100 mV during 2 h.

2.2.3.4 Western blotting and immunodetection

Gels were removed from the electrophoresis chambers and incubated in transfer buffer (transfer buffer for 1L: 800 ml of double distilled water, 100 ml methanol and 100 ml of 10X solution, 10X solution: 30.26 g of Tris base, 144.13 g of Glycin in 1 L of double distilled water). Immobilion TM polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membranes were activated with methanol for 1 or 2 min and then incubated in transfer buffer. Western blotting was performed using a liquid transfer apparatus (*bio-rad*) overnight at 30V. After transfer, the membranes were blocked with 5% milk solution in PBST (PBS 1X, 0.2% tween) for 30 min at room temperature. The membranes were then washed, incubated in PBST with primary antibodies

for 2 h, subsequently washed in PBST (3 times, 10 min each) a second time and incubated with secondary antibodies conjugated with horse radish peroxidase during at least 1h30. The membranes were washed once again in PBST (3 times, 10 min each) with a final wash in PBS 1X (10 min) and were developed using ECL (Enhanced Chemiluminescence). Therefore, an equal volume of ECL I (100 mM Tris-HCL, pH=8.5, 2.5 mM Luminol, 400 μ M coumaric acid) and ECL II (100 mM Tris-HCL, pH=8.5, 0.02% H₂O₂) were mixed and applied to the membranes and incubated for 2 min. The signal was developed using ECL Hyperfilm (*GE Healthcare*) and a developer machine from *Fuji*.

Procedure for Stripping an Immunoblot:

The blot was washed to remove chemiluminescent substrate, placed in Western blot stripping buffer (*PIERCE, Thermo scientific*) and incubated for 5-15 minutes at RT. This step was followed by 3 washes in PBS 1X. Then, the membrane was blocked a second time and tested for the complete removal of the immunodection reagent (HRP label and primary antibody). After determining that the membrane is properly stripped, the second immunoprobing experiment may be performed.

2.2.3.5 Production of the enzyme USP2-core

BL21 bacteria were transformed with the plasmid encoding the GST-USP2-core and precultured overnight in 100 ml LB 1X with ampicillin. The following day, the bacteria culture was expanded to 200 ml of LB 1X with ampicillin and grown until OD600=0.5-0.8. The OD was monitored with a spectrophotometer (*Eppendorf*, Biophotometer).

To induce the production of the recombinant protein, isopropyl- β -thiogalactoside (IPTG) was added (final concentration of 1 mM) and incubated for 2 h at 30°C on a shaker. Bacteria were collected by centrifugation at 6000 rpm for 5 min at 4°C using a fixed angle rotor (J2-HS centrifuge) and the pellet was frozen at -80°C. The next day, bacterial pellets were resuspended in a buffer containing: 2 mM EDTA, 2 mM PMSF in PBS 1X, sonicated at Amp 60, 10 pulses, several times. Then, 1% Triton-X-100 was added to have a complete protein extraction. The suspension was incubated at RT for 1 h on a rotating wheel. The solution was centrifuged at 6000 rpm for 15 min at 4°C (Eppendorf centrifuge 5415R). Then, 1 ml of glutathione-sepharose 4B slurry (*GE-Healthcare*) was added to the supernatant and incubated at least for 2 h at 4°C on a shaker in order to purify the GST-fusion proteins. Thereafter, beads

coupled to USP2-core were washed three times with PBS 1X to remove non-specific binding proteins and centrifuged at 2000 rpm, 2 min, RT (*Eppendorf* centrifuge 5415R).

USP2-core was eluted two times with factor Xa in PBS to remove the GST moiety. The amount of proteins was determined using a Bradford assay and the efficiency of the purification was checked by SDS-PAGE followed by staining with Coomassie blue. The USP2-core produced migrates at the predicted size of 39.9 kDa. The activity of the enzyme USP2-core deubiquitinase was tested on cell lysates. USP2-core was used at a final concentration of 1 μ g/ml in Tris buffer (0.5 M Tris pH 7.4, 2 mM EDTA and 10 mM DTT) for 3 h minimum.

2.2.3.6 Binding assay

The first step of the experiment was carried out followed the same protocol as the production of the enzyme USP2-core but the GST-USP2-core was not eluted from the glutathione-sepharose 4B slurry beads.

To test the interaction between USP2-core and subunits of the proteasome, cells were transfected with plasmids of the 19S proteasome and lysed in NP-40 buffer (50 mM Tris pH 8.0, 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA pH 8.0, 1% NP40, 1 mM PMSF).

Then, 500 μ g of protein lysate was diluted in 500 μ l of lysis buffer and incubated overnight at 4°C, rotating, with 50 μ g of GST-USP2-core bound to glutathione-sepharose beads. The sepharose beads were centrifuged at 2000 rpm for 1 min and samples were washed 3 times in PBS 1X. The proteins interacting with USP2-core were eluted with 2X SDS-PAGE sample buffer and analyzed by Western blotting.

2.2.5.7 Production of the MLG affinity matrix and purification of ubiquitinated conjugates

BL21 bacteria were transformed with pET-26b-His₆-MLG. The MLG peptide is a fragment of the S5a protein, composed of the two ubiquitin interacting motifs UIMs. S5a functions as a multiubiquitin receptor by binding to and recognizing polyubiquitinated proteins destined for 26S proteasome degradation via its two UIM motifs.

The expression of His₆-MLG was induced with IPTG and performed as described for USP2-core (*cf.* §2.2.5.6 Production of the enzyme USP2-core). Bacteria were collected and

lysed by sonication at Amp 60, 10 pulses, several times, in a buffer containing: 50 mM NaH₂PO₄ pH: 8.0, 300 mM NaCl, 10 mM Imidazole and 2 mM PMSF. Then, the solution was centrifuged at 6000 rpm for 15 min at 4°C (Eppendorf centrifuge 5415R).

The His₆-MLG was purified using Ni-NTA Agarose beads (*Qiagen*, France) at 4°C overnight. The resine was washed twice with buffer containing 50 mM NaH2PO4, 300 mM NaCl, 30 mM Imidazole pH 8.0. The protein His₆-MLG was removed from the beads with 10 ml of elution buffer (50 mM NaH₂PO₄, 300 mM NaCl, 30 mM Imidazole pH 7.0) and the eluate was dialyzed in PBS 1X. The size of the His₆-MLG (25 kDa) was checked by SDS-PAGE followed by Coomassie staining.

Thereafter, the protein His₆-MLG was covalently bound to NHS-activated Sepharose 4 Fast Flow resin (*Amersham Bioscience*, France) which constitutes the NHS-His₆-MLG affinity matrix used for isolation of ubiquitin conjugates.

To purify the polyubiquitin conjugates with the NHS-MLG affinity matrix, H1299 cells were washed twice with ice-cold PBS and lysed in NP-40 buffer (150 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris, pH 8, 5 mM EDTA, 1% Nonidet NP-40, 1 mM PMSF, 10 mM NEM). The protein extract was cleared by centrifugation at 10000 rpm at 4°C for 15 min, and the protein concentration was determined by the method of Bradford. Soluble proteins were then incubated with the MLG affinity matrix for 2 h at RT under gentle agitation (1 mg of protein per 1.6 ml of 50% slurry). The beads were washed 3 times with lysis buffer. Elution was performed by 2X SDS-PAGE sample buffer for Western blot analysis.

2.2.3.8 Staining with Coomassie® blue

Gels were washed with distilled water at room temperature to remove salts and then incubated 1 h at RT on a shaker with Coomassie blue reagent (0.15 g Coomassie brilliant blue R250, 40% methanol, 50% H2O, 10% acetic acid). Finally the gel was washed several times with distaining buffer (40% methanol, 50% H2O, 10% acetic acid) to remove excess dye.

2.2.3.9 Ubiquitination Assay

H1299 cells at 60% confluency in 10 cm plates were transfected with plasmids encoding different 19S subunits in presence or not of plasmid encoding Mdm2 with a plasmid encoding His-tagged ubiquitin using calcium phosphate reagent (paragraph 2.2.2.2).

After 48 h transfection, H1299 cells were harvested, collected and washed twice in PBS 1X. The cells were then resuspended in 7 ml of PBS 1X and a volume of 1 ml was used for the input control, centrifuged and lysed in 50 μ l of NP-40 lysis buffer. The remaining of cells were centrifuged and lysed in Gd-HCl buffer (6 M guanidinium-HCL, 0.1 M Na₂HPO₄ /NaH₂PO₄ pH 8, 0.01 M Tris pH 8, 10 mM β -mercaptoethanol and 5 mM imidazole). Then, 50 μ l of Ni²⁺-NTA agarose beads were added to the lysate. The samples were incubated at RT on a rotating wheel for 2 h and centrifuged at 2000 rpm (*beckman* centrifuge) for 1 min. Thereafter, the beads were successively washed with the following buffers: Gd-HCl buffer, A buffer (8M Urea, 0.1 M Na₂HPO₄/NaH₂PO₄ ph 6.3, 0.01 M Tris pH 6.3, 10 mM β -mercaptoethanol), A buffer with 0.2% Triton and A buffer with 0.01% Triton. Protein elution was carried out with a buffer containing 200mM imidazole in 5% SDS, 0.15 M Tris pH 6.7, 30% glycerol and 0.72 M β -mercaptoethanol for at least 30 min at room temperature on a shaking machine. The eluate was diluted in 2X SDS-PAGE sample buffer and boiled 10 min at 95°C prior Western blot analysis.

2.2.3.10 Sucrose gradient

A total of 6 plates of 10 cm dishes containing H1299 cells at 90% confluency were used per gradient. The cells were transfected with different plamids (plasmids encoding V5-tagged 19S subunits, Mdm2, Siah-1 or C-cbl) as indicated in the transfection method part (paragraph 2.2.2.2).

Cells were washed, scraped in PBS 1X, collected by centrifugation (Eppendorf centrifuge 5415R) and lysed in 1.5 ml of proteasome lysis buffer (50 mM Tris, pH 7.4, 20 mM NaCl, 10 mM MgCl2, 0.5% NP40, 5 mM ATP, 10 mM NEM and 1 mM PMSF). To correctly break cells without disturbing cellular complexes (e.g. the 20S or 19S proteasomes), cell lysates were syringed (needle 26G). This step was necessary in order to remove the cell aggregates to obtain a good resolution of the cellular complexes. Protein extracts were cleared by centrifugation at 10000 rpm at 4 °C for 15 min.

Protein concentration was determined by Bradford assay. An equal amount of cell lysate (between 3 to 5 mg of proteins) were loaded on top of a 10–40% sucrose gradient (12 ml, 25 mM Tris, pH 7.4, 50 mM NaCl, 0.05% NP-40, 1mM PMSF) or subjected to prior deubiquitination with the USP2-core enzyme before loading. Then, gradients were centrifuged at 28000 rpm for 18 h at 4 °C using a ultracentrifuge (*Beckman*, rotor: *Kontron* TST 41.14 rotor). Fractions of approximately 400 μ l were collected from the bottom using a micropipette and a peristaltic pump (Minipump, *Control company*, USA) linked to a fraction collector (Teledyne ISCO, *Foxi*@*Jr*.).

Equal amounts of every second fraction were loaded onto SDS-PAGE to have the full elution pattern of a protein on the same gel and analyzed by Western blotting. Protein standards (*GE Healthcare*) such as the tyroglobuline (MW: 669 kDa) and the aldolase (MW: 158 kDa) were systematically used to calibrate sucrose gradients.

2.2.3.11 Immunoprecipitation

Concerning the IP against Flag-tagged S6b, 1 μ g of an anti-FLAG antibody or IgG control were coupled to protein A sepharose at RT for 1-2 h. IPs were performed with cell lysate fractionated on sucrose gradients. During this incubation, the fractions 4 to 14 from a sucrose gradient (corresponding to the 19S, 20S and 26S) were pooled and diluted to 1 ml in proteasome lysis buffer (50 mM Tris, pH 7.4, 20 mM NaCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 0.5% NP40, 5 mM ATP, 10 mM NEM and 1mM PMSF). Then, cell pooled fractions from sucrose gradients, treated or not with USP2 (1 μ g/ml) or NEM (10 mM), were added to the anti-Flag antibody coupled to protein A sepharose. The mixture was incubated on a rotating wheel ON at 4 °C.

For the IP, the beads were washed three times with NP-40 lysis buffer and the proteins were eluted with 1X SDS-PAGE sample buffer. The samples were heated at 95°C for 10 min before loading onto a 10% SDS-PAGE gel and analyzed by Western blotting.

3. RESULTS

3.1 The E3 ligase Mdm2 ubiquitinates some 19S subunits

3.1.1 Mdm2 co-fractionates with proteasomal subunits

The ubiquitination of p53 by Mdm2 is not the only step for its degradation by the 26S proteasome. A direct interaction between Mdm2 and some 19S subunits is required to deliver p53 efficiently to the proteasome (Kulikov et al., 2010).

Since Mdm2 has been identified as connecting p53 directly with some subunits of the 19S proteasome, the functional relevance of the association between Mdm2 and 19S or 26S proteasome complexes had to be validated in cells. Therefore, an important point was to assess whether Mdm2 and 19S subunits were present in complex including full-assembled 26S (19S + 20S) proteasome, 19S proteasome or single 19S subunits. Sucrose gradient experiments were used to examine the nature of these putative interactions. To facilitate further reading of the result part of my thesis, the principles of the sucrose gradient experiment are described below (*Fig. 9*).



Figure 9: Sizing standards. The molecular weight standards (thyroglobuline 669kDa and aldolase 158 kDa) were used for 10-40% sucrose gradient normalization and ultracentrifuged at 28 000 rpm for 18 h at 4°C. A total of 28 fractions were collected from the bottom of sucrose gradient and 40 μ l of every second fractions were resolved by SDS-PAGE. The gel was stained with Coomassie blue. The 20S peaks at 669 kDa corresponding in size to the thyroglobuline marker, the 19S overlaps the 20S and the 26S is located in fractions 8/10. (MW: molecular weight).

Sucrose gradients favours the separation of native complexes that sediment along the gradient and indicate whether a given protein is present alone or in complex with other cellular proteins. Cell lysates (3 to 5 mg of proteins) were loaded on the top of sucrose gradient 10-40% and ultracentrifuged at 28 000 rpm for 18 hat 4°C. The sucrose gradient fractionating discriminates between bigger complexes that sediment in the bottom of the tube and small complexes or single proteins that are located on the top. Fractions of 400 μ l were collected from the bottom of gradients. The fraction number two corresponds to the high molecular weight complexes, while the number twenty-eight to the lower complexes. Only 40 µl of every second fraction were loaded onto SDS-PAGE to have the full elution pattern of a protein on the same gel. Molecular weight standards (thyroglobuline 669 kDa and aldolase 158 kDa) were used to calibrate each series of sucrose gradients (Fig. 9). Thyroglobuline and Aldolase proteins calibrated both the native step corresponding to the sucrose gradient analysis and the denaturing step related to the Western blot analysis. Furthermore, Ventadour and co-workers demonstrated by silver staining with a mixture of 20S and 19S proteasomes that the 20S was located in higher molecular weight fractions than the 19S proteasome, although the 19S (~ 900 kDa) was bigger than the 20S (~ 700 kDa) (Ventadour et al., 2007). Under these conditions, the 20S proteasome peaked in fractions 14/16 corresponding in size to the thyroglobuline marker, the 19S proteasome in fractions 16/18 and the 26S proteasome in fractions 8/10 (Fig. 9). It is important to notice that each of gradient series was calibrated with standards to correct eventual shifts due to variations in the gradient preparation.

To determine the association of Mdm2 with the proteasome, H1299 cells (Human, p53negative lung carcinoma cell line) were co-transfected with cDNAs encoding Mdm2 or with V5-tagged S8 (19S subunit) and Mdm2 proteins. Cells were lysed in conditions maintaining the integrity of native complexes in buffer containing ATP-Mg²⁺ to favour the formation of native 26S proteasome. Lysates were loaded onto sucrose gradients (10-40%), separated by ultracentrifugation and aliquoted in fractions. Every second fractions were afterwards loaded onto SDS-PAGE. The cell proteins were transferred onto a PVDF-membrane and subsequently, the membrane was incubated with antibodies against endogenous α_7 , Mdm2, V5-tagged proteins (S8), endogenous S8, endogenous S6a, endogenous S2 or endogenous S1 (*Fig. 10*).



Figure 10: Mdm2 co-elutes with proteasomal proteins. H1299 cells were transfected with 7 μ g of a plasmid encoding Mdm2 together with 3 μ g of empty vector (panel II) or 7 μ g of a plasmid encoding Mdm2 and 3 μ g of a plasmid encoding V5-tagged S8 (panel I). 48 h after transfection, cells were lysed in buffer containing ATP-Mg²⁺. Equal amounts of soluble proteins (5 mg) were layered on top of sucrose gradients (10-40%). Gradients were centrifuged at 28 000 rpm for 18 h at 4°C. A total of 28 fractions were collected and 40 μ l of every second fractions were resolved by SDS-PAGE. The proteins were transferred onto a PVDF-membrane. The membrane was cutted into 3 pieces. The Western blot membranes of the 1st panel were hybridized with antibodies directed against Mdm2, V5-tagged S8 and α_7 (20S) proteins. Concerning the second panel, the upper part of membrane was first incubated with an antibody against S1 or S2 proteins, then the blot was stripped with Western blot stripping buffer (*Thermo scientific Pierce*) and reprobed for Mdm2. The middle of membrane was incubated with the anti-S6a or anti-S8 antibodies. The bottom of membrane was incubated with the anti-S6a or anti-S8 antibodies. The bottom of membrane was used. Western blots were developed by ECL. (MW: molecular weight)

As shown in *Figure 10*, the distribution pattern of exogenously expressed V5-S8 was essentially similar to that of endogenous subunit *(panel I and II, compare blots: V5-S8 and S8; Fig. 10)*, ranging from fraction 10 to fraction 26. Consequently, the V5 epitope did not disturb the distribution of the 19S subunits and V5-tagged 19S subunits were still incorporated into proteasome complexes. In addition to S8, the elution pattern of other 19S proteins has been

tested. S1, S2 and S6a endogenous proteins shared an analogous distribution from fraction 14 to fraction 24 *(panel II, compare blots: S1, S2 and S6a; Fig. 10)*, although these proteins co-immunoprecipitated with Mdm2 (S2, S6a, S8) or not (S1) (Kulikov et al., 2010).

Concerning S6a (*blot S6a; Fig. 10*), another high molecular weight elution peak was observed and might correspond to other functions of S6a, as recent evidences in yeast and mammalian cells supported a novel non-degradative function for components of the 26S proteasome (Truax et al., 2009). As control to validate the sucrose gradient analysis, the elution pattern of 20S proteasomal proteins (α_7) was checked, and α_7 was found in all the fractions with a peak in fractions of the 20S proteasome (*panels I and II, compare* α_7 *blots; Fig. 10*). The size distribution of Mdm2 was as well characterized and a huge amount of Mdm2 proteins was detected between 158 and 669 kDa in fractions 14-28 (*panels I and II, Mdm2 blots; Fig. 10*), but some Mdm2 proteins eluted with larger complexes in fractions 2-12.

These observations indicated that Mdm2 proteins co-fractionated with endogenous (S8, S2, S6a and S1) or transfected proteasome proteins (V5-S8) which supported their presence in the same complex. In addition, a part of Mdm2 distribution overlapped with the α_7 subunit of the 20S proteasome, suggesting that Mdm2 could be also associated with complexes that contained 20S proteins (*panels I and II, compare blots: Mdm2 and* α_7 ; *Fig. 10*).

Only few proteasomal proteins eluted in fractions of full-assembled 26S proteasome (fractions 8-12), despite the presence of ATP-Mg²⁺ in the lysis buffer. The majority of proteasomal proteins probably accumulated in subcomplexes in cells and 26S full-proteasome might only assemble when its activity is required. This experiment attests that Mdm2 shares a similar distribution than 26S proteasomal proteins and could be find in fractions corresponding to the full-assembled 19S proteasome complexes.

3.1.2 Characterization of the 19S ubiquitinated subunits

3.1.2.1 Several 19S subunits are ubiquitinated by E3 ligases such as Mdm2, Siah-1 or c-Cbl

Several data obtained in previous study (Kulikov et al., 2010) combined with results from the first paragraph; clearly indicate an interaction between Mdm2 and proteins of the 19S proteasome. However, it is supposed that these interactions are not only necessary to deliver p53 to the proteasome but also they can have another role in cells such as a direct impact on the 19S proteasome subunits.

A study based on antibody affinity already suggested that some proteasomal subunits (19S and 20S proteins) could be ubiquitinated (Matsumoto et al., 2005). These results were in accordance with that obtained by Ventadour and co-workers that revealed a polyubiquitination of 20S subunits (Ventadour et al., 2006). In the laboratory, some work further indicated that 19S proteins might be ubiquitinated by several E3 ligases such as Mdm2, Siah-1 or c-Cbl, since high molecular weight bands could be detected when 19S subunits are transfected together with these ligases (*Blattner C., unpublished data*).



Figure 11: The E3 ligases Mdm2 and Siah-1 ubiquitinate respectively S2 and S5a subunits of the 19S proteasome. H1299 cells were transfected with 3 μ g of cDNAs encoding V5-tagged proteins of the 19S proteasome together with 1 μ g of cDNA encoding His-tagged ubiquitin protein (His₆-Ub) in the presence or absence of 7 μ g of a cDNA encoding Mdm2 (A) or Myc-Siah1 proteins (B). 48 h after transfection, aliquots of cells (Input) were lysed in NP-40 buffer and analyzed for the presence of Mdm2 (4B2), Myc-Siah-1 (9E10), V5-S5a or V5-S2 by Western blotting. Concerning the input A, the upper part of the membrane was probed with an anti-V5 antibody (V5-S2), the blot was then stripped and reprobed for Mdm2. Equal loading is confirmed by hybridizing the membranes with an antibody directed against proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA). The remaining cells were lysed in guanidinium buffer under denaturating conditions. Ubiquitinated proteins were purified by adsorption to Ni²⁺-NTA-agarose beads, separated by SDS-PAGE and analyzed by Western blotting using an anti-V5 antibody. (Ub: ubiquitin)

Mdm2 as well as Siah-1 and c-Cbl are possibly implicated in the ubiquitination of 19S proteasomal subunit. Then, to validate this hypothesis, an ubiquitination assay was performed. H1299 cells were co-transfected with plasmids encoding the V5-tagged 19S subunits in

presence of Mdm2 or Myc-tagged Siah-1 or with the empty vector as control together with plasmids encoding His-tagged ubiquitin (His₆-Ub). Cells were lysed in 6 M guanidinium buffer which inhibits protein degradation. Ubiquitinated proteins were purified by adsorption on Ni²⁺-NTA-agarose beads via the His₆-tag linked to proteins. Eluted proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE and analyzed by Immunoblotting *(Fig. 11)*. For control (Input), aliquots of cellular lysates were loaded on SDS-PAGE and the protein levels of Mdm2, V5-S2, V5-S5a and PCNA was analyzed by Western blotting.

As shown in *Figure 11 A*, Mdm2 induced the ubiquitination the S2 protein of the 19S proteasome with the detection of a pattern of higher-molecular-weight bands in presence of Mdm2, and similar results were found for S5a, S8 and S4. Results obtained in the laboratory *(Blattner C., unpublished data)* demonstrated that S6a and S6b subunits are as well ubiquitinated in presence of Mdm2 and S12 is ubiquitinated in presence of Mdm2, while no ubiquitination of S1, S7, S9, S10b, S11, S15 or p55 has been observed.

Nevertheless, this effect is not specific of Mdm2, as other monomeric RING E3 ligases like Siah-1 are able to ubiquitinate some 19S subunits. Siah-1 plays an important role in regulation of cellular apoptosis (Wen et al., 2010). Similarly to Mdm2, overexpression of Siah-1 resulted in increased polyubiquitination of S5a proteins (*Fig. 12 B*). This effect could be extended to another monomeric RING E3 ligase c-Cbl, described to ubiquitinate the EGF receptor (Wakasabi et al., 2010). Actually, both c-Cbl and Siah-1 induced also the ubiquitination of S6a, S6b and S8 subunits (*Blattner C., unpublished data*).

These results indicate that ubiquitination of 19S subunits might be a common mechanism to several RING E3 ligases, although the 19S subunits involved differ with the E3 transfected. Importantly, the majority of these ubiquitinated proteins are subunits of the 19S base except for S12 which is constitutively ubiquitinated.

3.1.2.2 The ubiquitination of the 19S proteins by Mdm2 is not a recognition signal for their degradation

Polyubiquitination is often a degradation signal for subsequent proteolysis by the proteasome and, considering that Mdm2 ubiquitinated some 19S subunits (S2, S4, S5a, S6a,

S6b and S8); these observations lead to the hypothesis that 19S proteins could be targeted for proteasomal degradation.

To evaluate whether ubiquitinated proteasomal proteins are target for degradation or not, U2OS cells (human, epithelial, osteosarcoma cell line, WT p53) were treated with an inhibitor of the proteasome (MG132) for up to 8 hours and protein levels were analyzed by Western blotting *(Fig. 12)*.



Figure 12: S1, S2 and S6a proteasomal subunits are not substrate of the proteasome. U2OS cells were treated with 10 μ M of the proteasome inhibitor MG132. After the indicated times (0, 4 or 8 h), cells were lysed in NP-40 lysis buffer. A- 50 μ g of lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE. After transfer onto a PVDF membrane, the membranes were divided into two or three part. The upper part was incubated with antibodies against Mdm2, endogenous S1 or S2 proteins. For S1 and Mdm2 blots, the membrane was first incubated with an anti-S1 antibody followed by stripping and reprobing with an anti-Mdm2 antibody. The middle part of the membrane was incubated with an antibody for PCNA and subsequently with HRP-linked antimouse or anti-rabbit antibodies. The level of PCNA was used as an indication of equal loading. B- Signals for protein expression were quantified by densitometry using the ImageJ software, normalized to an internal control (PCNA) and blotted. The relative value for each protein was expressed in percentage (%).

Upon cell treatment with proteasome inhibitor (*Fig. 12 A*), the abundance of Mdm2, a well characterized substrate of the proteasome (Cho et al., 2001) increased by 46% (quantification by ImageJ software). As expected, the degradation of Mdm2 was triggered through the proteasome pathway. Thus, Mdm2 is used as a control to test the efficiency of the treatment by MG132. In contrast, the level of proteasomal proteins such as S1, S2, S6a remained stable for 0, 4 or 8 h of MG132 treatment. These subunits seemed therefore not to be degraded by the proteasome system.

To have confidence that this experiment was reproducible and that the ubiquitination of the 19S subunits was not a signal for degradation, three independent experiments for each assay have been evaluated by densitometry (ImageJ software, *Fig. 12 B*). The level of proteasomal proteins (S1, S2 and S6a) was constant whereas a clear increase of the amount of Mdm2 could be observed which validated previous observations.

A surprising data contributed to confirm that the ubiquitinated 19S subunits were not targeted for proteasomal degradation. The MLG affinity matrix was tested to isolate the ubiquitinated 19S proteins in order to validate the ubiquitination assay experiment, but this matrix seemed not to recognize them.

The MLG affinity matrix exploits the properties of the S5a subunit of the 19S proteasome, an ubiquitin receptor that allows the purification of ubiquitin conjugates. The MLG peptide is a fragment of the S5a protein, restricted to the two UIM motifs, and that retained the whole binding affinity for polyubiquitin chains. This approach was developed by Dr. Daniel Taillandier (Ventadour et al., 2007).

The His-MLG protein was produced in bacteria, purified and linked to sepharose beads *(upper panel, Coomassie blue staining; Fig. 13 A)*. The efficiency of the MLG affinity matrix to purify ubiquitinated proteins was validated for the whole pool of polyubiquitin-conjugates in C2C12 cells (mouse myoblast cell line used as control) with the anti-polyubiquitin antibody *(lower panel; Fig. 13 A)*.

To test the ubiquitination of the 19S subunits by Mdm2 with the MLG affinity matrix, U2OS cells were transfected with control siRNA or siRNA targeting Mdm2 or S8. The matrix efficiency was controlled by Western blotting with an antibody against polyubiquitin conjugates (Fk1) to validate the experiment in U2OS cells *(panel: total polyUb conjugates; Fig. 13 B)*. Mdm2 and S8 protein levels were significantly reduced when cells were co-transfected with Mdm2 and S8 siRNAs *(Input; Fig. 13 B)*. A decrease of 83% and 57% of the expression of these two proteins was respectively detected (quantification by ImageJ software). The depletion of Mdm2 by siRNA, the main E3 ligase of p53, induced a strong decrease in p53 ubiquitination *(eluates from MLG matrix, central panel; Fig. 13 B)*. Surprisingly, no ubiquitinated S8 proteins have been detected, in contrary to p53 which was used as control to validate that the experiment was working *(eluates from MLG matrix, upper panel; Fig. 13 B)*.



Figure 13: The MLG affinity matrix did not recognize the ubiquitinated S8 subunit. A-**Purification of the MLG affinity matrix.** BL21 bacteria were transformed with pET-26b-His6-MLG. The expression of His6-MLG was induced with IPTG. Bacteria were collected and lysed by sonication. The His6-MLG was purified using Ni-NTA agarose at 4°C overnight. Supernatant and eluate were separated by SDS-PAGE and stained with Coomassie blue. For the MLG-affinity matrix, the protein His₆-MLG was covalently bound to NHS-activated Sepharose 4 Fast Flow. This matrix can be used for the isolation of ubiquitin conjugates. To test the efficiency of the MLG affinity matrix, C2C12 cell lysate (50 µg) was incubated with the MLG affinity matrix (50 µl of 50% slurry) for 2 h at RT. Samples were washed, eluted by adding SDS-PAGE sample buffer, loaded onto a SDS-PAGE gel and, analyzed by Western blotting (Ub: ubiquitin). B- The ubiquitin chain linked to S8 is not retained by the MLG affinity matrix. U2OS cells were transfected with siRNA directed against Mdm2 or S8 or with a nonspecific control siRNA. Cells were lysed in NP-40 buffer and 50 µg of soluble proteins were incubated with the MLG matrix for 3 h at RT. Proteins were eluted by adding SDS-PAGE sample buffer and analysed by Western blotting using antibodies targeted against. S8, p53 (DO-1 antibody) and against ubiquitin conjugates (Fk1 antibody). An aliquot of the cell lysate was probed for the presence of Mdm2 and S8. PCNA was used for loading control (Input).

Unexpectedly, ubiquitinated S8 proteins were not retained by the MLG affinity matrix. In this way, one hypothesis could probably be that S5a not recognizes or captures the kind of ubiquitin chain linked to the S8 subunit. These ubiquitin chains bound to the 19S subunits seemed not constitute a target signal for proteasomal degradation.

3.1.2.3 A "mixed" chain of ubiquitin is linked to S2 and S5a subunits of the 19S proteasome

Previous work reported that Mdm2 induces polyubiquitination of proteins via the lysine K48 to target protein for proteasomal degradation (Ikeda et al., 2008), but no data were available about the ubiquitination of the 19S subunits by Mdm2. Furthermore, my results suggest that proteasomal subunits are not degraded via the proteasome pathway and similarly, that "non-conventional" ubiquitin chain linked to the 19S subunits could explain the lack of binding of polyubiquitinated-S8 to the MLG matrix (previous paragraph).

To elucidate the type of ubiquitin chains linked to the proteasome subunits, an ubiquitination assay was carried out with different mutants of ubiquitin lacking alternatively the different lysine. The subunits S2 and S5a which interact with Mdm2 and are ubiquitinated, were selected for this experiment.

H1299 cells were co-transfected with plasmids encoding for V5-tagged S2 or S5a, with or without Mdm2 and with either His-tagged wild type ubiquitin (His₆-Ub) or ubiquitin mutants. The polyubiquitinated proteins were purified by adsorption to Ni^{2+} -NTA-agarose beads and the amount of ubiquitinated S2 and S5a proteins was determined by Western blotting.

Concerning the mutants, the seven lysine were separately replaced with arginine (K6R, K11R, K27R, K29R, K33R, K48R, K63R) or for the K0 mutant all the lysines were exchanged with alanine. The lysine to arginine mutants render ubiquitin unable to form multiubiquitin chains via that specific lysine with other ubiquitin molecules. These proteins can still be linked to the lysine residues on target proteins formed through the remaining ubiquitin lysine residues that have not been mutated. In contrast, the K0 mutant contains no lysine residues and is unable to form ubiquitin chains.

An efficient polyubiquitination of S2 was detectable in the presence of wild type ubiquitin *(Fig.14 A)*. In contrary, the K0 mutant was incompetent for S2 ubiquitination; no ubiquitinated forms of S2 were noticed in the higher molecular weight part of the gel demonstrating that S2 is indeed polyubiquitinated and not eventually multimonoubiquitinated (monoubiquitinated at several individual lysine residues).



Figure 14: Ubiquitination pattern of S2 and S5a subunits. H1299 cells were transfected with 3 μ g of plasmids encoding V5-tagged S2 (A) or S5a (B), with or without 7 μ g of a plasmid encoding Mdm2 and with 1 μ g of a plasmid encoding WT or mutant His-tagged Ub. Mutants harboured the indicated mutations (K6R, K11R, K27R, K29R, K33R, K48R and K63R). In the K0 mutant, all lysines have been replaced with an alanine. At 48 h after transfection, cells were harvested and proceeded as described in the legend to *Figure 11*. Inputs (lower panel) were separated by SDS-PAGE and analyzed for the presence of Mdm2 (4B2), V5-S8 or V5-S2 by Western blotting. For the input A, the upper part of the membrane was first hybridised with an antibody directed against V5, stripped and reprobed with an antibody targeted against Mdm2 (4B2). PCNA was used as loading control. Ubiquitinated proteins were also separated by SDS-PAGE and analyzed by Immunoblotting with an anti-V5 antibody (upper panels). (WT: wild type, Ub: ubiquitin)

For the others mutants, clearly the lysine 11 and 48 did not affect the ubiquitination of S2, whereas the lysine mutants 6, 27, 29, 33 or 63 attenuated significantly the rate of ubiquitination of S2. These observations suggest that all these lysines of ubiquitin may contribute to polyubiquitination. In addition the lysine 48 which is the main important linkage for proteasomal degradation is not required for Mdm2-mediated S2 polyubiquitination. This

argument supports results obtained in the previous paragraph, ubiquitinated S2 subunit is not a substrate of the 26S proteasome. Similarly to S2 subunit, the ubiquitination pattern of S5a involved a chain of several lysines of the ubiquitin molecule, but the lysine residues implied are quite different (*Fig. 14 B*). The chain of ubiquitin linked to the S5a subunit is composed of the lysine 6, 11, 33, 48 and 63 without the lysine 27 and 29.

A residual signal of polyubiquitination could be indeed observed for some of the mutants which might be due to the presence of several lysine involved in the formation of the ubiquitin chain. Both subunits S2 and S5a require several lysine residues for polyubiquitination and thus, are linked to an unconventional ubiquitin chain ("mixed" chain).

3.2 Impact of E3 ligases or E3 ligase/substrate on the assembly of the proteasome

3.2.1 Role of Mdm2 and p53 on the formation of the proteasome

3.2.1.1 Mdm2 or Mdm2-p53 complexes increase 198 subunits in higher order complexes

In parallel to work on the ubiquitination of the 19S subunits, the role of Mdm2 and Mdm2p53 complex on the proteasome was investigated. It was supposed that these proteins could have a direct impact on the distribution of proteasomal subunits and possibly, on the formation of the proteasome. This part of my thesis is focused on one component of the 19S proteasome base, the ubiquitinated S2 subunit, which interacts with Mdm2. The purpose was to compare the elution pattern of S2 alone and S2 co-transfected with Mdm2 and/or p53, using sucrose gradient experiments; in order to demonstrate that E3 ligase and/or substrate could have a role on the assembly of the 26S proteasome. Hence, the requirement of the H1299 cell line that is deficient in p53 to fully monitor the impact of the substrate.

H1299 cells were transiently transfected with V5-tagged S2 or with Mdm2 and/or p53 coding plasmids. As already detailed in the first paragraph, the series of gradients were

normalized using molecular weight standards and the same quantity of proteins was loaded. The protein expression of Mdm2, S2, and p53 was monitored by Western blotting *(input, Fig. 15 A)*. Short time exposures of films have been selected to visualize the shift of 19S subunits in the presence of Mdm2 and Mdm2-p53 complexes. To compare each V5-S2 blots to one another, an input control has been used to obtain the same intensity signal The analysis and time exposure of the films were the same for all the gradients.

An important detail to notice is that NEM (N-Ethylmaleimide, *Sigma*), an inhibitor of deubiquitinase, was used in the lysis buffer to detect the ubiquitin-conjugates. However, no polyubiquitin-conjugates of the 19S subunits have been distinguished using NEM, in presence of Mdm2 and/or p53, even with acrylamide gradient gels 6-15% (*data not shown*). This is probably due to the low abundance of polyubiquitin-conjugates of the 19S subunits and theirs distributions over high molecular weight (*panels I, II and III, compare blots: V5-S2; Fig. 15 B*).

The elution pattern of Mdm2 remained sensibly identical in presence or not of p53 with a concentration of proteins in fractions 12-22 (panels II and III, compare blots: Mdm2; Fig. 15 B). P53 was rather located from fraction 12 to 22 (panel III; Fig. 15 B). A huge amount of S2 proteins was found from fractions 14 to 24, but not in higher fractions (panel I; Fig. 15 B) suggesting that the majority of S2 proteins eluted with 26S and 19S proteasome complexes. In fact the incorporation of S2 is clearly increased into larger complexes when Mdm2 is overexpressed (fractions 8 to 14) and this process is even more enhanced in presence of the substrate p53 (fractions 2 to 14) (panels I, II and III, compare blots: V5-S2; Fig. 15 B). These S2 fractions (12 to 14) matched with the localization of the full-assembled 26S proteasome, implying probably a role of Mdm2 and Mdm2-p53 in its formation. The presence of S2 proteins in fractions 2 to 10, when Mdm2 and p53 are co-transfected, could be explained by the binding of interacting partners of these two proteins with the 26S proteasome (panel III, blot: V5-S2; Fig. 15 B). Thus, Mdm2 and Mdm2-p53 complexes shifted the S2 subunit toward higher molecular weight complexes. As control for this experiment, the distribution of endogenous α_7 , subunit of the 20S proteasome was also tested. For the three conditions (I, II and III), the main concentration of α_7 proteins was located from fraction 12 to 20 which corresponds to the 26S and the 20S proteasome (panels I, II and III, compare blots: α_7 ; Fig. 15 B). The increase of the S2 subunit in higher order complexes of the sucrose gradient was quantified with the ImageJ software (Fig. 15 C) and, therefore attests an improvement of the proteasome assembly by Mdm2 and Mdm2-p53complex.



Figure 15: The presence of Mdm2 or Mdm2-p53 shift the distribution of S2 proteins toward higher order complexes. H1299 cells were transfected with 3 µg of a plasmid encoding V5-tagged S2 (panel I) or 3 μ g of a plasmid encoding V5-S2 and 7 μ g of a plasmid encoding Mdm2 (panel II) or 3 μ g of a plasmid encoding V5-tagged S2, 7 µg of a plasmid encoding Mdm2 and 2 µg of a plasmid encoding p53 (panel III). A- Cells were lysed in NP-40 buffer containing ATP-Mg²⁺ and 40 μ g of soluble proteins were tested for expression of V5-tagged S2, Mdm2, p53 and PCNA which was used as loading control (Input). B- Cell lysates (4 mg of proteins) were loaded onto 10-40% sucrose gradient and proceded as described in the legend to Figure 10. Membranes were hybridyzed with 4B2 (Mdm2), V5 (S2), endogenous α_7 and DO-1 (p53) antibodies. The upper part of membranes (blots II and III) were first tested for S2 expression, then the blots were stripped and reprobed for Mdm2. Western blots were developed by ECL. The input control is used to normalize the signal of proteins between all the gradients and is composed of 40 µg of cell lysate corresponding to each gradient. C- Signals for S2 protein expression of sucrose gradients were quantified by the ImageJ software, normalized according to the input control and blotted. The relative value for each protein is expressed in percentage (%). The black arrow underlines the shift of S2 toward higher order fractions in presence of Mdm2 and/or p53. (MW: molecular weight, LMW: low molecular weight complexes, HMW: high molecular weight complexes)

Interestingly, equivalent results were found for S8 and S4 subunits of the 19S proteasome, associated with Mdm2 and ubiquitinated, but also for the S9 subunit which did not interact with Mdm2 *(data not shown)*. As note, the shift for the subunits S4 and S9 was observed with the Myc-Mdm2 and the experiment was carried out without ATP-Mg²⁺ in the lysis buffer. Thus, the increased amounts of the S4 and S9 into larger complexes corresponded to the 19S proteasome and not to the 26S proteasome. These data underline an impact of Mdm2 and p53 in the recruitment of 19S proteasomal proteins.

All these observations further validate that 19S subunits (S2, S4, S8 and S9) are more incorporated into larger complexes when Mdm2 is overexpressed and this phenomenon is enhanced in presence of the substrate p53. These high molecular complexes corresponded in size to the native 19S and 26S proteasomes.

Obviously, this experiment has been reproduced several times (at least 10 times), each time the shift was detected in the larger complexes of the sucrose gradient and never in the other way. These reproducible data demonstrate the relative importance of the role of E3 ligase and its substrate (Mdm2/Mdm2-p53) on the formation of the proteasome.

3.2.1.2 Mdm2 or p53 do not alter the steady-state levels of 19S proteasomal subunits

One hypothesis has to be rule out, the fact that p53 as well as Mdm2 could act on the protein level of the 19S subunits which might explain the increase of 19S subunits toward higher molecular weight fractions. Furthermore, p53 is a well-known transcription factor which under stress stimuli can activate a plethora of genes (Brooks and Gu; 2003).

To examine whether Mdm2 or p53 affects the steady-state protein levels of the 19S proteasomal subunits, H1299 cells were transiently transfected withV5-tagged S2, S4, S6a or S8 and with increasing amount of Mdm2 (*Fig. 16 A*) or with Mdm2 in presence or not of p53 (*Fig. 16 B*). The protein levels of S4, S6a and S8 remained sensibly identical in presence of increasing amount of Mdm2 (*Fig. 16 A*). Similarly, results obtained with p53 co-transfected in presence of Mdm2 demonstrated that huge amount of p53 did not affect the level of proteasomal proteins such as S2, S8 and S4 (*Fig. 16 B*).



Figure 16: The presence of p53 or Mdm2 does not affect the level of proteasomal proteins. H1299 cells were transfected with cDNAs expressing V5-tagged S2, S4, S6a or S8 (5 μ g) in the absence or presence of increasing amounts of Mdm2 (0, 1 or 10 μ g) (A) or with Mdm2 (7 μ g) in the presence or not of p53 (0 or 3 μ g) (B). Cells were harvested 48 h after transfection, and analyzed for the expression of proteasomal proteins, Mdm2 and p53. Concerning the part B for the membrane V5-S2, the upper part was first incubated with an anti-V5 antibody, then the blots were stripped and reprobed for Mdm2. The hybridization with an antibody targeted against PCNA was used for loading control. Western blots were developed by ECL. Signals for protein expression were quantified by densitometry using the ImageJ software, normalized to an internal control (PCNA) and blotted. The relative value for each protein level was expressed in percentage (%).

The quantification experiments by the ImageJ software further validated that Mdm2 and p53 did not modify the protein levels of the 19S subunits S2 and S8 *(Graphs, Fig. 16 A and B)*. These observations lead to the conclusion that Mdm2 and p53 do not enhance proteasomal assembly by increasing steady-state levels of the 19S proteasomal subunits (S2 and S8).

3.2.2 Inhibition of the proteasome does not disturb the assembly of the proteasome

A question remained therefore the role of the substrate degradation on the assembly of the proteasome. An interesting way to test this point was to add onto cells an inhibitor of the proteasome (MG132) which inhibits the degradation of substrates and to monitor the impact of this drug on proteasomal distribution using sucrose gradient analysis.

H1299 cells transfected with plasmids encoding V5-tagged S2, Mdm2 and p53 were treated with MG132 or DMSO as vehicule during six hours prior analysis. The protein expression of Mdm2, S2, and p53 was measured by Western blotting (*Fig. 17 A*). Conditions for sedimentation and analysis of the gradients were the same as previously described in *Figure 10*.

The major amount of p53 and Mdm2 proteins was concentrated from fraction 16 to 28 in presence or not of MG132 *(compare blots: 4, 5, 10 and 11; Fig. 17 B)*. These two proteins are well-known substrates of the proteasome (Fang et al., 2000); the MG132 induced therefore an accumulation of p53 and Mdm2 proteins *(compare blots: 5 and 11 for p53, 4 and 10 for Mdm2; Fig. 17 B)*. This increase could be observed as well with the protein expression by Western blotting *(Fig. 17 A)*.

In contrast, the S2 protein level remained sensibly the same upon MG132 treatment (*Fig.17 A and B*) and supported the result of the first part indicating that the ubiquitinated 19S proteins are not proteasomal substrates. A shift of S2 proteins was still detected in higher weight complexes from fraction 2 to 14 when Mdm2 and p53 were co-transfected with or without MG132 (*compare blots: 1 and 3, 7 and 9; Fig. 17 B*), which confirmed the role already observed of Mdm2 and p53 on the assembly of the proteasome.

As control for this experiment, the distribution of endogenous α_7 , subunit of the 20S proteasome was also tested for the fourth conditions. After treatment with MG132, the main concentration of α_7 proteins remained still located from fraction 12 to 20 which corresponds to the 26S and the 20S proteasome *(compare blots:* 2, 6, 8 and 12; *Fig. 17 B)*.

These results lead to the supposition that blocking proteasome functions did not affect the recruitment of proteasomal subunits by Mdm2.



Figure 17: The MG132 inhibitor of the proteasome has no effect on S2 protein distribution. H1299 cells were transfected with 3 μ g of a plasmid encoding V5-tagged S2 alone or together with 7 μ g of a plasmid encoding p53 for 48 h. 6 hours prior to harvested cells, the proteasome inhibitor MG132 was added to a final concentration of 10 μ M (blots 7 to 12) or cells were treated with the same amount of the vehicle DMSO (blots 1 to 6) for control. A- Cells were lysed in NP-40 buffer containing ATP-Mg²⁺. For the input, 40 μ g of lysates were tested for the expression of V5-tagged S2, Mdm2, p53. PCNA was used for loading control. B- The remaining cell lysate (4 mg of proteins) was loaded onto sucrose gradients and analysed as described in the legend to *Figure 10*. The upper part of the membranes (blots 3, 4, 9 and 10) were first tested for S2 expression, then the blots were stripped and reprobed for Mdm2. An HRP-linked anti-mouse or anti-rabbit antibody was used for secondary antibody. Western blots were developed by ECL. (MW: Molecular Weight)

3.2.3 The impact of Mdm2 on the assembly of the 26S proteasome can be extended to other E3s such as c-Cbl or Siah1

To further proof that the influence of Mdm2 on the proteasome formation to target substrates for degradation might be a common mechanism for several E3 ligases, two other monomeric RING E3 ligases Siah-1 and c-Cbl were tested. For this purpose, the S6b subunit of the base of the 19S proteasome has been selected because this subunit is ubiquitinated by the two E3 ligases. The effect of E3 ligases on the assembly of the 26S proteasome was studied by the comparison of the elution pattern of S6b, in presence of Siah-1 or c-Cbl.

The sucrose gradient experiment was performed as previously described in Figure 10. H1299 cells were co-transfected with plasmids encoding S6b or S6b and Myc-Siah-1 or S6b and Myc-c-Cbl. The input monitored the level of transfected-proteins (Fig. 18 A). The same amount of cell lysates (5.5 mg of proteins) was loaded onto sucrose gradients. Blots were compared via the loading of an input control in order to obtain the same intensity signal (Fig. 18 B). The majority of transfected S6b proteins were concentrated from fraction 20 to 26; with few S6b subunits in fractions 16-18 of the 19S proteasome (blot 1; Fig. 18 B). The incorporation of the S6b subunit was sensibly increased into larger complexes, for cells overexpressing Siah-1 from fraction 8 to 20 (compare blots: 1 and 3; Fig. 18 B) and c-Cbl from fraction 12 to 20 (compare blots: 1 and 6; Fig. 18 B). In presence of Siah-1 and c-Cbl, the S6b distribution shifted in higher molecular weight complexes, implying an impact of these two E3 ligases on the proteasome formation. Additionally to S6b, the elution pattern of endogenous α_7 , subunit of the 20S proteasome was checked as control for this assay. The major amount of α_7 proteins was found fractions 8 to 18 (blots: 2, 5 and 8; Fig. 18 B) which corresponded to 26S and 20S proteasome fractions. Although a slight shift of two fractions for α_7 proteins was detected in higher molecular weight fractions (fractions 6 and 8, Fig. 18 B), the shift of S6b in presence of c-Cbl or Siah-1 remains therefore significant because it consists of an increase of 4 to 6 fractions respectively (Fig.18 B). In contrast to Mdm2 which was encountered in 26S, 20S and 19S fractions (Fig. 10 and Fig. 15), the elution pattern of these two E3 ligases (Siah-1 and c-Cbl) was quite different. Despite long time exposure films (blots: 4 and 7; Fig. 18 B), the major amount of these proteins was detected in smaller weight fractions (fractions 18 to 28) and only a slight amount co-eluted with 19S proteasome fractions (around fraction 18).



Figure 18: Siah-1 and c-Cbl shift the distribution of S6b protein towards higher order complexes. H1299 cells were transfected with 3 μ g of a plasmid encoding V5-tagged S6b or with V5-tagged S6b together with 7 μ g of a plasmid encoding Myc-tagged Siah-1 or Myc-tagged c-Cbl. A- Cells were lysed in NP-40 buffer containing ATP-Mg²⁺ and 40 μ g of soluble proteins (input) were tested for expression of V5-tagged S6b, Myc-tagged Siah1 or Myc-tagged c-Cbl. PCNA was used for loading control. **B**- Conditions for analysis and fractionation of the sucrose gradient are given in the legend to *Figure 10*. Fractions were separated by SDS-PAGE. Proteins were blotted onto a PVDF-membrane and membranes were first tested with the anti-Myc antibody. Then, the blots were stripped and reprobed for V5-S6b and α_7 (blots 3 to 8). An HRP-linked anti-mouse or anti-rabbit antibody was used. Western blots were developed by ECL. The input control normalized the signal of the proteins between all the gradients and was composed of 40 μ g of cell lysate corresponding to each gradient. (MW: molecular weight)

Though, the possibility of small amounts of these ligases (undetectable) present around the 26S proteasome fractions should not completely be ruled out. However, these data seemed to corroborate with the fact that Siah-1 and c-Cbl interacted only with S8 and S10b subunits

(Kulikov et al., 2010) although S5a, S6a, S6b and S8 subunits have been ubiquitinated (paragraph 3.1.2.1).

3.3 Functions of the 19S subunit ubiquitination by Mdm2

3.3.1 The ubiquitination of the 19S subunits are clearly not implied in the assembly of the 26S proteasome

Considering that polyubiquitination of proteasomal proteins is apparently not associated with their degradation and did not correlate with the assembly of the 26S proteasome, the function of these post-translational modifications is still under investigation. The results obtained with the MG132 treatment already seemed to demonstrate that the ubiquitination of the subunits was not involved in the proteasome assembly because the elution pattern of S2 seemed not to be altered by the MG132.

In order to confirm the role of the ubiquitination of the 19S subunits, the effect of a mutant of Mdm2 (C464), deleted in its E3 ubiquitin ligase functions was tested on the distribution of the proteasomal protein S2. The replacement of the cysteine 464 in the C-terminus of Mdm2 by an alamine (C464A mutant) in its RING domain is known to prevent p53 ubiquitination (Honda et al., 2000). For this experiment, H1299 cells were transfected with V5-tagged S2, Mdm2 wild-type (WT) or mutant (C464A) in presence or absence of p53. Protein levels of V5-tagged S2, Mdm2 WT or mutant, p53 and PCNA were determined by Western blotting (*Fig. 19 A*). As for the other sucrose gradients, the same quantity of proteins was loaded. Conditions for sedimentation and analysis of the gradients are given to *Figure 10*.

The elution patterns of WT and C464A mutant of Mdm2 were equivalent in presence of p53, with the majority of both forms of Mdm2 found from fraction 16 to 24; although a minority of Mdm2 protein eluted with larger protein complexes *(compare blots: 4 and 8; Fig. 19 B)*. Concerning the distribution of endogenous α_7 proteins, the major amount of this subunit correctly eluted with 26S and 20S complexes (fractions 12 to 20) *(compare blots: 2, 6 and 10; Fig. 19 B)*. The elution pattern of S2 protein remained comparable in presence of the WT or the C464A mutant of Mdm2 *(compare blots: 1, 3 and 7; Fig. 19 B)*. The increase of S2 in fractions corresponding to the 26S proteasome is still detected with WT or C464A mutant of Mdm2 in presence of the substrate p53 *(compare blots 1 and 3, 1 and 7; Fig. 19 B)*.



Figure 19: The "RING" mutant (C464A) behaves the same way on the distribution of S2 subunit as Mdm2 WT. H1299 cells were transfected with either 3 μ g of a plasmid encoding V5-tagged S2 or with 3 μ g of a plasmid encoding V5-tagged S2 together with 7 μ g of a plasmid encoding WT or mutant (C464A) Mdm2 together with 2 μ g of a plasmid encoding p53. A- Cells were lysed in NP-40 buffer containing ATP-Mg²⁺ and 40 μ g was tested for expression of V5-tagged S2, Mdm2, p53 and PCNA, for control. B- The sucrose gradient was analysed as described in the legend to *Figure 10*. Fractions were collected, separated by SDS-PAGE and proteins were detected with 4B2 (Mdm2, C464A), V5, α_7 and DO-1 (p53) antibodies. The upper part of the membranes (blots 3, 4, 7 and 8) were first tested for S2 expression, then the blots were stripped and reprobed for Mdm2. The input control normalized the signal of the proteins between all the gradients and was composed of 40 μ g of cell lysate corresponding to each gradient. (MW: molecular weight)

Only the distribution of p53 was affected by the replacement of Mdm2 WT by the C464A mutant with an increase of p53 in fractions 2 to 12 *(compare blots: 5 and 9; Fig. 19 B).* In contrast to the input control *(Fig. 19 A)*; the level of p53 seemed to remain the same in presence of WT or C464 mutant of Mdm2. However, the level of PCNA corresponding to this blot was not constant and was weaker for p53 in presence of the C464A mutant. After quantification of the ratio p53/PCNA with the ImageJ software, an increase of 41% of the p53 protein level could be detected with the C464 mutant in comparison to the WT Mdm2, that corroborated results obtained with the sucrose gradient analysis. These observations are in agreement with the literature data, because p53, not ubiquitinated by the C464A mutant and not degraded by the proteasome, accumulated in cells (Honda et al., 2000).

Thus, the C464A mutant of Mdm2 has no impact on the 19S proteins distribution. This support the hypothesis that ubiquitination of the 19S subunits is not required for the recruitment of proteasomal subunits during the assembly of the proteasome.

3.3.2 Deubiquitination of S2 favor its incorporation into the fullassembled proteasome complexes

To further explore if the ubiquitination of 19S subunits is associated with the assembly or with the disassembly of the proteasome, cell lysates were treated with the deubiquitinase USP2 (Ubiquitin-Specific Protease 2) prior sucrose gradient analysis. The ubiquitin-conjugates are extremely difficult to detect as explained before, even with NEM (inhibitor of the deubiquitinase) in the lysis buffer, probably due to their low quantity and their distribution among molecular weight. Hence, the benefit of USP2 which should remove the ubiquitin chains and, thus blunts the activity of E3s ligases as Mdm2. The non-ubiquitinated forms of 19S subunits should accumulate in cells.

USP2, a cysteine protease and a member of the ubiquitin specific protease family, is overexpressed in prostate cancer and stabilizes fatty acid synthase, which has been associated with the malignancy of some aggressive prostate cancers (Graner et al., 2004). Several articles related that the catalytic core domain of USP2 deubiquitinates ubiquitin-conjugates in cells or in tissue extracts (Lin et al., 2001; Ventadour et al., 2007). The GST-USP2-core protein was produced in bacteria and purified with Glutathione-sepharose beads. USP2-core was eluted with the factor Xa which cleaved the GST part. The efficiency of the purification of USP2-

core was checked by SDS-PAGE followed by staining with Coomassie blue (*Fig. 20 A*). The activity of the USP2-core to cleave polyubiquitin chains of proteins was confirmed for whole cell lysate of H1299 cells with the Fk1 antibody (*Fig. 20 B*). Ventadour and co-workers already demonstrated that USP2-core disassembles the K48-linked chains (Ventadour et al., 2007). However in our case, it remains important to test USP2-core for the disruption of the unconventional ubiquitin chains linked to the 19S subunits.



Figure 20: USP2-core disassembles ubiquitin chains. A- Purification of USP2-core. Bacteria were transformed with pGEX-5X1-USP2-core. The GST-USP2-core was purified using glutathione-sepharose 4B, and eluted from the glutathione sepharose by incubation with Xa factor, which cleaves between the GST and the USP2 part of the protein. Aliquots of the supernatant, the unbound fraction and the eluate were loaded onto SDS-PAGE and stained with Coomassie blue. To monitor the USP2-core activity, H1299 cell lysates (40 μ g) were incubated for 3h at 4°C with or without USP2-core (0.4 μ g/ μ l) in deubiquitination buffer. The reaction was stopped by addition of SDS-loading buffer. Samples were separated by SDS-PAGE and analysed by Western blotting using the Fk1 antibody that recognizes polyubiquitin-conjugates. B-USP2 disassembles ubiquitin chains from S2 and S8 subunits. H1299 cells were co-transfected with 3 μ g of a plasmids encoding V5-tagged S8 or S2 together with 7 μ g of a plasmid encoding Mdm2 and 1 µg of a plasmid encoding His-tagged ubiquitin. 48h after transfection, cells were harvested in 100 µl of NP-40 buffer and incubated or not with the USP2-core enzyme for 4 h at 4°C (USP2-core at 0.4 µg/µl diluted in deubiquitination buffer). Aliquots of cells lysates (40 µg) were analyzed for the presence of Mdm2 (4B2), V5-S2 or S8 and PCNA by Western blotting. Concerning the part B for the membrane V5-S2, the upper part was first incubated with an anti-V5 antibody, then the blots were stripped and reprobed for Mdm2 (Input). The remaining of cell lysate was diluted in guanidinium buffer. Ubiquitinated proteins were purified by adsorption to Ni²⁺-agarose beads and analyzed as described in the legend to *Figure 11*. (Ub: ubiquitin)

To analyze the efficiency of USP2-core on the polyubiquitin-chains linked to the 19S proteins, lysates of H1299 cells transfected with V5-tagged S2 or S8 and Mdm2 were treated with the deubiquitinase and an ubiquitination assay was performed. As shown in *Figure 20 B*, upon the action of USP2-core, the ubiquitin chains linked to S2 and S8 subunits were completely removed. USP2-core allows then a total disassembly of the mixed-ubiquitin chains of the 19S subunits.

Deubiquitinating proteases such as USP2 reverses protein ubiquitination. Herein the use of this approach which should discriminate about the role of ubiquitination of the 19S subunits with the comparison of their elution patterns in presence or not of USP2. To test the effect of USP2-core on the assembly of 19S subunits, H1299 cells were transfected with V5-tagged S2 or with V5-tagged S2, Mdm2 and p53 DNAs. The protein expression of Mdm2, S2, and p53 was analyzed by Western blotting (*Fig. 21 A*). Cell lysates were treated or not with USP2-core (0.4 μ g/ μ l for 4 h) prior to the loading onto sucrose gradients. The sucrose gradient experiment (*Fig.21 B*) was carried out similarly to the *Figure 10*.

The elution pattern of Mdm2 was not modified by USP2-core treatment (*compare blots: 4 and 10; Fig. 21 B*), even if Mdm2 has been shown to be a substrate of this deubiquitinase (Stevenson et al., 2007). The bigger amount of S2 proteins was located in fractions 14 to 26 (*blot: 1; Fig. 21 B*). As already observed the presence of Mdm2-p53 complexes shifted the S2 protein in higher molecular weight from fraction 12 to 18 (*compare blots: 1 and 3; Fig. 21 B*). The S2 elution pattern was really disturbed in presence of USP2-core enzyme, S2 proteins increased in higher molecular weight complexes, fractions 2 to 12 (*compare blots: 1/3 and 7/9; Fig. 21 B*).

The deubiquitination of S2 seemed therefore favor the incorporation of this subunit in higher order complexes corresponding to the 19S and 26S proteasome. In the same extend than S2, the effect of USP2-core was also observed on the endogenous S8 subunits, the treatment of the cell lysate also enhanced its incorporation into native 26S proteasome (*data not shown*). These results confirmed that the ubiquitination of S2 and S8 by Mdm2 was not associated with the assembly of the proteasome.


Figure legend p74

Figure 21: Treatment of cell lysate with USP2 leads to the accumulation of S2 in higher molecular weight complexes. H1299 cells were transfected either with 3 μ g of a plasmid encoding V5-tagged S2 or with 3 μ g of a plasmid encoding V5-tagged S2 together with 7 μ g of plasmid encoding Mdm2 and 2 μ g of plasmid encoding p53. Cells were lysed and incubated in the presence or absence of USP2-core (0.4 μ g/ μ l) in deubiquitination buffer for 4 h before loading onto sucrose gradients. A- An aliquot of the cells was tested for expression of V5-tagged S2, Mdm2, p53 and PCNA which is used as a loading control (input). B- The sucrose gradients were analysed as described in the legend to *Figure 10*. Proteins were detected with 4B2 (Mdm2), V5, endogenous α_7 and DO-1 (p53) antibodies. The upper part of the membranes were first tested for S2 expression, then the blots were stripped and reprobed for Mdm2 (blots 3, 4, 9 and 10). The input control normalized the signal of the proteins between all the gradients and was composed of 40 μ g of cell lysate corresponding to each gradient. The arrows highlight the increase of S2 subunit in fractions of the 26S proteasome after treatment with the deubiquitinase USP2. (MW: molecular weight)

The distribution of endogenous α_7 proteins was tested as control *(compare blots: 2, 6, 8 and 13; Fig. 21 B)*; the major amount was identified from fraction 12 to 20 validating that endogenous α_7 proteins effectively eluted with 26S and 20S complexes. Furthermore, the p53 elution pattern has been analyzed. P53 was found in all the fractions of the sucrose gradient for lysates treated or not with USP2-core *(blots: 5 and 13; Fig. 21 B)* and, in addition, the p53 protein level remained the same with Western blot analysis *(Fig. 21 A)*. These observations confirmed the data from Stevenson and co-workers, demonstrating that USP2 did not affect the ubiquitination level of p53 (Stevenson et al., 2007) and thus, its degradation.

Another important point was to proof that the shift of S2 proteins was not due to the binding of USP2-core to the proteasome. A binding assay was performed; GST-USP2-core was produced in bacteria and purified. H1299 cells were co-tranfected with plasmids encoding V5-tagged S2 and S8. GST-tagged USP2 bound on Glutathione sepharose beads was incubated with cell lysate or GST-USP2 was loading alone as control, to test the binding between USP2-core and 19S subunits (*Fig. 22*).

Interestingly, the binding assay did not show an interaction between USP2-core and V5tagged S2 or S8 or with S8 endogenous proteins (*Fig. 22*) or even with 20S subunits (*data not shown*); the GST-USP2-core did not pull-down any of the tested proteasomal subunits. Surprisingly, the V5 antibody recognized a non-specific linked protein or USP2-core around 65-70 kDa.



Figure 22: The USP2-core enzyme does not interact with S2 and S8 proteasomal proteins. H1299 cells were co-transfected with V5-tagged S2 and S8 and lysed in NP-40 buffer. Cell lysate (40 μ g) was tested for expression of V5-tagged S2 or S8 and endogenous S8 (Input). GSTtagged USP2 bound to glutathione sepharose was incubated with 500 μ g of cell lysate or with buffer for control. The samples were run on a SDS-PAGE gel and Western blot analysis was performed with the indicated antibodies. The asterisk marks to a non-specific protein which was recognized by the V5 antibody.

The deubiquitination of S2 subunit is thus associated with an increase of its incorporation into the proteasome. These results favor the previous hypothesis that the ubiquitination of 19S subunits is not correlated with the assembly of the proteasome but with its disassembly.

3.3.3 Deubiquitination increases the interactions between S6b and S8 subunits of 19S proteasome

To better understand the role of the ubiquitination of 19S proteasomal subunits on the proteasome disassembly, the association between two subunits of the 19S proteasome (Flag-tagged S6b and endogenous S8 proteins) was tested upon deubiquitinase USP2-core treatment. This strategy should discriminate whether the deubiquitination increases or decreases the association between the 19S proteins.

H1299 cells were transfected with either plasmids encoding Flag-S6b (i) or Flag-S6b with Mdm2 (ii) or Flag-S6b together with Mdm2 and p53 (iii) (*Fig. 23 A*), and complexes were separated by a sucrose gradient analysis (*Fig. 23 B*). The Flag-tagged S6b proteasome protein was precipitated with an antibody against Flag-tag, from the pool of fractions 4 to 14 where are supposed to be located the polyubiquitinated forms of the 19S subunits. The pool of fractions was then treated or not with the deubiquitinase USP2. Afterwards, the precipitate was separated by SDS-PAGE and the level of co-precipitated S8 proteins was determined by Western blotting (*Fig. 23 C*).



C- IP α-Flag from the pool of fractions 4 to 14



Figure 23: Treatment with USP2-core increases the interaction between S6b and S8 proteins. H1299 cells were transfected with Flag-tagged S6b (i) with or without Mdm2 (ii) and p53 (iii). **A-** Cells were lysed in NP-40 buffer containing ATP-Mg²⁺ and 40 µg of cellular protein was tested for expression of Flag-tagged S6b, Mdm2 and p53. PCNA was used for loading control (Input). **B-** The sucrose gradients were analysed as described in the legend to *Figure 10*. Fractions were separated by SDS-PAGE and proteins were detected with anti- α_7 and anti-Flag antibodies. **C-** Fractions 4 to 14 were pooled and the pool of fractions was divided into 3 parts: control, non-treated and treated with USP2-core in a deubiquitination buffer (final concentration 0.4 µg/µl, during 4 h). Proteins A agarose beads were incubated with an anti-Flag antibody or with Ig G for control for 2 h at RT, by an incubation with 500 µg of cell lysate overnight at 4°C. The agarose was washed and bound proteins were eluted in SDS-loading buffer. Eluates were loaded onto a SDS-PAGE gel and, analyzed by Western blotting using an anti-Flag and an anti-Flag antibody. (IP: immunoprecipitation, WB: Western blotting)

About the sucrose gradient analysis, analogous results were obtained with the Flag-tagged S6b proteins in comparison to the V5-tagged 19S proteins (*Fig. 23 B*). The distribution of S6b proteins was located from fraction 14 to 28 (*blot:1 ; Fig. 23 B*) and shifted likewise in higher molecular weight fractions in presence of Mdm2 (*compare blots: 1 and 3; Fig. 23 B*) or Mdm2-p53 complexes (*compare blots: 1 and 5; Fig. 23 B*). The major concentration of α_7 subunits was correctly detected around fractions corresponding to the 26S and 20S proteasome (fractions 10 to 20) (*compare blots: 2, 4 and 6; Fig. 23 B*).

As shown in *Figure 23 C*, S8 and S6b co-imunoprecipitated which supported the model of the base assembly defended by Kaneko and co-workers (Kaneko et al., 2009). The co-imunoprecipitation experiment revealed that deubiquitination of the 19S subunits S6b and S8 by USP2-core enhanced their association (*Fig. 23 C*). An enhencement of the interaction between S6b and S8 could be distinguished in presence of Mdm2, interaction which is potentialized in presence of p53 because an increase is already observed without USP2 treatment (*compare blots: 2, 5 and 8; Fig. 23 C*). These data correlated with results obtained with sucrose gradient experiment, more S6b proteins were found in the pool of fractions 4 to 14 (*compare blots: 1, 3 and 5; Fig. 23 B*), results which could be explained by the role of Mdm2 and its substrate p53 on the formation of the proteasome.

The deubiquitination of the 19S subunits by the deubiquitinase USP2-core increased the interaction between the S6b and S8 proteins. Therefore, the ubiquitination does not favor the interaction between 19S proteasomal subunits (S6b and S8) and is rather associated with the proteasome disassembly.

3.3.4 P53 enhances the interaction between Mdm2/S8 and the ubiquitination of S2 subunit of the 19S proteasome

In this last part of results, experiments were focused on the functions of the substrate p53 on the proteasome assembly and on the ubiquitination of the proteasomal subunits. The aim was to determine if the ubiquitination of some 19S subunits and the interaction of Mdm2 with 19S proteins might be substrate-specific.

An interesting point to settle was the effect of substrate on the ubiquitination of the 19S subunits by Mdm2; an ubiquitination assay was carried out in presence of p53. H1299 cells were transfected with His-tagged ubiquitin (His₆-Ub) together with V5-tagged S2 alone or

with Mdm2 or with Mdm2 and p53. Ubiquitinated proteins were purified by adsorption on Ni^{2+} beads, separated by SDS-PAGE and analyzed by Western blotting (*Fig. 24*).



Figure 24: The presence of p53 increases ubiquitination of S2 by Mdm2. H1299 cells were co-transfected with V5-tagged S2 and His-tagged ubiquitin or together with His-tagged ubiquitin and Mdm2 or with Histagged ubiquitin, Mdm2 and p53. Cells were harvested and lysed in NP-40 buffer. Expression of V5-S2, Mdm2, p53 and PCNA was determined by Western blotting. The upper part of the membrane of the input was first incubated with an anti-V5 antibody, then the blot was stripped and reprobed for Mdm2. Equal loading is confirmed by the analysis of PCNA. The ubiquitination assay was performed as described in the legend for Figure 11.

Surprisingly, the presence of the substrate p53 increased the ubiquitination of S2 proteins of the 19S proteasome, ubiquitination already detected with Mdm2 *(upper panel, Fig. 24)*.

This result was not expected and suggested that the presence of high amount of p53 enhanced the ubiquitination of 19S subunits implicated in the proteasome disassembly.

4. DISCUSSION

In our group, it has been shown that Mdm2 promotes the formation of a ternary complex between p53, Mdm2 and the proteasome which is important to regulate the level of tumor suppressor p53. It was previously observed that Mdm2 interacts with a variety of 19S subunits of the proteasome, including S2, S4a, S5a, S6a, S6b, S8 and S10b (Kulikov et al., 2010).

Other authors have already reported the interaction of the Mdm2 ligase with proteasomal subunits such as the α_7 protein of the 20S proteasome, in order to promote the degradation of the pRb protein (Sdek et al., 2005). However, the association between E3 ligase and proteasomal subunits seemed not to be the only properties of Mdm2. A number of studies have previously described this kind of association. Interestingly, the E7 protein of the 19S regulatory complex of the 26S proteasome to target pRb for proteasomal degradation (Berezutskaya et al., 1997). Another example included the interaction of the E3 ligase VHL with S6a to degrade its substrate HIF1 α (Corn et al., 2003).

Some data from our laboratory validated that the interaction of RING E3 ligases with 19S proteins might be a general rule because two other RING E3 ligases Siah-1 and c-Cbl have been tested for their association with the proteasome. Both Siah-1 and c-Cbl interact with S8 and S10b proteins of the 19S proteasome. Nevertheless, one important question remains the functions of the interaction between E3 ligases and 19S proteasome subunits whether it might be only a general way for the ligases to shuttle their substrates for degradation or could have an additional role.

4.1 E3 ligases or E3 ligase-substrate have a direct impact on the proteasome assembly

4.1.1 Mdm2 and Mdm2-p53 enhance the recruitment of native proteasome

In the present study, results demonstrated that Mdm2 with its substrate p53 favors the recruitment of proteasomal proteins and thus, the assembly of the proteasome. Mdm2 is

associated with full 19S proteasomes which is confirmed by a common elution pattern shared by Mdm2 with 19S subunits (S1, S2, S6a and S8 subunits). However, this result also demonstrated that Mdm2 could be associated with 19S subcomplexes of lower molecular weight and thus, it could indicate a probable role of Mdm2 as chaperone for the formation of the 19S proteasome but this hypothesis should be further validated. According the elution pattern from the sucrose gradient assay, Mdm2 was also found in fractions that correspond in size to the 26S proteasome, indicating that Mdm2, 20S and 19S proteins are parts of the same huge complex.

Most interestingly, the majority of proteasomal proteins are not assembled into 26S proteasome, instead they are found in smaller subcomplexes raising the thought that the 26S proteasome may only assemble completely when protein degradation takes place.

Besides, in the presence of Mdm2 and even more in the presence of Mdm2-p53, the amount of 19S proteins is increased in higher molecular weight fractions which correspond in size to the 26S proteasome. These 19S subunits indeed interact directly with Mdm2 (S2, S8, S6b or S4 proteins) or not (S9 protein), raising the hypothesis that Mdm2 or Mdm2-p53 can affect the whole proteasome assembly.

My results also confirmed that Mdm2 or p53 did not alter the steady-state level of 19S proteasomal proteins validating the impact of Mdm2 and p53 in the recruitment of 19S subunits to form native proteasome. Furthermore, p53 is known as a transcription factor which under stress stimuli can activate a plethora of genes (Brooks and Gu; 2003). The capability of p53 to up-regulate 19S genes was as well investigated. A qRT-PCR analysis did not show an increase of S8 transcription in the presence of p53 (*data not shown*) and the promoter region of the S8 gene seemed not to have p53 response elements (Beckerman and Prives, 2010). These observations further confirm that p53 does not seem to regulate transcription of 19S subunits; it is rather another not-transcriptional activity of p53 involved in the formation of the proteasome.

Additionally to Mdm2 effects, the role of p53 on the recruitment of proteasomal proteins was confirmed through the observation that increased amount of p53 strengthens the association of Mdm2 with S8 subunits of the 19S proteasome. The presence of p53 promotes the interaction between two ATPAses subunits of the 19S proteasome: S8 and S6b. Moreover, the presence of p53 raised the amount of proteasomal subunits in higher order complexes,

suggesting a direct impact of p53 on the formation of the proteasome. However, in presence of Mdm2 and Mdm2-p53 complexes, a weak shift of the α_7 subunit used as control could be detected in higher molecular weight. This shift could represent an internal variation of gradients. Otherwise, another hypothesis is that this shift is due to the enhancement of the formation of the full-length proteasome by Mdm2 or Mdm2-p53, in spite of only 30 to 40 % of cells were transfected with the calcium-phosphate method and if transfected proteins (Mdm2 and p53) constituted approximately 1% of the whole cellular proteins (in comparison 20S proteasome proteins represent around 0.6% of bulk cell protein, in HeLa cells (Hendil, 1988)).

Altogether, these findings suggest that, in addition to enhance the assembly of the 19S proteasome, Mdm2-p53 complex stimulates the subsequent association of the 19S and 20S subunits to form native 26S proteasome.

4.1.2 Does this general mechanism could be extended to other E3 ligases?

Two other RING E3 ubiquitin ligases Siah-1 and c-Cbl, similarly to Mdm2, can associate with some 19S proteins (S8 and S10b) (Kulikov et al., 2010). My findings demonstrated that the incorporation of 19S proteins (S6b subunit) is increased in 26S proteasome complexes when Siah-1 or c-Cbl is overexpressed. Thus, these two E3 ligases are able to increase the recruitment of full-assembled 26S proteasome.

Concerning Siah-1 and c-Cbl, the mechanism implicated in the recruitment of proteasomal subunits might be different from Mdm2. Siah-1 and c-Cbl were not encountered in fractions of the 26S proteasome. The major amount was detected in smaller weight complexes and these two proteins interact only with two 19S subunits (S8 and S10b) whereas Mdm2 interacts with several subunits (S2, S4a, S5a, S6a, S8 and S10b) (Kulikov et al., 2010) and co-eluted with proteins of the 26S proteasome. It is supposed that interactions of Siah-1 and c-Cbl with these two 19S subunits can be enough to induce the recruitment of proteasomal subunits. However, this recruitment can require some co-factors as multiubiquitin receptors or some sequence signal or post-translational modifications (acetylation, phosphorylation or neddylation...) of the 19S subunits.

To this extent, the recruitment of proteasomal subunits by E3 ligases is not limited to Mdm2 and seemed to be an intrinsic property of several monomeric RING E3 ligases (Mdm2,

Siah1 and c-Cbl). Studies in yeast have already described that E3 ubiquitin ligases are associated to some degree with the 26S proteasome, leading to the recruitment of the ubiquitination machinery (Verma et al., 2000). My data highlight a direct role of E3 ligases on the proteasome assembly in human cells, although the impact of the substrate still has to be investigated for both E3 ligases Siah-1 and c-Cbl. This kind of mechanism has been recently demonstrated for the E3 ligase Parkin which directly modulates the assembly and activity of the 26S proteasome (Um et al., 2010).

4.2 Characterization of the ubiquitinated 19S subunits

While the effect of the association between subunits of the proteasome and E3 ligases is well established, the role of post-translational modifications of proteasomal proteins by E3 ligases is poorly described. Only few authors reported ubiquitination of proteasomal subunits (Uchiki et al., 2009; Ventadour et al., 2007) and phosphorylation (Zhang et al., 2007).

Our results demonstrated the ubiquitination of S2, S4, S5a, S6a, S6b and S8 proteins of the 19S proteasome components by the Mdm2 ligase, in a cellular model. However, in parallel to my investigations, Uchiki and co-workers have shown with *in vitro* model that the S5a protein can be ubiquitinated by several E3 ligases belonging to different subclasses (Uchiki et al., 2009). They found out that S5a is ubiquitinated via its binding through its ubiquitin interacting domains (UIMs) to the growing polyubiquitin chains on the E3 ligases (during self-ubiquitination) or via its interaction with the substrate bound to the E3.

Additionally to Mdm2, the E3 ubiquitin ligases c-Cbl and Siah-1 also promoted ubiquitination of S5a, S6b and S8 subunits. The effect of Mdm2 was further validated using mutant of Mdm2 in its RING domain (C464A mutant). The mutation completely abrogates the ubiquitination of 19S subunits by Mdm2. Similar results were obtained with Siah-1 and c-Cbl RING mutants. *(Blattner C., unpublished data)*

Mdm2 associates directly to the ubiquitinated subunits (S2, S4, S5a, S6a, S6b and S8), whereas for c-Cbl and Siah-1, these two E3 ligases did not bind directly to S5a or S6b but remained able to ubiquitinate them. Thus, the direct associations between E3 ligase and 19S proteins do not represent a prerequisite for the ubiquitination of these subunits. Other co-factors might also be required to allow the ubiquitination of the 19S proteins by c-Cbl or Siah-1. Interestingly, this phenomenon was also observed with the enhancement of the proteasome assembly by these two E3 ligases, as explained in the previous paragraph.

4.2.1 Ubiquitination of some 19S subunits by E3 ligases is not a target signal for proteasomal degradation

The most essential question remains to settle the function of the polyubiquitination of proteasomal proteins. All these observations raised the hypothesis that the polyubiquitination could be signal for protein degradation by the proteasome.

Some data already shows that the ubiquitination of S5a (19S subunit) leads to its degradation by the proteasome (Uchiki et al., 2009). The S5a protein is a multiubiquitin receptor which takes part in the recognition of polyubiquitinated proteins for proteasomal degradation (Verma et al., 2004). This protein can exist as a free subunit or as a subunit of the 26S proteasome. In yeasts S5a or at least the free forms of S5a (Rpn10 in yeast) present in the cytosol are substrates of the proteasome (Rubin et al., 1997). Uchiki and co-worker described as well a short half-life of about 30 min for S5a in C2C12 (mouse) myoblasts. The short half-life of S5a is presumably explained by the presence of the UIM domain and reflects the ubiquitination of free S5a by many E3 ligases (Uchiki et al., 2009).

Although previous work indicated that S5a is targeted for proteasomal degradation, in this study, ubiquitinated 19S proteasomal proteins were not degraded via the proteasome pathway. In H1299 cells co-transfected with Mdm2, no decrease of S5a protein level was detected (*Blattner C., unpublished data*). Either, no accumulation of proteasomal proteins were noticed when U2OS cells were treated with an inhibitor of the proteasome MG132.

Nonetheless, Uchiki and co-workers' results concerned only the free pool of S5a proteins, while I focused on studies of the whole S5a protein ubiquitination without distinguished between free S5a and S5a included into proteasome complexes. Therefore, the distribution in cells of the V5-tagged S5a protein of the 19S proteasome should be elucidated. Probably, most of these V5-tagged proteins are associated with the proteasome and not with the free pool of S5a protein. Thus, it is interesting to study the distribution of the S5a protein by sucrose gradient analysis, to check if the V5-tagged S5a proteins are found in complexes and/or in free form.

As a summary, in our study, it appears that ubiquitination of proteasomal proteins is not a target signal for proteasomal degradation.

4.2.2 A non-conventional chain of ubiquitin molecules is linked to the 19S subunits

Unexpectedly, the MLG matrix did not associate with polyubiquitinated S8 protein of the 19S proteasome, while it clearly interacted with polyubiquitinated p53. Furthermore, some articles already related that recombinant S5a or MLG did not recognize monoubiquitin or di/tri-ubiquitin linked to a substrate which did not constitute a target signal for proteins degradation by the proteasome (Young et al., 1998; Wang et al., 2005).

This raised the hypothesis that the MLG-matrix may only recognises those ubiquitin chains that target proteins for degradation and that a non-conventional ubiquitin chain is linked to these proteasomal proteins. This idea should be tested and confirmed through further experiments.

However, other results validate already that ubiquitinated 19S proteins are not targeting for degradation and it seemed to be an uncommon ubiquitin chain linked to these subunits. The ubiquitination assay demonstrated that these polyubiquitin chains are not made of lysine 48-linked ubiquitin molecules, which is the classical linkage for proteasomal degradation (Ikeda et al., 2008). Instead, several lysines of the ubiquitin protein contributed to polyubiquitination of proteasomal proteins.

Despite both S2 and S5a subunits are linked to "mixed" polyubiquitin chains, the chains of these two proteasomal proteins are not identical. Eventually, the difference in the linkage of ubiquitin molecules of these two proteins can be explained by the distinct functions of these two subunits in cells. S2 is described as a protein of the proteasome base while S5a is localized between base and lid, where it connects these two parts of the 19S subunit of the proteasome with each other. In addition, S5a is a polyubiquitin receptor and S2 is not (Deveraux et al., 1994). It has been previously reported that monoubiquitination of S5a regulates the recruitment of substrates to the proteasome, which is not the case for S2 (Isasa et al., 2010).

4.3 Ubiquitination of 19S subunits, disassembly of the proteasome and role of p53

4.3.1 The disassembly requires the ubiquitination of some 19S subunits by Mdm2

It was not as yet elucidated why proteasomal proteins are ubiquitinated. Obviously, ubiquitination of 19S subunits are not associated with the recruitment of full-assembled 26S proteasome because a mutant of Mdm2 (C464A) depleted in its RING ubiquitin ligase activity is still able to increase the incorporation of 19S proteins (S2, S8 subunits) in higher order complexes.

A second hypothesis was that the ubiquitination of 19S subunits by Mmd2 is linked to the disassembly of the proteasome. This idea implicates that ubiquitination leads to the disruption of the proteasome and in contrary inhibition of the ubiquitination should favor its assembly.

This theory has been validated with the treatment of cell lysates by a deubiquitinase USP2 before to start the sucrose gradients analysis. Deubiquitinase which removes the ubiquitin chain linked to the 19S subunits. Interestingly, a higher amount of 19S proteasomal proteins (S2, S8 subunits) has been detected in fractions corresponding to the 26S proteasome, indicating the role of the 19S subunits ubiquitination in the dissociation of the proteasome.

Furthermore, the supposition that E3 ligases induced ubiquitination of proteasomal proteins to promote the proteasome disassembly was supported by the observations that deubiquitination of proteasomal proteins by the USP2 enzyme facilitates their interaction. The association between two ATPases subunits (S6b and S8) of the 19S proteasome has been facilitated after treatment with USP2.

This is the first time that results highlight the role of post-translational modifications of 19S subunits such as ubiquitination in the proteasome dissociation. Nevertheless, the localisation of ubiquitin conjugates of these 19S subunits have still to be elucidated, some preliminary results seemed to show that they are located around the fractions of the 19S proteasome with sucrose gradient experiments. Thus, many questions remain still open: Does

the 19S proteasome first dissociated from the 20S proteasome and then, fully disassembled during substrates degradation? It is transitory? Does the 20S also disassembled afterwards?

4.3.2 Role of p53 in the ubiquitination of 198 subunits and on the proteasome disassembly

The role of p53 was also investigated concerning the ubiquitination of 19S subunits and thus, the proteasome dissembly. The presence of p53 increased clearly the ubiquitination of S2, subunit of the 19S proteasome.

An hypothesis could be that high amount of p53 might enhance the recruitment of fullassembled proteasome to completely degrade the substrate. The proteasome can then simply dissociate when its activity is not required anymore.

A second possibility could be that the assembly/disassembly of the proteasome might be transient during substrates degradation. These observations can explain the high level of 19S ubiquitinated proteins. This principle is further confirmed by the major concentration of proteasomal proteins in subcomplex forms in cells. Some authors previously suggested that degradation of polyubiquitinated proteins is coupled to the dissociation of the 26S proteasome. As example, subunits of the 19S proteasome or perhaps even subcomplexes from yeast proteasome could be released during the substrate degradation (Babbitt et al., 2005). In contrary others demonstrated that mammalian 26S proteasome remains intact during protein degradation, but those findings were only demonstrated for few examples *in vitro* (Kriegenburg et al., 2008). Therefore, it is interesting to validate that this principle could be extended to all substrates and that some co-factors are not missing in those experiments such as ubiquitin, E2, E3...

Finally, the last hypothesis could be that the assembly/disassembly of the proteasome is dependent of the nature and the rate of substrate degradation.

4.4 Model of the proteasome regulation by Mdm2 and conclusion

Results obtained during my PhD underline a new and interesting aspect of the regulation of the proteasome by the E3 ligase Mdm2 and its subsequent substrate p53. This mechanism

leads to a model about the dual role of Mdm2 on the assembly and the disassembly of the 26S proteasome (*Fig. 26*).



Figure 27: Model of the proteasome regulation by an E3 ligase Mdm2. Recruitment of full-assembled 26S proteasome by Mdm2-p53 (step 1), followed by the formation of a ternary complex (step 2) and the degradation of p53 (step 3). In parallel, 19S subunits are ubiquitinated by Mdm2 (step 4) which induced a total or incomplete dissociation of the 19S proteasome (step 5). This mechanism could be transient and native 26S proteasome could be formed *de novo* (step 6).

First, Mdm2 recruits native proteasome (step 1), phenomenon which is linked to the formation of a ternary complex (step 2) between Mdm2, p53 and some 19S subunits that leads to the degradation p53 (step 3). The recruitment of proteasomal subunits seemed to be further enhanced by the presence of the substrate p53. During the substrate degradation into the 20S proteasome, a dissociation of the 19S proteasome could occur (step 5), due to ubiquitination of some subunits (S2, S4, S5a, S6a, S6b and S8) by Mdm2 (step 4). The recruitment of full-assembled 26S proteasome could be transient and as works from Babitt and co-workers suggest the full 26S proteasome could assembled *de novo* (step 6) (Babbitt et al., 2005).

Another interesting point to know is if this preliminary model of the proteasome regulation by Mdm2 could be extent to other E3 ligases. In this study, results already show a similar regulation of the proteasome for the two E3s siah1 and c-Cbl, including an impact on the recruitment of full-assembled 26S proteasome and the ubiquitination of some 19S subunits.

Therefore, this mechanism might represent a general way for the regulation of the 26S proteasome; it could be useful to design new drugs to modulate this pathway, because certain tumor cells are more sensitive to proteasome inhibitors than normal cells (Dick et al., 2010). Thus, the disruption of the interaction between proteasomal subunits and E3 ligases or the blocking of the dissociation of the proteasome might constitute a novel approach to regulate the degradation of specific factors.

5. REFERENCES

Alexandru G, Graumann J, Smith GT, Kolawa NJ, Fang R, Deshaies RJ.(2008) UBXD7 binds multiple ubiquitin ligases and implicates p97 in HIF1alpha turnover. Cell; 134(5):804-16.

Amerik AY, Hochstrasser M. (2004) Mechanism and function of deubiquitinating enzymes. Biochim Biophys Acta.;1695(1-3):189-207.

Andreou AM, Tavernarakis N.(2009) SUMOylation and cell signalling. Biotechnol J.;4(12):1740-52.

Argentini M, B.N., Wasylyk B. (2001). The contribution of the acidic domain of MDM2 to p53 and MDM2 stability. Oncogene *20*, 1267-1275.

Babbitt SE, Kiss A, Deffenbaugh AE, Chang YH, Bailly E, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Buranda T, Sklar LA, Baumler J, Gogol E, Skowyra D. (2005) (ATP) hydrolysis-dependent disassembly of the 26S proteasome is part of the catalytic cycle. Cell.; 121(4):553-65.

Bae JY, Park HH. (2010) Purification and characterization of a ubiquitin-like system for autophagosome formation. J Microbiol Biotechnol.; 20(12):1647-52.

Bajorek M, Finley D, Glickman MH. (2003) Proteasome disassembly and downregulation is correlated with viability during stationary phase. Curr Biol. Jul 1;13(13):1140-4.

Barlev NA, Liu L, Chehab NH, Mansfield K, Harris KG, Halazonetis TD, Berger SL. (2001) Acetylation of p53 activates transcription through recruitment of coactivators/histone acetyltransferases. Mol Cell.;8(6):1243-54.

Beckerman R, Prives C.(2010) Transcriptional regulation by p53. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. ;2(8):a000935.

Bedford L, Paine S, Sheppard PW, Mayer RJ, Roelofs J. (2010) Assembly, structure, and function of the 26S proteasome. Trends Cell Biol.;20(7):391-401.

Beer-Romero P, Glass S, Rolfe M. (1997) Antisense targeting of E6AP elevates p53 in HPV-infected cells but not in normal cells. Oncogene.;14(5):595-602.

Berezutskaya E, Bagchi S. (1997) The human papillomavirus E7 oncoprotein functionally interacts with the S4 subunit of the 26 S proteasome. J Biol Chem.;272(48):30135-40.

Blattner C, H.T., Meek DW, Lane DP. (2002). Hypophosphorylation of Mdm2 augments p53 stability. Mol Cell Biol. *22*, 6170-6182.

Boh BK, Smith PG, Hagen T. (2011) Neddylation-Induced Conformational Control Regulates Cullin RING Ligase Activity In Vivo. J Mol Biol

Borden KL.(2000) RING domains: master builders of molecular scaffolds? J Mol Biol.;295(5):1103-12.

Borodovsky A, Kessler BM, Casagrande R, Overkleeft HS, Wilkinson KD, Ploegh HL. (2001) A novel active site-directed probe specific for deubiquitylating enzymes reveals proteasome association of USP14. EMBO J. Sep 17;20(18):5187-96.

Bouska A, Lushnikova T, Plaza S, Eischen CM. (2008) Mdm2 promotes genetic instability and transformation independent of p53. Mol Cell Biol.;28(15):4862-74.

Boyd SD, Tsai KY, Jacks T. (2000) An intact HDM2 RING-finger domain is required for nuclear exclusion of p53. Nat Cell Biol.;2(9):563-8.

Braun BC, Glickman M, Kraft R, Dahlmann B, Kloetzel PM, Finley D, Schmidt M. (1999) The base of the proteasome regulatory particle exhibits chaperone-like activity. Nat Cell Biol.;1(4):221-6.

Brooks CL, Gu W. (2003) Ubiquitination, phosphorylation and acetylation: the molecular basis for p53 regulation. Curr Opin Cell Biol.;15(2):164-71.

Bueso-Ramos CE, Yang Y, deLeon E, McCown P, Stass SA, Albitar M. (1993) The human MDM-2 oncogene is overexpressed in leukemias. Blood.;82(9):2617-23.

Buschmann T, Lerner D, Lee CG, Ronai Z. (2001) The Mdm-2 amino terminus is required for Mdm2 binding and SUMO-1 conjugation by the E2 SUMO-1 conjugating enzyme Ubc9. J Biol Chem.;276(44):40389-95.

Cahilly-Snyder L, Yang-Feng T, Francke U, George DL. (1987) Molecular analysis and chromosomal mapping of amplified genes isolated from a transformed mouse 3T3 cell line. Somat Cell Mol Genet.;13(3):235-44.

Catic A, Ploegh HL. (2005) Ubiquitin-conserved protein or selfish gene? Trends Biochem Sci.; 30(11):600-4.

Chen J, Marechal V, Levine AJ. (1993) Mapping of the p53 and mdm-2 interaction domains. Mol Cell Biol. ;13(7):4107-14.

Chen D, Kon N, Li M, Zhang W, Qin J, Gu W. (2005) ARF-BP1/Mule is a critical mediator of the ARF tumor suppressor. Cell.;121(7):1071-83.

Chuikov S, Kurash JK, Wilson JR, Xiao B, Justin N, Ivanov GS, McKinney K, Tempst P, Prives C, Gamblin SJ, Barlev NA, Reinberg D. (2004) Regulation of p53 activity through lysine methylation. Nature.;432(7015):353-60.

Cho JW, Park JC, Lee JC, Kwon TK, Park JW, Baek WK, Suh SI, Suh MH. 2001 The levels of MDM2 protein are decreased by a proteasome-mediated proteolysis prior to caspase-3-dependent pRb and PARP cleavages. J Korean Med Sci.;16(2):135-9.

Cho Y, Gorina S, Jeffrey PD, Pavletich NP. (1994) Crystal structure of a p53 tumor suppressor-DNA complex: understanding tumorigenic mutations. Science.;265(5170):346-55.

Ciehanover A, Hod Y, Hershko A. (1978) A heat-stable polypeptide component of an ATPdependent proteolytic system from reticulocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun.; 81(4):1100-5.

Corn PG, McDonald ER 3rd, Herman JG, El-Deiry WS. (2003) Tat-binding protein-1, a component of the 26S proteasome, contributes to the E3 ubiquitin ligase function of the von Hippel-Lindau protein. Nat Genet.;35(3):229-37

Coscoy L, Ganem D. (2003) PHD domains and E3 ubiquitin ligases: viruses make the connection.Trends Cell Biol.; 13(1):7-12.

Coux O, Tanaka K, Goldberg AL. (1996) Structure and functions of the 20S and 26S proteasomes. Annu Rev Biochem.; 65:801-47.

Crosas B, Hanna J, Kirkpatrick DS, Zhang DP, Tone Y, Hathaway NA, Buecker C, Leggett DS, Schmidt M, King RW, Gygi SP, Finley D. (2006) Ubiquitin chains are remodeled at the proteasome by opposing ubiquitin ligase and deubiquitinating activities. Cell.;127(7):1401-13.

Deshaies RJ, Joazeiro CA. (2009) RING domain E3 ubiquitin ligases. Annu Rev Biochem.;78:399-434.

Deveraux Q, Ustrell V, Pickart C, Rechsteiner M.(1994) A 26 S protease subunit that binds ubiquitin conjugates. J Biol Chem.;269(10):7059-61.

Devoy A, Soane T, Welchman R, Mayer RJ. (2005) The ubiquitin-proteasome system and cancer. Essays Biochem.;41:187-203.

Dick LR, Fleming PE. (2010) Building on bortezomib: second-generation proteasome inhibitors as anti-cancer therapy. Drug Discov Today;15(5-6):243-9.

Dornan D, Wertz I, Shimizu H, Arnott D, Frantz GD, Dowd P, O'Rourke K, Koeppen H, Dixit VM. (2004) The ubiquitin ligase COP1 is a critical negative regulator of p53. Nature.;429(6987):86-92.

Dou H, Huang C, Van Nguyen T, Lu LS, Yeh ET. (2011) SUMOylation and de-SUMOylation in response to DNA damage. FEBS Lett.

Dubiel W, Ferrell K, Rechsteiner M. (1995) Subunits of the regulatory complex of the 26S protease. Mol Biol Rep.;21(1):27-34.

Elenbaas B, Dobbelstein M, Roth J, Shenk T, Levine AJ. (1996) The MDM2 oncoprotein binds specifically to RNA through its RING finger domain. Mol Med.;2(4):439-51.

Elsasser S, Gali RR, Schwickart M, Larsen CN, Leggett DS, Müller B, Feng MT, Tübing F, Dittmar GA, Finley D. (2002) Proteasome subunit Rpn1 binds ubiquitin-like protein domains. Nat Cell Biol.;4(9):725-30.

Fakharzadeh SS, Trusko SP, George DL. (1991) Tumorigenic potential associated with enhanced expression of a gene that is amplified in a mouse tumor cell line. EMBO J.;10(6):1565-9.

Fang S, Jensen JP, Ludwig RL, Vousden KH, Weissman AM. (2000) Mdm2 is a RING finger-dependent ubiquitin protein ligase for itself and p53. J Biol Chem.;275(12):8945-51.

Ferrell K, W.C., Dubiel W, Gordon C. (2000). Regulatory subunit interactions of the 26S proteasome, a complex problem. Trends Biochem Sci. 25(2), 83-88.

Finley D, Tanaka K, Mann C, Feldmann H, Hochstrasser M, Vierstra R, Johnston S, Hampton R, Haber J, Mccusker J, Silver P, Frontali L, Thorsness P, Varshavsky A, Byers B, Madura K, Reed SI, Wolf D, Jentsch S, Sommer T, Baumeister W, Goldberg A, Fried V, Rubin DM, Toh-e A, et al. (1998) Unified nomenclature for subunits of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae proteasome regulatory particle. Trends Biochem Sci.;23(7):244-5.

Finley D. (2009) Recognition and processing of ubiquitin-protein conjugates by the proteasome. Annu Rev Biochem;78:477-513.

Freedman DA, Wu L, Levine AJ. (1999) Functions of the MDM2 oncoprotein. Cell Mol Life Sci. Jan;55(1):96-107.

Freemont PS. (2000) RING for destruction? Curr Biol.; 10(2):R84-7.

Fritsche M, Haessler C, Brandner G. (1993) Induction of nuclear accumulation of the tumorsuppressor protein p53 by DNA-damaging agents. Oncogene.;8(2):307-18.

Fujiwara T, Tanaka K, Orino E, Yoshimura T, Kumatori A, Tamura T, Chung CH, Nakai T, Yamaguchi K, Shin S, et al. (1990) Proteasomes are essential for yeast proliferation. cDNA cloning and gene disruption of two major subunits. J Biol Chem.;265(27):16604-13.

Funakoshi M, Tomko RJ Jr, Kobayashi H, Hochstrasser M. (2009) Multiple assembly chaperones govern biogenesis of the proteasome regulatory particle base. Cell.;137(5):887-99.

Glickman MH, Ciechanover A. (2002) The ubiquitin-proteasome proteolytic pathway: destruction for the sake of construction. Physiol Rev.; 82(2):373-428.

Goh AM, Coffill CR, Lane DP. (2011) The role of mutant p53 in human cancer. J Pathol.; 223(2):116-26.

Gorbea C, Taillandier D, Rechsteiner M. (1999) Assembly of the regulatory complex of the 26S proteasome. Mol Biol Rep.;26(1-2):15-9.

Graner E, Tang D, Rossi S, Baron A, Migita T, Weinstein LJ, Lechpammer M, Huesken D, Zimmermann J, Signoretti S, Loda M. (2004) The isopeptidase USP2a regulates the stability of fatty acid synthase in prostate cancer. Cancer Cell.;5(3):253-61.

Groll M, Bajorek M, Köhler A, Moroder L, Rubin DM, Huber R, Glickman MH, Finley D. (2000) A gated channel into the proteasome core particle. Nat Struct Biol.;7(11):1062-7.

Hartmann-Petersen R, Gordon C.(2004) Protein degradation: recognition of ubiquitinylated substrates. Curr Biol.;14(18):R754-6.

Hatakeyama S, Yada M, Matsumoto M, Ishida N, Nakayama KI. (2001) U box proteins as a new family of ubiquitin-protein ligases. J Biol Chem.;276(35):33111-20.

Hendil KB. (1988) The 19 S multicatalytic "prosome" proteinase is a constitutive enzyme in HeLa cells. Biochem Int.;17(3):471-7.

Hershko A, Ciechanover A.(1998) The ubiquitin system. Annu Rev Biochem.;67:425-79.

Hershko A, Ciechanover A, Varshavsky A. (2000) Basic Medical Research Award. The ubiquitin system. Nat Med.;6(10):1073-81.

Hill CP, Masters EI, Whitby FG. (2002) The 11S regulators of 20S proteasome activity. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol.; 268:73-89.

Hirano Y, Murata S, Tanaka K. (2005) Large- and small-scale purification of mammalian 26S proteasomes. Methods Enzymol.;399:227-40.

Ho MS, Ou C, Chan YR, Chien CT, Pi H. (2008) The utility F-box for protein destruction. Cell Mol Life Sci. ; 65(13):1977-2000.

Hock A, Vousden KH. (2010) Regulation of the p53 pathway by ubiquitin and related proteins. Int J Biochem Cell Biol.;42(10):1618-21.

Hoffman L, Rechsteiner M. (1996) Nucleotidase activities of the 26S proteasome and its regulatory complex. J Biol Chem.; 271(51):32538-45.

Hoh J, Jin S, Parrado T, Edington J, Levine AJ, Ott J. (2002) The p53MH algorithm and its application in detecting p53-responsive genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.; 99(13):8467-72.

Hollstein M, Rice K, Greenblatt MS, Soussi T, Fuchs R, Sørlie T, Hovig E, Smith-Sørensen B, Montesano R, Harris CC. (1994) Database of p53 gene somatic mutations in human tumors and cell lines. Nucleic Acids Res.;22(17):3551-5.

Honda R, Tanaka H, Yasuda H. (1997) Oncoprotein MDM2 is a ubiquitin ligase E3 for tumor suppressor p53. FEBS Lett.;420(1):25-7.

Honda R, Yasuda H. (2000) Activity of MDM2, a ubiquitin ligase, toward p53 or itself is dependent on the RING finger domain of the ligase. Oncogene.;19(11):1473-6.

Huibregtse JM, Scheffner M, Beaudenon S, Howley PM. (1995) A family of proteins structurally and functionally related to the E6-AP ubiquitin-protein ligase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A;92(7):2563-7.

Hupp TR. (1999) Regulation of p53 protein function through alterations in protein-folding pathways. Cell Mol Life Sci.;55(1):88-95.

Ikeda F, Dikic I. (2008) Atypical ubiquitin chains: new molecular signals. 'Protein Modifications: Beyond the Usual Suspects' review series. EMBO Rep.;9(6):536-42.

Isasa M, Katz EJ, Kim W, Yugo V, González S, Kirkpatrick DS, Thomson TM, Finley D, Gygi SP, Crosas B. (2010) Monoubiquitination of RPN10 regulates substrate recruitment to the proteasome. Mol Cell.;38(5):733-45.

Isono E, Nishihara K, Saeki Y, Yashiroda H, Kamata N, Ge L, Ueda T, Kikuchi Y, Tanaka K, Nakano A, Toh-e A. (2007) The assembly pathway of the 19S regulatory particle of the yeast 26S proteasome. Mol Biol Cell.;18(2):569-80.

Itahana K, Mao H, Jin A, Itahana Y, Clegg HV, Lindström MS, Bhat KP, Godfrey VL, Evan GI, Zhang Y. (2007) Targeted inactivation of Mdm2 RING finger E3 ubiquitin ligase activity in the mouse reveals mechanistic insights into p53 regulation. Cancer Cell.;12(4):355-66.

Jackson S, Xiong Y. (2009) CRL4s: the CUL4-RING E3 ubiquitin ligases. Trends Biochem Sci.; 34(11):562-70

Jain AK, Barton MC. (2010) Making sense of ubiquitin ligases that regulate p53. Cancer Biol Ther.; 10(7):665-72.

Joazeiro CA, Wing SS, Huang H, Leverson JD, Hunter T, Liu YC. (1999) The tyrosine kinase negative regulator c-Cbl as a RING-type, E2-dependent ubiquitin-protein ligase. Science; 286(5438):309-12.

Joazeiro CA, Weissman AM. (2000) RING finger proteins: mediators of ubiquitin ligase activity. Cell; 102(5):549-52.

Johnston JA, Burrows JF. (2006) De-ubiquitinating enzymes: intracellular signalling and disease. Biochem Soc Trans., 34:764-9.

Kaneko T, Hamazaki J, Iemura S, Sasaki K, Furuyama K, Natsume T, Tanaka K, Murata S. (2009) Assembly pathway of the Mammalian proteasome base subcomplex is mediated by multiple specific chaperones. Cell.;137(5):914-25.

Kang Y, Chen X, Lary JW, Cole JL, Walters KJ. (2007) Defining how ubiquitin receptors hHR23a and S5a bind polyubiquitin. J Mol Biol.;369(1):168-76.

Kato JY, Yoneda N. (2009) Mammalian COP9 signalosome. Genes Cells.; 14(11):1209-25.

Kenniston JA, Sauer RT.(2004) Signaling degradation. Nat Struct Mol Biol.;11(9):800-2.

Kerscher O, Felberbaum R, Hochstrasser M. (2006) Modification of proteins by ubiquitin and ubiquitin-like proteins. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol.;22:159-80.

Kirkpatrick DS, Weldon SF, Tsaprailis G, Liebler DC, Gandolfi AJ. (2005) Proteomic identification of ubiquitinated proteins from human cells expressing His-tagged ubiquitin. Proteomics; 5(8):2104-11.

Kim HT, Kim KP, Lledias F, Kisselev AF, Scaglione KM, Skowyra D, Gygi SP, Goldberg AL. (2007) Certain pairs of ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes (E2s) and ubiquitin-protein ligases (E3s) synthesize nondegradable forked ubiquitin chains containing all possible isopeptide linkages. J Biol Chem.;282(24):17375-86.

Kimura Y, Tanaka K. (2010) Regulatory mechanisms involved in the control of ubiquitin homeostasis. J Biochem.; 147(6):793-8.

Kiss P, Szabó A, Hunyadi-Gulyás E, Medzihradszky KF, Lipinszki Z, Pál M, Udvardy A. (2005) Zn2+-induced reversible dissociation of subunit Rpn10/p54 of the Drosophila 26 S proteasome. Biochem J.;391(Pt 2):301-10.

Kodadek T. (2010) No Splicing, no dicing: non-proteolytic roles of the ubiquitin-proteasome system in transcription. J Biol Chem.;285(4):2221-6.

Koegl M, Hoppe T, Schlenker S, Ulrich HD, Mayer TU, Jentsch S. (1999) A novel ubiquitination factor, E4, is involved in multiubiquitin chain assembly. Cell;96(5):635-44.

Komander D, Clague MJ, Urbé S. (2009) Breaking the chains: structure and function of the deubiquitinases. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.;10(8):550-63.

Komander D. (2010) Mechanism, specificity and structure of the deubiquitinases. Subcell Biochem.; 54:69-87.

Koues OI, Dudley RK, Mehta NT, Greer SF. (2009) The 19S proteasome positively regulates histone methylation at cytokine inducible genes. Biochim Biophys Acta.; 1789(11-12): 691-701.

Kriegenburg F, Seeger M, Saeki Y, Tanaka K, Lauridsen AM, Hartmann-Petersen R, Hendil KB. (2008) Mammalian 26S proteasomes remain intact during protein degradation. Cell.;135(2):355-65.

Kubbutat MH, Ludwig RL, Ashcroft M, Vousden KH. (1998) Regulation of Mdm2-directed degradation by the C terminus of p53., Mol Cell Biol.; 18(10):5690-8.

Kulikov R, Winter M, Blattner C. (2006) Binding of p53 to the central domain of Mdm2 is regulated by phosphorylation. J Biol Chem.;281(39):28575-83.

Kulikov R, Letienne J, Kaur M, Grossman SR, Arts J, Blattner C. (2010) Mdm2 facilitates the association of p53 with the proteasome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A;107(22):10038-43.

Lam YA, Lawson TG, Velayutham M, Zweier JL, Pickart CM. (2002) A proteasomal ATPase subunit recognizes the polyubiquitin degradation signal. Nature.;416(6882):763-7.

Lane DP. (1992) Cancer. p53, guardian of the genome. Nature.;358(6381):15-6.

Lauwers E, Jacob C, André B. (2009) K63-linked ubiquitin chains as a specific signal for protein sorting into the multivesicular body pathway. J Cell Biol.; 185(3):493-502.

Le Tallec B, Barrault MB, Guérois R, Carré T, Peyroche A. (2009) Hsm3/S5b participates in the assembly pathway of the 19S regulatory particle of the proteasome. Mol Cell.;33(3): 389-99.

Leggett DS, Hanna J, Borodovsky A, Crosas B, Schmidt M, Baker RT, Walz T, Ploegh H, Finley D. (2002) Multiple associated proteins regulate proteasome structure and function. Mol Cell.;10(3):495-507.

Leng RP, Lin Y, Ma W, Wu H, Lemmers B, Chung S, Parant JM, Lozano G, Hakem R, Benchimol S. (2003) Pirh2, a p53-induced ubiquitin-protein ligase, promotes p53 degradation. Cell.;112(6):779-91.

Levine AJ, Reich N, Thomas R. (1983) The regulation of a cellular protein, p53, in normal and transformed cells. Prog Clin Biol Res.;119:159-69.

Levine AJ. (1997) p53, the cellular gatekeeper for growth and division. Cell.;88(3):323-31.

Li M, Luo J, Brooks CL, Gu W. (2002) Acetylation of p53 inhibits its ubiquitination by Mdm2. J Biol Chem.;277(52):50607-11.

Li M, Brooks CL, Wu-Baer F, Chen D, Baer R, Gu W. (2003) Mono- versus polyubiquitination: differential control of p53 fate by Mdm2. Science.;302(5652):1972-5.

Lin H, Yin L, Reid J, Wilkinson KD, Wing SS. (2001) Divergent N-terminal sequences of a deubiquitinating enzyme modulate substrate specificity. J Biol Chem.;276(23):20357-63.

Liu L, Scolnick DM, Trievel RC, Zhang HB, Marmorstein R, Halazonetis TD, Berger SL. (1999) p53 sites acetylated in vitro by PCAF and p300 are acetylated in vivo in response to DNA damage. Mol Cell Biol.;19(2):1202-9.

Liu CW, Li X, Thompson D, Wooding K, Chang TL, Tang Z, Yu H, Thomas PJ, DeMartino GN. (2006) ATP binding and ATP hydrolysis play distinct roles in the function of 26S proteasome. Mol Cell.;24(1):39-50.

Lu Z, Xu S, Joazeiro C, Cobb MH, Hunter T. (2002) The PHD domain of MEKK1 acts as an E3 ubiquitin ligase and mediates ubiquitination and degradation of ERK1/2. Mol Cell.; 9(5):945-56

Mack DH, Vartikar J, Pipas JM, Laimins LA. (1993) Specific repression of TATA-mediated but not initiator-mediated transcription by wild-type p53. Nature.;363(6426):281-3.

Maniatis T., Fritsch E.F. &nd Sambrook J. (1989) Molecular cloning : a laboratory manual. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, NY.

Marechal V, Elenbaas B, Piette J, Nicolas JC, Levine AJ. (1994) The ribosomal L5 protein is associated with mdm-2 and mdm2-p53 complexes. Mol Cell Biol.;14(11):7414-20.

Matsumoto M, Hatakeyama S, Oyamada K, Oda Y, Nishimura T, Nakayama KI. (2005) Large-scale analysis of the human ubiquitin-related proteome. Proteomics.; 5(16):4145-51.

Matsuoka S, Huang M, Elledge SJ. (1998) Linkage of ATM to cell cycle regulation by the Chk2 protein kinase. Science.;282(5395):1893-7.

Maya R, Balass M, Kim ST, Shkedy D, Leal JF, Shifman O, Moas M, Buschmann T, Ronai Z, Shiloh Y, Kastan MB, Katzir E, Oren M. (2001) ATM-dependent phosphorylation of Mdm2 on serine 395: role in p53 activation by DNA damage. Genes Dev.;15(9):1067-77.

Meek DW, Knippschild U. (2003) Posttranslational modification of MDM2. Mol Cancer Res.;1(14):1017-26.

Momand J, Zambetti GP, Olson DC, George D, Levine AJ. (1992) The mdm-2 oncogene product forms a complex with the p53 protein and inhibits p53-mediated transactivation. Cell.;69(7):1237-45.

Morgan SE, Kastan MB. (1997) p53 and ATM: cell cycle, cell death, and cancer. Adv Cancer Res.;71:1-25.

Mundle SD, Saberwal G. (2003) Evolving intricacies and implications of E2F1 regulation. FASEB J.17(6):569-74.

Murakami Y, Matsufuji S, Hayashi S, Tanahashi N, Tanaka K. (2000) Degradation of ornithine decarboxylase by the 26S proteasome. Biochem Biophys Res Commun.;267(1):1-6.

Navon A, Ciechanover A. (2009) The 26 S proteasome: from basic mechanisms to drug targeting. J Biol Chem.; 284(49):33713-8.

Nie L, Sasaki M, Maki CG. (2007) Regulation of p53 nuclear export through sequential changes in conformation and ubiquitination. J Biol Chem.;282(19):14616-25.

Nijman SM, Luna-Vargas MP, Velds A, Brummelkamp TR, Dirac AM, Sixma TK, Bernards R. (2005) A genomic and functional inventory of deubiquitinating enzymes. Cell.;123(5): 773-86.

Ogawara Y, Kishishita S, Obata T, Isazawa Y, Suzuki T, Tanaka K, Masuyama N, Gotoh Y. (2002) Akt enhances Mdm2-mediated ubiquitination and degradation of p53. J Biol Chem.;277(24):21843-50.

Ohi MD, Vander Kooi CW, Rosenberg JA, Chazin WJ, Gould KL.(2003) Structural insights into the U-box, a domain associated with multi-ubiquitination. Nat Struct Biol.;10(4):250-5.

Oliner JD, Kinzler KW, Meltzer PS, George DL, Vogelstein B. (1992) Amplification of a gene encoding a p53-associated protein in human sarcomas. Nature.;358(6381):80-3.

Olson DC, Marechal V, Momand J, Chen J, Romocki C, Levine AJ. (1993) Identification and characterization of multiple mdm-2 proteins and mdm-2-p53 protein complexes. Oncogene; 8(9):2353-60.

Orlowski M, Wilk S. (2000) Catalytic activities of the 20 S proteasome, a multicatalytic proteinase complex. Arch Biochem Biophys.;383(1):1-16.

Oved S, Mosesson Y, Zwang Y, Santonico E, Shtiegman K, Marmor MD, Kochupurakkal BS, Katz M, Lavi S, Cesareni G, Yarden Y. (2006) Conjugation to Nedd8 instigates ubiquitylation and down-regulation of activated receptor tyrosine kinases. J Biol Chem.; 281(31):21640-51.

Pickart CM. (2000) Ubiquitin in chains. Trends Biochem Sci.;25(11):544-8.

Pickart CM, Cohen RE. (2004) Proteasomes and their kin: proteases in the machine age. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.; 5(3):177-87.

Rajendra R, Malegaonkar D, Pungaliya P, Marshall H, Rasheed Z, Brownell J, Liu LF, Lutzker S, Saleem A, Rubin EH. (2004) Topors functions as an E3 ubiquitin ligase with specific E2 enzymes and ubiquitinates p53. J Biol Chem.; 279(35):36440-4.

Rock KL, Goldberg AL. (1999) Degradation of cell proteins and the generation of MHC class I-presented peptides. Annu Rev Immunol.; 17:739-79.

Rodriguez MS, Desterro JM, Lain S, Lane DP, Hay RT. (2000) Multiple C-terminal lysine residues target p53 for ubiquitin-proteasome-mediated degradation. Mol Cell Biol.; 20(22):8458-67.

Roth J, Dobbelstein M, Freedman DA, Shenk T, Levine AJ. (1998) Nucleo-cytoplasmic shuttling of the hdm2 oncoprotein regulates the levels of the p53 protein via a pathway used by the human immunodeficiency virus rev protein. EMBO J.;17(2):554-64.

Rotin D, Kumar S.(2009) Physiological functions of the HECT family of ubiquitin ligases. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.; 10(6):398-409.

Rubin DM, van Nocker S, Glickman M, Coux O, Wefes I, Sadis S, Fu H, Goldberg A, Vierstra R, Finley D. (1997) ATPase and ubiquitin-binding proteins of the yeast proteasome. Mol Biol Rep.; 24(1-2):17-26.

Saeki Y, Sone T, Toh-e A, Yokosawa H. (2002) Identification of ubiquitin-like proteinbinding subunits of the 26S proteasome. Biochem Biophys Res Commun.;296(4):813-9.

Saeki Y, Kudo T, Sone T, Kikuchi Y, Yokosawa H, Toh-e A, Tanaka K.(2009) Lysine 63linked polyubiquitin chain may serve as a targeting signal for the 26S proteasome. EMBO J.; 28(4):359-71.

Saeki Y, Toh-E A, Kudo T, Kawamura H, Tanaka K. (2009) Multiple proteasome-interacting proteins assist the assembly of the yeast 19S regulatory particle. Cell.; 137(5):900-13.

Sakaguchi K, Sakamoto H, Xie D, Erickson JW, Lewis MS, Anderson CW, Appella E. (1997) Effect of phosphorylation on tetramerization of the tumor suppressor protein p53. J Protein Chem.; 16(5):553-6.

Sapountzi V, Logan IR, Robson CN. (2006) Cellular functions of TIP60. Int J Biochem Cell Biol.; 38(9):1496-509.

Saville MK, Sparks A, Xirodimas DP, Wardrop J, Stevenson LF, Bourdon JC, Woods YL, Lane DP. (2004) Regulation of p53 by the ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes UbcH5B/C in vivo. J Biol Chem.; 279(40):42169-81

Sdek P, Ying H, Chang DL, Qiu W, Zheng H, Touitou R, Allday MJ, Xiao ZX. (2005) MDM2 promotes proteasome-dependent ubiquitin-independent degradation of retinoblastoma protein. Mol Cell.; 20(5):699-708.

Sheaff RJ, Singer JD, Swanger J, Smitherman M, Roberts JM, Clurman BE. (2000) Proteasomal turnover of p21Cip1 does not require p21Cip1 ubiquitination. Mol Cell.; 5(2):403-10.

Shi D, Pop MS, Kulikov R, Love IM, Kung AL, Grossman SR. (2009) CBP and p300 are cytoplasmic E4 polyubiquitin ligases for p53. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A; 106(38):16275-80.

Shieh SY, Ahn J, Tamai K, Taya Y, Prives C. (2000) The human homologs of checkpoint kinases Chk1 and Cds1 (Chk2) phosphorylate p53 at multiple DNA damage-inducible sites. Genes Dev.; 14(3):289-300.

Shimizu H, Saliba D, Wallace M, Finlan L, Langridge-Smith PR, Hupp TR.(2006) Destabilizing missense mutations in the tumour suppressor protein p53 enhance its ubiquitination in vitro and in vivo. Biochem J.; 397(2):355-67.

Shirangi TR, Zaika A, Moll UM. (2002) Nuclear degradation of p53 occurs during down-regulation of the p53 response after DNA damage. FASEB J.; 16(3):420-2.

Schubert U, Antón LC, Gibbs J, Norbury CC, Yewdell JW, Bennink JR. (2000) Rapid degradation of a large fraction of newly synthesized proteins by proteasomes. Nature; 404(6779):770-4.

Sigismund S, Polo S, Di Fiore PP. (2004) Signaling through monoubiquitination. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol.; 286:149-85.

Siliciano JD, Canman CE, Taya Y, Sakaguchi K, Appella E, Kastan MB. (1997) DNA damage induces phosphorylation of the amino terminus of p53. Genes Dev.; 11(24):3471-81.

Spence J, Sadis S, Haas AL, Finley D.(1995) A ubiquitin mutant with specific defects in DNA repair and multiubiquitination. Mol Cell Biol.; 15(3):1265-73.

Stevenson LF, Sparks A, Allende-Vega N, Xirodimas DP, Lane DP, Saville MK. (2007) The deubiquitinating enzyme USP2a regulates the p53 pathway by targeting Mdm2. EMBO J.; 26(4):976-86.

Sui G, Affar el B, Shi Y, Brignone C, Wall NR, Yin P, Donohoe M, Luke MP, Calvo D, Grossman SR, Shi Y. (2004) Yin Yang 1 is a negative regulator of p53. Cell; 117(7):859-72.

Sun L, Johnston SA, Kodadek T. (2002) Physical association of the APIS complex and general transcription factors. Biochem Biophys Res Commun.; 296(4):991-9.

Tao Y, Pinzi V, Bourhis J, Deutsch E. (2007) Mechanisms of disease: signaling of the insulinlike growth factor 1 receptor pathway-therapeutic perspectives in cancer. Nat Clin Pract Oncol.; 4(10):591-602. Tasaki T, Kwon YT. (2007) The mammalian N-end rule pathway: new insights into its components and physiological roles. Trends Biochem Sci.; 32(11):520-8.

Thrower JS, Hoffman L, Rechsteiner M, Pickart CM. (2000) Recognition of the polyubiquitin proteolytic signal. EMBO J.; 19(1):94-102.

Truax AD, Koues OI, Mentel MK, Greer SF. 2010 The 19S ATPase S6a (S6'/TBP1) regulates the transcription initiation of class II transactivator. J Mol Biol.; 395(2):254-69

Tyers M, Jorgensen P. (2000) Proteolysis and the cell cycle: with this RING I do thee destroy.Curr Opin Genet Dev.; 10(1):54-64.

Uchiki T, Kim HT, Zhai B, Gygi SP, Johnston JA, O'Bryan JP, Goldberg AL. (2009) The ubiquitin-interacting motif protein, S5a, is ubiquitinated by all types of ubiquitin ligases by a mechanism different from typical substrate recognition. J Biol Chem.; 284(19):12622-32.

Um JW, Im E, Lee HJ, Min B, Yoo L, Yoo J, Lübbert H, Stichel-Gunkel C, Cho HS, Yoon JB, Chung KC. (2010) Parkin directly modulates 26S proteasome activity. J Neurosci. ;30(35):11805-14.

Van Nocker S, Sadis S, Rubin DM, Glickman M, Fu H, Coux O, Wefes I, Finley D, Vierstra RD. (1996) The multiubiquitin-chain-binding protein Mcb1 is a component of the 26S proteasome in Saccharomyces cerevisiae and plays a nonessential, substrate-specific role in protein turnover. Mol Cell Biol.; 16(11):6020-8.

Van Wijk SJ, Timmers HT. (2010) The family of ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes (E2s): deciding between life and death of proteins. FASEB J; 24(4):981-93.

Ventadour S, J.M., Wing SS, Chambon C, Combaret L, Béchet D, Attaix D, Taillandier D. (2007). A new method of purification of proteasome substrates reveals polyubiquitination of 20 S proteasome subunits. J Biol Chem.; 282(8), 5302-5309.

Verma R, Aravind L, Oania R, McDonald WH, Yates JR 3rd, Koonin EV, Deshaies RJ.(2002) Role of Rpn11 metalloprotease in deubiquitination and degradation by the 26S proteasome. Science.; 298(5593):611-5.

Verma R, Oania R, Graumann J, Deshaies RJ. (2004) Multiubiquitin chain receptors define a layer of substrate selectivity in the ubiquitin-proteasome system. Cell.; 118(1):99-110.

Vogelstein B, Lane D, Levine AJ. (2000) Surfing the p53 network. Nature.;408(6810):307-10.

Voges D, Zwickl P, Baumeister W. (1999) The 26S proteasome: a molecular machine designed for controlled proteolysis. Annu Rev Biochem.; 68:1015-68.

Wadgaonkar R, Collins T. (1999) Murine double minute (MDM2) blocks p53-coactivator interaction, a new mechanism for inhibition of p53-dependent gene expression. J Biol Chem.; 274(20):13760-7.

Wakasaki T, Masuda M, Niiro H, Jabbarzadeh-Tabrizi S, Noda K, Taniyama T, Komune S, Akashi K. (2010) A critical role of c-Cbl-interacting protein in the development and progression of head and neck squamous cell carcinomas through the ras-ERK pathway. Neoplasia.; 12(10):789-96.

Wang Q, Young P, Walters KJ. (2005) Structure of S5a bound to monoubiquitin provides a model for polyubiquitin recognition. J Mol Biol.;348(3):727-39.

Wen YY, Yang ZQ, Song M, Li BL, Zhu JJ, Wang EH. (2010) SIAH1 induced apoptosis by activation of the JNK pathway and inhibited invasion by inactivation of the ERK pathway in breast cancer cells. Cancer Sci.; 101(1):73-9.

Wu X, Bayle JH, Olson D, Levine AJ. (1993) The p53-mdm-2 autoregulatory feedback loop. Genes Dev.; 7(7A):1126-32.

Xirodimas DP, Saville MK, Bourdon JC, Hay RT, Lane DP. (2004) Mdm2-mediated NEDD8 conjugation of p53 inhibits its transcriptional activity. Cell.; 118(1):83-97.

Xu Y. (2003) Regulation of p53 responses by post-translational modifications. Cell Death Differ.; 10(4):400-3.

Xu GW, Ali M, Wood TE, Wong D, Maclean N, Wang X, Gronda M, Skrtic M, Li X, Hurren R, Mao X, Venkatesan M, Beheshti Zavareh R, Ketela T, Reed JC, Batey RA, Dhe-Paganon S, Schimmer AD. (2010) The ubiquitin-activating enzyme E1 as a therapeutic target for the treatment of leukemia and multiple myeloma. Blood; 115(11):2251-9.

Yang JY, Zong CS, Xia W, Yamaguchi H, Ding Q, Xie X, Lang JY, Lai CC, Chang CJ, Huang WC, Huang H, Kuo HP, Lee DF, Li LY, Lien HC, Cheng X, Chang KJ, Hsiao CD, Tsai FJ, Tsai CH, Sahin AA, Muller WJ, Mills GB, Yu D, Hortobagyi GN, Hung MC. (2008) ERK promotes tumorigenesis by inhibiting FOXO3a via MDM2-mediated degradation. Nat Cell Biol.; 10(2):138-48.

Yao T, Song L, Xu W, DeMartino GN, Florens L, Swanson SK, Washburn MP, Conaway RC, Conaway JW, Cohen RE. (2006) Proteasome recruitment and activation of the Uch37 deubiquitinating enzyme by Adrm1. Nat Cell Biol.; 8(9):994-1002.

Young P, Deveraux Q, Beal RE, Pickart CM, Rechsteiner M. (1998) Characterization of two polyubiquitin binding sites in the 26 S protease subunit 5a. J Biol Chem.;273(10):5461-7.

Zhang F, Hu Y, Huang P, Toleman CA, Paterson AJ, Kudlow JE. (2007) Proteasome function is regulated by cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase through phosphorylation of Rpt6. J Biol Chem.; 282(31):22460-71.

Zhang Y, Lu H. (2009) Signaling to p53: ribosomal proteins find their way. Cancer Cell; 16(5):369-77.

Zhang Z, Wang H, Li M, Agrawal S, Chen X, Zhang R. (2004) MDM2 is a negative regulator of p21WAF1/CIP1, independent of p53. J Biol Chem.; 279(16):16000-6.

CURRICULUM VITAE

Personal information

Name:	Justine Letienne
Address:	12 rue Montesquieu
	64230 Lescar, France
e-mail :	letiennejustine@hotmail.fr
Date of birth :	November, 22th, 1983
Place of Birth:	Seclin, France

Education

2008-2011	Ph.D. student in Forschungszemtrum Karlsruhe, Institute of Toxicolgy and
	Genetics, in partnership with the Unit of Human Nutrition, INRA, France.
2006-2007	University of Paris 7 and Pasteur Institute, Paris. Master II of biochemistry in
	fundamental virology.
2005-2006	University of Paul Sabatier, Toulouse III. Master I of Physiopathology and
	cellular physiology.
2004-2005	University of Paul Sabatier, Toulouse III. Licence III of biochimistry and
	molecular biology.
2002-2004	University of Pau, France. Deug of biology.
2001-2002	Baccalauréat S (equivalent A Levels).

Publications

Review

M Bouttier, C Goncalvès, C Journo, **J Letienne**, M Piña, D Vitour. Virus et interféron : mécanismes d'induction et stratégies d'échappement. Virologie. Volume 12, Numéro 3, 159-73, Mai-Juin 2008, review in French. This review was made by the students of Master II in Virology, in partnership with the university of Paris-VII, Paris-VI, Paris-V and Pasteur Institute of Paris. All the authors contributed equally.

Articles

Le Rouzic E, Morel M, Ayinde D, Belaïdouni N, Letienne J, Transy C, Margottin-Goguet F. Assembly with the Cul4A-DDB1/DCAF1 ubiquitin ligase protects HIV-1 Vpr from proteasomal degradation.

J Biol Chem. 2008 Aug 1;283(31):21686-92.

Kulikov R, Letienne J, Kaur M, Grossman SR, Arts J, Blattner C. Mdm2 facilitates the association of p53 with the proteasome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010 Jun 1;107(22):10038-43.*

Poster presentation

Letienne J, Taillandier D and Blattner C.

The E3 ligase Mdm2 ubiquitinates several proteins of the 19S regulatory complex of the proteasome.

KIT PhD Symposium, 30th of September 2010.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was performed at the Institute of Toxicology and Genetics (ITG), Forschungzentrum Karlsruhe in partnership with the Unit of Human Nutrition (UNH), INRA, France and financially supported by the DAAD, Inca and the Forschungzentrum Karlsruhe.

I would like to thank Dr. Daniel Taillandier, Pr. Andrew Cato, Pr. Dr. Helmut Ponta and PD. Dr. Véronique Orian-Rousseau for their valuable suggestions, their constructive criticisms and their essential corrections.

Many thanks to my colleagues Julia, Florian, Irene, Laura, Christina, Valeriya, Micka, Verena, the past and the present members of the labs 203/205, but also people from Clermont-Ferrand where I started my thesis (Anna, Vanessa, Solange and the others) for the nice time we spent together.

I would like to give a special thanks to Florian and Julia who have translated the abstract in German, but also to Marika, Irene and Anna, who really encouraged me during the last period of my thesis.

Finally, I'm really grateful to my parents and my brother for believing in me and for their great help during my PhD despite the distance. Without them it would not have been so easy to fulfill this thesis. THANKS A LOT!!!!